
CABINET
AGENDA

Page 1 of 2

TUESDAY 12 NOVEMBER 2019 AT 7.30 PM
CONFERENCE ROOM 2 - THE FORUM

The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda.

Membership

Councillor Williams (Leader)
Councillor Griffiths (Deputy Leader)
Councillor Elliot

Councillor G Sutton
Councillor Anderson
Councillor Banks

For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209

AGENDA

1. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 9)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on  15 October 2019.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

To receive any declarations of interest

A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered -

(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent

and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest 
which is also prejudicial

(ii)  may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 
to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation.

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure.

Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 
of the Code of Conduct for Members

[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting] 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  

An opportunity for members of the public to make statements and ask questions in 
accordance with the rules as to Public Participation.

5. REFERRALS TO CABINET  

There were no referrals to Cabinet

6. CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 10 - 11)

7. QUARTER 2 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  (Pages 12 - 28)

8. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME  (Pages 29 - 33)

9. DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATE RELIEF  (Pages 34 - 55)

10. BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER  (Pages 56 - 65)

11. REVIEW OF COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS AND 
STRATEGY  (Pages 66 - 244)

12. NEW NORMAL TECHNOLOGY PILOT PROJECTS  (Pages 245 - 256)

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

To consider passing a resolution in the following terms:

That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 the public be excluded during the items in Part 2 of the Agenda for this 
meeting, because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, that, if members of the public were present during those items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information relating to the financial and 
business affairs of the Council and third party companies/organisations.

Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, paragraph 3.

14. OSBORNE FIVE YEAR REVIEW  (Pages 257 - 282)



MINUTES

CABINET

15 OCTOBER 2019

Councillors: Williams (Leader)
Griffiths (Deputy 
Leader)
Elliot
G Sutton
Anderson
Banks

Officers: Farida Hussain Group Manager (Legal & Corporate 
Services)

David Barrett Group Manager - Housing Development
Natasha Beresford Group Manager - Strategic Housing
James Deane Corporate Director - Finance and 

Operations
James Doe Assistant Director - Planning, Development 

and Regeneration
Mark Gaynor Corporate Director - Housing & 

Regeneration
Sally Marshall Chief Executive
Fiona Williamson Assistant Director - Housing

Also Attendance:

Councillor Adrian England

The meeting began at 7.30 pm

CA/89/19  MINUTES

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2019 were agreed by Members 
present and signed by the Chair.
 

CA/90/19  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies for absence.

CA/91/19  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



CA/92/19  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation.  

CA/93/19  REFERRALS TO CABINET

There were no referrals to Cabinet.

CA/94/19  CABINET FORWARD PLAN

The forward plan was noted with the following changes:
To move Strategic Sites Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document to 
December

CA/95/19  HOUSING STRATEGY

Decision 

For members to review and provide comments on the new draft Housing Strategy.

Corporate objectives

Building strong and vibrant communities. Providing good quality affordable homes, in 
particular for those most in need.

Deputy Monitoring Officer
Following the Deregulation Act 2015, there is now no legal requirement to have a 
Housing Strategy (although there is to have a Tenancy Strategy, Allocations Policy 
and Homelessness Strategy).  However it is a useful policy document to set out the 
Council’s approach to housing in a strategy and allows Members to scrutinise 
delivery.

Deputy S.151 Officer
The HRA financial business plan requirements are based on the overall housing 
strategy and the principles outlined in this report are funded through the approved 
HRA budgets and medium term financial plan.

Advice

Councillor Griffiths introduced the report and said the housing strategy has been 
reviewed and been to Housing and Community OSC and consultees for comment. 

N Beresford said this strategy replaces the one for 2013-18 and is linked to the 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan. It outlines visions for the service and sets 
out the key issues faced, has climate provisions in place and the commitment for 
housing condition improvements.

Councillor England said climate change was raised at Housing and Community OSC 
but can’t see any reference to it in the document.

Page 4



3

N Beresford said the document had been updated and reflects the commitments 
made. The revised version will be distributed to members. 

Recommendations agreed.

CA/96/19  TRING CONSERVATION AREA REVIEW

Decision 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND that:

1) the Tring Conservation Area: Character Appraisal and Management 
Proposals be adopted as:

a) Technical guidance for use in development management and to inform 
the Dacorum Borough Local Plan.

b) A material planning consideration for use in the determination of planning 
applications.

2) Delegate authority to the Assistant Director, Planning, Development & Regeneration 
to undertake all steps required for the completion of the ‘Locally Listed Buildings’ 
section of the Appraisal, to be attached as an Appendix. This includes the 
assessment, consultation and adoption of this Appendix.

Corporate objectives 

Creating a clean tidy and safe environment.
Informing and consulting our communities and stakeholders on local issues.
Promoting civic pride and an active community.
Committing to excellence and best conservation practice.

Monitoring Officer:   

No comments to add to the report.

Deputy S.151 Officer
The implementation of the Tring conservation area and the support required to 
deliver the appraisal of this concept are to be funded from within approved budgets.

Advice

Councillor G Sutton introduced the report and said this was part of ongoing 
conservation review process across the borough. This has followed a full 
consultation process and an exhibition in Tring Town Council last year and Historic 
England has been impressed with the work.

J Doe said if this is adopted by council, it will become a material planning 
consideration. The other recommendation is to delegate authority to the Assistant 
Director to complete a “Locally Listed Building” appendix. 

Page 5



Recommendations agreed.

CA/97/19  HRA BUSINESS PLAN

Decision 

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND that:

1) The Housing Revenue Account Business Plan be approved
2) The revised development programme budgets as set out in Section 8.3 of the 

Cabinet report be approved

Corporate objectives 

Delivering Affordable Housing

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 
  
A local housing authority must maintain a housing revenue account in accordance 
with section 74 of the Local Government Act 1989.

Further to section 76 of the 1989 Act, local housing authorities must formulate and 
implement proposals to ensure that for each financial year the Housing Revenue 
Account does not show a debit balance.

The annual review provides a robust mechanism to monitor the business plan to 
ensure that it takes account of changes in government policy, law and the economy 
and therefore meets the Council’s statutory requirements

S.151 Officer:

There are a number of inflationary assumptions inherent within the Business Plan 
which are liable to change over the planning period, and which could therefore pose 
a risk to delivery. These assumptions are kept under constant review, and in the 
event of any significant changes the model will be updated and the implications 
reported to Members. An updated report is presented to Members at least annually.

Further borrowing to deliver the programme outlined in this report is not required until 
2020/21. The way in which the Council structures its borrowing will influence the 
amount of funding available in future years, and the borrowing options, together with 
any implications for the programme, will be presented to Members in advance.

Advice

Councillor Griffiths introduced the report and said the HRA Business Plan is a five 
year plan that is reviewed annually. She ran through key highlights of the report and 
said that DBC have a good record of improving homes and have a decent homes 
standard. On page 163, it states that we only have 96 properties identified as ‘non-

Page 6



5

decent’. The five year plan for the building programme has been impacted by the 1% 
rent reduction. This will be finishing this year and rents will increase from April. 

F Williamson said the business plan takes into account the additional borrowing 
capacity. There is a desire to continue to deliver more social rent properties. 

J Deane added that the majority of public borrowing comes from the Public Works 
Loan Board (PWLB) and can be accessed at a low rate. PWLB have increased 
borrowing rates to local authorities by 1% and the government is approaching its cap 
on borrowing, currently set at £85 billion. Borrowing will become more expensive in 
the future and there could be a problem with the HRA plan if PWLB borrowing rates 
go over 4%. 

Councillor Elliot asked if the 1% borrowing increase was to stop councils from 
borrowing for the wrong reasons.

J Deane said this announcements was made last week with no advance notice which 
could have cause a rush on extra borrowing. They do not look at a business case 
when lending money. 

M Gaynor said the risk factor in developing new build council houses is non-existent. 
The homes are developed, rent is received on the homes, and building an asset.

Recommendations agreed. 

CA/98/19  NEW BUILD UPDATE - APPROVAL OF THE CONTRACT FOR 
GADDESDEN ROW SITE

That the main contract to construct 3 x social rented units at Land Adjacent 35-36 
West Dene, Gaddesden Row be awarded to Modplan Building & 
Refurbishment Contractors 

Decision 

1. That the main contract to construct 3 x social rented units at Land Adjacent 35-36 
West Dene, Gaddesden Row be awarded to Modplan Building & Refurbishment 
Contractors Ltd. 

2. That the appropriation by the Housing Revenue Account of the General Fund 
land, set out in Part II of the report referenced MV2, for Council house new build 
purposes, be approved. 

3. That an increase to the grant funding payment to Thrive Homes from £1,417,000 
to £1,512,883 (Increase of £95,883)  for a development known as Two Waters, 
Westside, London Road, Hemel Hempstead be approved

Corporate objectives 

Delivering Affordable Housing

Deputy Monitoring Officer:   

Page 7



1. Officers should ensure that a JCT Design and Build Contract is completed 
before building works commence at land adjacent to 35-36 West Dene.  
Appropriate warranties should also be sought.

2. Further to section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972, a principal council 
has a general power to appropriate land that satisfies the following 
conditions:-

i) The land belongs to that council

ii) The land is no longer required for the purpose for which it is held
iii) The land is being appropriated to any other purpose for which the council 

is authorised by statute to acquire land 
 
The land meets the above requirements and is currently waste land. 

The current agreement to spend retained Right to Buy receipts to fund no more than 
30% of the development cost of affordable housing units is made under Section 11(6) 
of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Council has discretion to fund developments 
using right to buy receipts provided the limit of 30% is not exceeded.

Deputy S.151 Officer

The award of the contract to Modplan is the outcome of an open and transparent 
procurement process with tender submissions evaluated for value for money.

The land at Coniston Road has a red book valuation as outlined in part II of this 
report and the appropriation value is in line with this valuation.

The increased provision for the Two Waters development will be met by one of one 
receipts that have already being received by DBC and are specifically dedicated to 
development of affordable and social housing.

Advice

Councillor Griffiths introduced the report which is an update on the progress of new 
build council houses with the financial information contained in part 2.

Recommendations agreed. 
4. td. 
5. That the appropriation by the Housing Revenue Account of the General Fund 

land, set out in Part II of the report referenced MV2, for Council house new build 
purposes, be approved. 

6. That an increase to the grant funding payment to Thrive Homes from £1,417,000 to £1,512,883 
(Increase of £95,883)  for a development known as Two Waters, Westside, London Road, Hemel 
Hempstead be approved

Page 8



7

The Meeting ended at 7.50 pm

Page 9



Last updated: 4 November 2019
 CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

DATE

MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION

Decision 
Making 
Process

Reports to 
Monitoring 

Officer/ 
S.151 

Officer

CONTACT DETAILS BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION

1. 10/12/19 Strategic Sites 
Design Guidance 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document

21/11/19 James Doe, Assistant Director of 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
Chris Taylor, Group Manager 
Strategic Planning
01442 228405
chris.taylor@dacorum.gov.uk

To set out the 
content of a new 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Document to 
address key 
issues of urban 
design guidance 
on large scale, 
strategic 
development sites 
within the  
Borough

2. 10/12/19 Council Tax 
Setting Base 
Report

21/11/19 Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director 
of Finance & Resources
01442 22862
Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk

Annual council tax 
setting report sets 
out the projected 
2020/21 baseline 
for the number of 
properties in DBC 
and the projected 
proportional 
volume of band D 
equivalent 
households that 
will be charged 
council tax.

3. 10/12/19 Treasury 
Management 
19/20 Mid-Year 
Report

21/11/19 Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director 
of Finance & Resources
01442 22862
Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk

The mid-year 
report on the 
performance of 
the treasury 
management 
function of the 
council that 
manages and 
invests the 
council’s cash 
balances in line 
with the council’s 
treasury 
management 
strategy.

4. 10/12/19 Financial 
regulations

21/11/19 Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director 
of Finance & Resources
01442 22862
Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk

Annual review 
and refresh of the 
financial 
regulations that 
the council abides 
by to ensure 
strong fiscal 
responsibility and 
control.

5. 10/12/19 Committee Diary 21/11/19 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services
01442 228236
mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk 

To agree the 
committee 
timetable for 
2020/21

6. 10/12/19 Draft Corporate 
Plan

21/11/19 Sally Marshall, Chief Executive
01442  228213
Sally.marshall@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided 

7. 10/12/19 Hertfordshire 
Growth Board – 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

21/11/19 Sally Marshall, Chief Executive
01442  228213
Sally.marshall@dacorum.gov.uk

To adopt the 
Hertfordshire 
Growth Board 
Memorandum of 
Understanding

8. 14/01/20 CCTV Service 
(Part 2)

30/12/19 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services
01442 228236
mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk

To consider 
proposals to make 
the CCTV service 
centre an 
accredited Alarm 
Receiving Centre.

9. 14/01/20 Berkhamsted 
Sports Centre 
(Part 1 and 2)

30/12/19 Mark Brookes, Assistant Director 
Corporate & Contracted Services
01442 228236

To consider 
proposals for the 
redevelopment of 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6

mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:chris.taylor@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Sally.marshall@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Sally.marshall@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk


Last updated: 4 November 2019
DATE

MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION

Decision 
Making 
Process

Reports to 
Monitoring 

Officer/ 
S.151 

Officer

CONTACT DETAILS BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION

mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk the Sports Centre.
10. 11/02/20 Budget 23/01/20 James Deane, Corporate Director 

Finance & Operations 
01442 228278
james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk 

To be provided 

11. 11/02/20 Dacorum Borough 
Local Plan 
Strategic Options

23/01/20 James Doe, Assistant Director of 
Planning, Development & 
Regeneration
01442 228583
James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

12. 11/02/20 Flexible tenancy 
review

23/01/20 Fiona Williamson, Assistant 
Director Housing
01442 228855
Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk

Report detailing 
the findings 
following the first 
five year review of 
flexible tenancies.

13. 10/03/20 20/02/20
14. 21/04/20 Homeless 

Strategy
02/04/20 Fiona Williamson, Assistant 

Director Housing
01442 228855
Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk

To be provided

  

Future Items:

 Private Sector Housing Strategy 2020 (F Williamson)
 South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan (J Doe) 
 The Bury museum project (J Doe) - To update Cabinet on progress on options for delivering a new 

museum at The Bury, and seek agreement on the next stages of the project.
 Homeless Strategy (F Williamson) – April 2020

Page 11

mailto:mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:james.deane@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:James.doe@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Fiona.williamson@dacorum.gov.uk


Agenda Item 
Page 1 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 1 of 11 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of meeting:  12 November 2019 

PART:  1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Budget Monitoring Quarter 2 2019/20 

Contact: Cllr Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources 
Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director (Finance & Resources) 
Caroline Souto, Team Leader Financial Planning & Analysis 

Purpose of report: To provide details of the projected outturn for 2019/20 as at 
Quarter 2 for the: 
 
• General Fund 
• Housing Revenue Account 
• Capital Programme 

Recommendations 1. Consider the budget monitoring position for each of the 
above accounts; 

 
2. Recommend to Council approval of the revised capital 

programme to move £3.1m slippage identified at Quarter 2 
into financial year 2020/21 as detailed in Appendix C; 

 
3. Recommend to Council approval of a supplementary 

revenue budget funded from reserves: 
 

 Supplementary budget of £30k in the Garage service, 
funded from the Invest to Save reserve, to fund a 
specialist project manager to lead on improvements to 
the garage letting process 
 

4. Recommend to Council approval of supplementary capital 
budgets required to deliver several service changes as set 
out below: 

 

 A capital budget of £25k to fund payment kiosks in the 
Customer Services Unit. 

AGENDA ITEM:   
 

SUMMARY 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 
Page 2 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 2 of 11 

 

 Additional capital budget of £400k to deliver the 
Bunkers Farm project. 
 

 Supplementary budget of £161k in the HRA capital 
budget Strategic Acquisitions, to fund buy-back of a 
leasehold property. 
 

5. Approve capital virements to reallocate budget from 
existing leisure budgets to fund Berkhamsted Leisure 
Centre Improvements Works: 
 
Create a budget of £276k for Berkhamsted Leisure Centre 
Improvements Works by reallocating budget from: 
 
a) Hemel Sports Centre roof £100k 
b) Berkhamsted Sports Centre Building Management 

System £150k 
c) Replace Pool Cover Structure Hemel Sports Centre 

£26k  
 

Corporate  
objectives: 

Delivering an efficient and modern council. 

Implications: 
 

Financial 
This report outlines the financial position for the Council for 
2019/20 and so summarises the financial implications for 
service decisions expected to be made for the financial year. 
 
Value for Money 
Regular budget monitoring and reporting supports the effective 
use of the financial resources available to the Council.  

Risk Implications This reports outlines the financial position for the Council for 
2019/20 and in so doing quantifies the financial risk associated 
with service decisions expected to be made for the financial 
year. 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

The content of this report does not require a Community Impact 
Assessment to be undertaken. 

Health And Safety 
Implications 

There are no Health and Safety implications arising from this 
report. 

Statutory Officer 
Comments: 

Deputy Section 151 Officer: 
Comments included within the body of this report. 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
No comments to add to the report. 
 

Consultees The position reported within this report has been reviewed and 
discussed with relevant Council Officers. 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

GF – General Fund 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 
MRP- Minimum Revenue Provision 
 

 
 

Page 13



Agenda Item 
Page 3 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 3 of 11 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Council’s forecast outturn for 2019/20 
as at the 30 September 2019. The report covers the following budgets with 
associated appendices: 

 

 General Fund - Appendix A.  A pressure against budget of £126k is forecast. 
 

 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) - Appendix B. A surplus of £433k is 
forecast. 

 

 Capital Programme - Appendix C. Budget re-phasing to future years of 
£3.1m is forecast, which is less than 5% of the overall programme. £2.3m is 
HRA and £0.8m is General Fund. An in year pressure on capital budgets of 
£0.6m is forecast.  

 
 
2. General Fund Revenue Account 

 
2.1 The General Fund revenue account records the income and expenditure 

associated with all Council functions, except the management of the Council’s 
own housing stock, which is accounted for within the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA).  

 
2.2 Appendix A provides an overview of the General Fund forecast outturn position. 

The forecast position includes areas of both under and overspend. There is a net 
overall pressure of £126k, less than 1% of the net cost of services budget.  

 
The table below outlines the service areas with a significant financial pressure: 

 
 

Table 1 
 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
Key Financial 
Pressure 

 
Description 

Housing and Community £195k Garage Income 

Strategic Planning and Environment £130k Fleet vehicle Maintenance 

Strategic Planning and Environment £105k Planning  

Strategic Planning and Environment £90k Commercial Waste Income 

 
 
 
 
2.3 The table below provides an overview by Scrutiny area of the current forecast 

outturn for controllable budgets within the General Fund. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Agenda Item 
Page 4 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 4 of 11 

 
 

 Table 2 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 % 

Finance & Resources 16,382  16,394  12 (0.1%) 

Strategic Planning and 
Environment 

8,467  8,979  512  6.0% 

Housing & Community 537  549  12 2.2% 

Total Operating Cost 25,386  25,922  536  2.1% 

Investment Property (4,317) (4,357)  (40) 0.9% 

Core Funding (21,070) (21,440)  (370) 1.8% 

Contribution (to)/ from General 
Fund Working Balance 

(1) 125  126    

 
2.4 The following sections provide an analysis of the projected outturn and major 

budget variances shown by Scrutiny area. 
 
 
3. Finance and Resources, Investment Property and Core Funding 

 

Table 3 
Finance & Resources 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 % 

Employees 10,636  10,667 41 0.4% 

Premises 1,970 2,021 51 2.6% 

Transport 224  227 3 1.3% 

Supplies & Services 3,953 4,037 84 2.1% 

Third-Parties 672  709 37 5.5% 

Transfer Payments 47,144  47,144  0  0.0% 

Income (5,360) (5,564) (204) 3.8% 

Other Income (47,584) (47,584) 0  0.0% 

Earmarked Reserves 4,727  4,727  0  0.0% 

Total 16,382  16,394  12 0.1% 

 

  

Current   Forecast 
Outturn 

£000 

Variance 

Budget    

£000 £000         % 

Investment Property (4,317) (4,357) (40) 0.9% 

Core Funding (21,070) (21,440) (370) 1.8% 

Total (25,387) (25,708) (410)  1.6% 

 
 

3.1 Income - £204k over achievement of budget 
 

The forecast overachievement of income against budget includes: 
 

 £120k additional income relating to the Council’s leisure management 
contract, arising from a reduction in business rates costs to the contractor. 

Page 15



Agenda Item 
Page 5 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 5 of 11 

 

 £80k of additional Insurance income. This relates to Insurance costs being 
recovered from Housing leaseholder properties and will be passed back to 
the Housing Revenue Account via internal recharges.  

 
3.2 Core Funding - £370k additional funding / reduction in expenditure 
 
 There is a combination of additional government grant income and a reduction in 

expenditure forecast to yield a benefit of £370k against core funding budgets.  
These include: 

 

 Increased new burdens funding of £155k, including £100k relating to the 
Revenues and Benefits service. This funding is not ring-fenced for a specific 
use and has therefore been treated as core funding. In addition £35k of Brexit 
funding has been received in order to prepare for withdrawal from the 
European Union. 

 

 The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a minimum amount which a 
Council must charge against its revenue budget each year for the financing 
of capital expenditure which has been initially funded by borrowing. The MRP 
is £165k lower than budgeted for 2019/20, resulting from below-budget 
capital expenditure in 2018/19.  

 

 Investment Income is forecast to exceed budget by £80k as balances of cash 
reserves are higher than had been anticipated due to lower than budgeted 
capital expenditure. 

 

 Additional income from the HRA of £50k. This arises from work on void 
garden clearances previously carried out by Osborne and now undertaken 
by Clean, Safe and Green.  As such, there is no resulting additional cost to 
the HRA. 

 

 Insurance recharges to the HRA will be reduced by £80k due to additional 
income from Leaseholders’ charges. 

 
 
4. Strategic Planning and Environment 

 

Table 4 
Strategic Planning and 
Environment 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 % 

Employees 10,334  10,635  301 2.9% 

Premises 948  991  43  4.5% 

Transport 1,187  1,372 185 15.6% 

Supplies & Services 2,286  2,270 (16) (0.7%) 

Third-Parties 84  82  (2)  (2.4%) 

Income (6,164) (6,164)  0 0 

Earmarked Reserves (208) (208) 0  0.0% 

Total 8,467  8,979  512  6.0% 

 
 

Page 16



Agenda Item 
Page 6 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 6 of 11 

 
 
4.1 Employees - £301k pressure against budget 

 
The forecast pressure against employee budgets includes: 

 

 £180k additional staff and agency backfilling within Planning. The planning 
service have been very successful in driving new business and planning 
income as shown in para 4.3, hence officers have had to be realigned to 
these new specific planning projects and additional short term agency staff 
have had to be recruited to backfill substantive posts. This has resulted in 
additional agency costs in backfilling these posts. The planning service are 
working on a short and medium term resource plan to reduce these issues 
going forward.  
 

 £70k in Waste Services due to current pressures on the service. New waste 
vehicles are due to be operational from November, however in the meantime 
non-availability of current split-bodied fleet is sometimes requiring additional 
separate rounds for co-mingled and food with the associated crews because 
replacement hire vehicles with a 70:30 split are not frequently available. This 
is also giving rise to a pressure in fuel costs of £50k. 

 
4.2 Transport - £185k pressure against budget 

 
A pressure of £135k relates to the maintenance of ageing fleet vehicles in Waste 
Services, including additional short term hire costs and repair costs. Fuel costs 
are also tracking above budget by £50k. 

 
4.3 Income – no overall variance against budget 

 
This budget line includes the forecast surplus on Planning fees of £75k, however 
this is being offset by a pressure of £90k relating to the Commercial Waste 
service, where income has been under budget due to the ongoing effect of loss 
of customers. A full review of the service including marketing and charging 
structure is currently underway. Resulting actions and financial benefits will be 
disclosed in future reports. 

 
 
5. Housing and Community 

 

Table 5 
Housing and Community 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 % 

Employees 3,920  3,899  (21)  (0.5%) 

Premises 886  665  (221)  (24.9%) 

Transport 18  18  0  0.0% 

Supplies & Services 1,389  1,361  (28)  (2.0%) 

Transfer Payments 55  5  (50)  (90.9%) 

Income (5,575)  (5,183)  392  (7.0%) 

Earmarked Reserves (156) (216) (60)  38.5% 

Total 537  549  12  2.2% 

 

Page 17



Agenda Item 
Page 7 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 7 of 11 

 
5.1 Premises - £221k underspend against budget  
 
 The forecast underspend relates to the ongoing upkeep and maintenance costs 

for the Garages service. A full stock condition survey has been commissioned to 
determine the current state of the garage stock, and the results of this are 
expected later this calendar year.  

 
5.2 Income - £392k pressure against budget 
 

 The forecast pressure relates to the Garage service income not being achieved 
and is a continuation of 2018/19 position. Void rates continue at around 30%. A 
Project Manager has been appointed to lead the formation of a consolidated 
garage management strategy, and progress will be reported back to Members in 
2020.  

 
5.3 Supplementary budgets requested 
 

 A specialist project manager has been commissioned to lead on improvements 
to the garage letting process. A drawdown of £30k from the Invest to Save 
reserve is requested to fund this expenditure. 

 
6. Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
6.1 The HRA is a ring-fenced account relating to the Council’s Landlord functions. A 

guiding principle of the HRA is that revenue raised from rents and service charges 
must be sufficient to fund expenditure incurred. The forecast outturn position for 
the HRA is shown at Appendix B. 

 
6.2 The projected HRA balance at the end of 2019/20 is a surplus of £433k. A 

balanced outturn position for the HRA can be achieved by either increasing (in 
the case of an overall surplus) or decreasing (in the case of an overall deficit) the 
final revenue contribution to capital for the HRA. This will be a decision for 
Members to take once the final outturn position for 2019/20 is confirmed early in 
2020/21. 

 
6.3 Dwelling rents - £234k overachievement of income 

 
The forecast overachievement of income includes the following: 
 

 Additional income is being recovered through Housing Benefit of £140k. This 
relates to Housing Benefit subsidy for tenants in supported housing.   
 

 £82k overachievement of rental income due to budget expectations on new 
build sites being set prudently in advance of allocations and rent levels being 
agreed. 

 

 £30k surplus due to re-let properties moving to the correct rent level (known 
as Formula Rent). 

 

 
 

 

Page 18



Agenda Item 
Page 8 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 8 of 11 

6.4 Tenants’ Charges - £85k underachievement on budget 
 
A review of tenants and leaseholder service charges has led to a forecasted 
deficit of £85k related to a reduction in tenants’ service charges. Budgets will be 
realigned in the next budget setting round. 
 

6.5 Supervision and Management - £369k underspend against budget 
 

The forecast underspend against budget includes: 
 

 £270k relating to vacancies across the service.  Recruitment to these 
vacancies is currently underway. 
 

 £80k reduction in the recharge to the HRA relating to Insurance. This relates 
to income from Insurance charges payable by Leaseholders. 

 
 
7. Capital Programme  
 
7.1 Appendix C shows the projected capital outturn in detail by scheme. 
 
        The table below summarises the overall capital outturn position by Scrutiny 

committee area.  
 
 The current budget is the original budget approved by Cabinet in February 2019, 

plus approved amendments.  
 
 The ‘rephasing’ column refers to projects where expenditure is still expected to 

be incurred, but will now be in 2020/21 rather than 2019/20 (‘slippage’), or 
conversely, where expenditure planned initially for 2020/21 has been incurred in 
2019/20 (‘accelerated spend’).   

 
 The ‘Variance’ column refers to projects which are expected to come in under or 

over budget and projects which are no longer required. 
 
 

  

Current Rephasing Revised Forecast      

Budget   Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % 

Finance & 
Resources 

9,410 (561) 8,849 9,439 590 6.7% 

Strategic 
Planning and 
Environment 

4,648 0 4,648 4,616 (32) (0.7%) 

Housing & 
Community 

6,184 (198) 5,986 5,986 0 0.0% 

GF Total 20,242 (759) 19,483 20,042 558 2.9% 

HRA Total 43,050 (2,308) 40,742 40,742 0 0.0% 

Grand Total 63,292 (3,067) 60,226 60,784 558 0.9% 

 
 
 

Page 19



Agenda Item 
Page 9 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 9 of 11 

7.2 General Fund Major Variances 
  

There is projected rephasing of £0.8m into 2020/21 on the General Fund, and a 
forecast overspend of £0.6m. 

 
The projected rephasing to future years includes: 

 

 Line 54: slippage of £190k on Rossgate Shopping Centre – Structural Works. 
Phase 1 of works comprises the replacement of windows at the rear of the 
residential block and is planned to be completed in this financial year. Phase 
2 comprises the replacement of the curtain wall window frame system at the 
front of the precinct (excluding shopfronts). Phase 2 works are planned to be 
undertaken during spring/summer 2020 once a final design and specification 
has been agreed that is in keeping with the phase 1 upgrades. 
 

 Line 80: slippage of £100k on Resurfacing of Athletics Track. Upgrade of the 
hammer cage will take place this year, but the main resurfacing work is now 
scheduled to take place early in 2020/21. 
 

 Line 90: slippage of £270k on Hemel Hempstead pool air handling unit. This 
work has been deferred until spring 2020 as the temporary heating supply 
will require a good base level outside air temperature to reach the 
temperature required on poolside.  
 

 Line 157: slippage of £198k on Garage Development Programme. 
Completion is now expected slightly later which will push the expenditure into 
2020/21. 

 
The forecast additional spend of £0.6m includes: 

 

 Line 58: additional spend of £109k on 58 High St (Old Town). Following the 
issuance of a Dangerous Structure Notice, an independent structural 
engineer was commissioned to assess the structural integrity of the 
property. The structural report recommended essential works to the walls 
and shop front of the building to prevent its collapse, in the interest of public 
health and safety.   

 

 Line 74: additional spend of £400k on Bunkers Farm. Construction 
commenced in mid-June 2019 and will be completed by the end of November 
Substantial planning costs have been incurred to date, and a requirement for 
additional archaeological work has brought about additional expense. 
 
A supplementary budget of £400k is requested to fund this expenditure. 

 

 Line 94: additional spend of £0.25m on Tring Swimming Pool. Additional 
works were required to complete the project, including resurfacing of the 
swimming pool and upgrade work to the changing room ceiling. After 
contributions from Tring School to fund a portion of the works, the overall 
variance to budget is reduced to £30k. 
 

 
 
 

Page 20



Agenda Item 
Page 10 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 10 of 11 

7.3 Capital Virements Proposed 
 
Berkhamsted Leisure Centre Improvement Works: Working with Everyone 
Active, the Council has agreed a project for internal improvement works to 
Berkhamsted Sports Centre. This will include refurbishing the gym, main studio 
and circulation spaces to be paid for by Everyone Active and improvement works 
to the changing rooms (including disabled changing), health suite, toilets, 
showers, refurbishment of the pool hall, and new lights in the sports hall and 
swimming pool, which will be paid for by the Council. The cost to the Council will 
be £276k. 
 
There are existing capital leisure budgets which can be reallocated to fund this 
expenditure: 

 

 £100k budget allocated to Hemel Sports Centre roof  

 £150k budget allocated to Berkhamsted Sports Centre Building 
Management System 

 £26k budget allocated to Replace Pool Cover Structure Hemel Sports 
Centre. 

 
The Hemel Sports centre roof does not require replacing, the Berkhamsted 
Building Management System is not required given the medium term plans to 
upgrade the building, and the pool cover structure has already been delivered 
under budget. 
 
Budget virements to re-allocate this expenditure to Berkhamsted Leisure Centre 
Improvements Works are requested. 
 

7.4 Additional Capital Budgets 
 

Replacement of payment kiosks in the Customer Services Unit: The 
payment kiosks are due to be unsupported by the current provider from the end 
of March. In order to continue processing payments in an efficient manner, 
replacement kiosks at a cost of £25k are required.  A supplementary capital 
budget of £25k is requested to fund this. 
 

 
7.5  Housing Revenue Account Major Variances 
 

There is projected rephasing on HRA of £2.3m and a forecast balanced outturn 
position.  
 

 Line 207 and 217: these lines offset each other, as the budget for land 
acquisition of Eastwick Row is built in to the New Build General line. Once 
the land has been acquired, virements will be requested to transfer the 
appropriate portion of the budget to the correct scheme. 
 

 Line 208: slippage of £1.3m on Martindale. The site is progressing well and 
is still expected to complete mid 2020/21, however a greater part of the costs 
will now be in 2020/21. A proportion of the contingency is also not expected 
to be required, however this will be confirmed when the project is nearer to 
completion. 
 

Page 21



Agenda Item 
Page 11 of 11 

Agenda Item 
Page 11 of 11 

 Line 209: Strategic Acquisitions – Housing. £161k of expenditure is required 
in order to buy back a leasehold property which had been sold under the 
Right to Buy scheme. The tenants expressed a desire to sell the property 
back to the Council and there is high demand for similar properties in the 
area. A supplementary budget is requested to fund this expenditure. 
 

 Line 211: underspend of £0.5m on Stationers Place with slippage of £0.9m. 
The scheme is due to complete in Q1 of 2020/21. 
 

 Line 213 and 214: overspend of £0.7m on Swing Gate Lane, due to a number 
of factors including planning requirements, some contamination on site, 
archaeological issues and client changes.  
 

 Line 216: accelerated spend of £0.35m on Coniston Road. The land 
purchase had been budgeted in 2020/21 but is now expected to take place 
in 2019/20.  
 

 Line 218: slippage of £0.4m on St. Margaret’s Way. The scheme was put on 
hold for a number of months whilst options for the site were reviewed. This 
has led to slippage into 2020/21. 
 

 
8. Conclusions and recommendations 
 
8.1 As at Quarter 2 2019/20, there is a forecast pressure of £126k against General 

Fund budgets and a forecast surplus of £433k against Housing Revenue Account 
budgets. 

 
8.2 As at Quarter 2 2019/20, against General Fund capital there is forecast budget 

rephasing of £0.8m and a forecast pressure of £0.6m. Against Housing Revenue 
Account capital schemes, budget rephasing of £2.3m is forecast and outturn is 
expected to be on budget. 

 
8.3 Members are asked to: 
 

 note the forecast outturn position for 2019/20 ; 
 

 recommend to Council the approval of the revised capital programme to 
move slippage identified at Quarter 2 into financial year 2020/21; 

 

 recommend to Council the approval of supplementary revenue budgets set 
out in the report; 

 

 recommend to Council the approval of the supplementary capital budgets set 
out in this report. 

 

 approve the virements set out in this report. 
 

 

Page 22



APPENDIX A

Dacorum Borough Council
Revenue Budget Monitoring Report for September 2019 (Cost of Services Analysis By Scrutiny Committee)

Month Year-to-Date Full Year

Forecast

Budget Actuals Variance Budget Actuals Variance Budget Outturn Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost of Services

Finance and Resources 608 930 322 6,672 5,192 (1,480) 16,382 16,394 12

Housing and Community 23 (37) (60) 463 (259) (722) 537 549 12

Strategic Planning and Environment 403 1,172 769 4,517 4,761 244 8,467 8,979 512

Operational Costs 1,034 2,065 1,031 11,652 9,694 (1,958) 25,386 25,922 536

Other Items

Investment Property (34) (90) (56) (3,163) (3,063) 100 (4,317) (4,357) (40) 

Investment Income (16) (135) (119) (94) (269) (175) (188) (268) (80) 

Interest Payments and MRP 81 0 (81) 485 237 (248) 970 805 (165) 

Parish Precept Payments 0 0 0 816 816 0 816 816 0

Government Grants (182) (186) (4) (1,089) (2,306) (1,217) (2,179) (2,334) (155) 

Taxation (Council Tax and Business Rates) (1,356) 23,481 24,837 (8,138) (26,003) (17,865) (16,276) (16,276) 0

Surplus / Deficit on Provision of Services (1,507) 23,070 24,577 (11,183) (30,588) (19,405) (21,174) (21,614) (440) 

Transfers between Reserves / Funds

Net Recharge to the HRA (351) (68) 283 (2,107) (28) 2,079 (4,213) (4,183) 30

Net Movement on General Fund Working Balance (460) 25,067 25,527 544 (20,922) (21,466) (1) 125 126

abcdefgh

P
age 23



APPENDIX B

2019/20 Outturn Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 

Adjusted

Budget Outturn

£000 £000 £000 %

Income:

Dwelling Rents (52,536) (52,770) (234) 0.4%

Non-Dwelling Rents (102) (102) 0 0.0%

Tenants Charges (1,626) (1,476) 150 -9.2%

Leaseholder Charges (487) (552) (65) 13.3%

Interest and Investment Income (435) (435) 0 0.0%

Contribution towards Expenditure (645) (620) 25 -3.9%

Total Income (55,831) (55,955) (124) 0.2%

Expenditure:

Repairs & Maintenance 12,068 12,068 0 0.0%

Supervision & Management 12,783 12,414 (369) -2.9%

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 35 95 60 171.4%

Interest Payable 11,558 11,558 0 0.0%

Provision for Bad Debts 975 975 0 0.0%

Depreciation 12,625 12,625 0 0.0%

HRA Democratic Recharges 307 307 0 0.0%

Revenue Contribution to Capital 5,480 5,480 0 0.0%

Total Expenditure 55,831 55,522 (309) -0.6%

Transfer to / (from) Housing Reserves 0 0 0 0.0%

HRA Deficit / (Surplus) 0 (433) (433) 0.0%

Housing Revenue Account Balance:

Opening Balance at 1 April 2019 (2,892) (2,892) 0 0.0%

Deficit / (Surplus) for year 0 (433) (433) 0.0%

Proposed Contributions to Reserves 0 0 0

Closing Balance at 31 March 2020 (2,892) (3,325) (433) 

Variance

abcdefgh Housing Revenue Account

Page 24



APPENDIX C
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

Scheme Budget Holder
Original 

Budget

Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments

Current 

Budget
YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

General Fund

Finance and Resources

Commercial Assets and Property Development

47 Service Lease Domestic Properties Richard Rice 30,000 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 30,000 0 0

48 Old Town Hall - Cafe Roof and stonework renewal Richard Rice 0 60,000 0 (60,000) (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0

49 Demolition of Civic Centre Richard Rice 0 433,527 0 0 0 433,527 124,893 433,527 0 0

50 Victoria Hall Tring Staircase Renewal Richard Rice 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 13,727 22,000 0 2,000

51 Bennetts End Community Centre - Replace Roof Richard Rice 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,509) 0 0 0

52 Adeyfield Community Centre - replace roof Richard Rice 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,710) 0 0 0

53 Tring Community Centre - new play area for Children's Nursery Richard Rice 0 11,144 0 0 0 11,144 0 11,144 0 0

54 Rossgate Shopping Centre - Structural Works Richard Rice 0 300,901 0 0 0 300,901 0 110,000 (190,901) 0

55 Leys Road - Roof Richard Rice 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,712) 0 0 0

56 The Denes Shopping Centre - Renew Walkway & Canopy Covering Richard Rice 0 27,286 0 0 0 27,286 20,440 20,440 0 (6,847) 

57 Grovehill Shopping Centre - renew car park Richard Rice 30,000 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 30,000 0 0

58 58 High St (Old Town), Hemel - Remove and Rebuild Wall Richard Rice 0 40,900 0 0 0 40,900 19,826 150,000 0 109,100

59 100 High St (Old Town), Hemel - Window Replacement Richard Rice 0 14,000 0 0 0 14,000 0 14,000 0 0

60 Half Moon Yard - Replace soffit/facia & external facade Richard Rice 0 18,000 0 0 0 18,000 0 0 0 (18,000) 

61 Long Chaulden Roof Richard Rice 0 55,020 0 0 0 55,020 0 55,020 0 0

62 Bellgate - Walkway Renovation Richard Rice 0 66,000 0 0 0 66,000 0 66,000 0 0

63 Stoneycroft – Car Park Refurbishment Richard Rice 55,000 0 0 0 0 55,000 0 55,000 0 0

64 Hobbs Hill - Window and Door Renewal Richard Rice 15,000 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 

65 Bennettsgate - Window Renewal Richard Rice 90,000 (4,250) 0 0 0 85,750 0 85,750 0 0

67 Central Nursery Roof Replacement Richard Rice 15,000 0 0 0 0 15,000 0 15,000 0 0

68 Northbridge Road Highway Improvements Richard Rice 45,000 0 0 0 0 45,000 0 45,000 0 0

69 Queens Square Canopy Renewal Richard Rice 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 0

70 Land Adjacent to Okeford Drive Richard Rice 0 0 36,000 0 36,000 36,000 36,000 36,000 0 0

71 Kingshill Cemetery - Toilet Provision Richard Rice 0 29,502 0 0 0 29,502 75,001 111,843 0 82,341

72 Heath Lane Chapel - Replace roof Richard Rice 0 14,000 0 0 0 14,000 0 14,000 0 0

73 Kingshill Cemetery Infrastructure (New Burial Area) Richard Rice 0 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 0 0 0 (40,000) 

74 Bunkers Farm Richard Rice 200,000 548,881 0 0 0 748,881 452,285 1,148,881 0 400,000

550,000 1,654,911 36,000 (60,000) (24,000) 2,180,911 734,240 2,503,604 (190,901) 513,594

Procurement and Contracted Services

78 Berkhamsted Sports Centre - Roof Replacement Ben Hosier 0 1,100 0 0 0 1,100 (4,000) 1,100 0 0

79 Hemel Hempstead Sports Centre - Roof Ben Hosier 100,000 0 0 0 0 100,000 0 100,000 0 0

80 Dacorum Athletics Track - Resurface Track Ben Hosier (350,000) 550,000 0 0 0 200,000 0 30,000 (100,000) (70,000) 

81 Hemel Hempstead Sports Centre - Astroturf renewal Ben Hosier 0 70,000 0 0 0 70,000 0 70,000 0 0

82 Berkhamsted Sports Centre - Installation of new hot water calorifiers Ben Hosier 0 50,000 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 0

83 Berkhamsted Sports Centre - Building Management System Ben Hosier 0 150,000 0 0 0 150,000 0 150,000 0 0

84 Leisure Works - Berkhamsted Swimming Pool Walls Refurbishment Ben Hosier 33,000 0 0 0 0 33,000 0 33,000 0 0

85 Leisure Works - Jarmans Athletics Track Renew Floodlights Ben Hosier 18,000 0 0 0 0 18,000 20,925 20,925 0 2,925

86 Leisure Works - Replacement of Disability Hoists Hemel and Berkhamsted Ben Hosier 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 17,000 0 (3,000) 

87 Leisure Works - Replacement of Fire Exit Door (Hemel) Ben Hosier 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 27,000 0 7,000

88 Leisure Works - Replacement of Circulation Pump (Hemel) Ben Hosier 12,000 0 0 0 0 12,000 0 12,000 0 0

89 Leisure Works - Replace Pool Cover Structure (Hemel) Ben Hosier 64,000 0 0 0 0 64,000 0 28,000 0 (36,000) 

90 Leisure Works - Replace Air Handling Unit in the Pool (Hemel) Ben Hosier 390,000 0 0 0 0 390,000 0 0 (270,000) (120,000) 

93 Hemel Hempstead Sports Centre - Arena Seating Ben Hosier 0 0 112,000 0 112,000 112,000 0 112,000 0 0

94 Tring Swimming Pool Ben Hosier 0 284,527 0 0 0 284,527 533,859 533,859 0 249,332

95 Car Park Refurbishment Ben Hosier 260,000 303,235 0 (383,235) (383,235) 180,000 0 180,000 0 0

96 Multi Storey Car Park Berkhamsted Ben Hosier 1,162,093 2,456,181 0 0 0 3,618,274 1,335,611 3,618,274 0 0

98 Works to The Forum - Pigeon Proofing of Photovoltaic Panels Ben Hosier 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 16,571 16,571 0 (3,429) 

1,749,093 3,865,043 112,000 (383,235) (271,235) 5,342,901 1,902,966 4,999,729 (370,000) 26,828

Page 1    

P
age 25



APPENDIX C
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

Scheme Budget Holder
Original 

Budget

Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments

Current 

Budget
YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Development Management and Planning

102 Planning Software Replacement Sara Whelan 0 64,614 0 0 0 64,614 45,113 114,614 0 50,000

0 64,614 0 0 0 64,614 45,113 114,614 0 50,000

Finance & Governance Management

106 Civic Zone Regeneration Upgrade (DevCo) James Deane 650,000 (85,129) 0 0 0 564,871 55,048 564,871 0 0

650,000 (85,129) 0 0 0 564,871 55,048 564,871 0 0

Information, Communication and Technology

119 Rolling Programme - Hardware Ben Trueman 75,000 0 45,000 0 45,000 120,000 70,257 120,000 0 0

120 Software Licences - Right of Use Ben Trueman 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000 1,497 50,000 0 0

121 Website Development Ben Trueman 0 26,841 0 0 0 26,841 1,755 26,841 0 0

122 Mobile Working Ben Trueman 45,000 0 (45,000) 0 (45,000) 0 0 0 0 0

123 Future vision of CRM Ben Trueman (110,000) 241,344 0 0 0 131,344 28,397 131,344 0 0

124 Improvement works to The Forum Ben Trueman 0 94,793 0 0 0 94,793 52,989 94,793 0 0

60,000 362,978 0 0 0 422,978 154,895 422,978 0 0

People

128 EIS Replacement Matt Rawdon 0 70,000 0 0 0 70,000 0 70,000 0 0

0 70,000 0 0 0 70,000 0 70,000 0 0

Property and Place

132 Disabled Facilities Grants Alan Mortimer 741,000 10,670 0 0 0 751,670 307,747 751,670 0 0

741,000 10,670 0 0 0 751,670 307,747 751,670 0 0

Revenues, Benefits and Fraud

136 Revenues and Benefits new servers Chris Baker 0 12,000 0 0 0 12,000 0 12,000 0 0

0 12,000 0 0 0 12,000 0 12,000 0 0

Totals: Finance and Resources 3,750,093 5,955,087 148,000 (443,235) (295,235) 9,409,945 3,200,008 9,439,466 (560,901) 590,422

Housing and Community

Procurement and Contracted Services

144 Rolling Programme - CCTV Cameras Ben Hosier 25,000 0 0 0 0 25,000 21,265 25,000 0 0

145 Alarm Receiving Centre Ben Hosier 0 33,627 0 0 0 33,627 0 33,627 0 0

146 CCTV Equipment Refresh Ben Hosier 490,000 0 0 (245,000) (245,000) 245,000 0 245,000 0 0

515,000 33,627 0 (245,000) (245,000) 303,627 21,265 303,627 0 0

People

150 Verge Hardening Programme Matt Rawdon 350,000 (106,063) 0 0 0 243,937 14,382 243,937 0 0

151 Storage Facility at Grovehill Adventure Playground Matt Rawdon 0 25,000 0 0 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 0

152 Capital Grants - Community Groups Matt Rawdon 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 3,000 20,000 0 0

370,000 (81,063) 0 0 0 288,937 17,382 288,937 0 0

Strategic Housing

156 Affordable Housing Development Fund David Barrett 1,629,000 2,062,567 0 0 0 3,691,567 2,594,424 3,691,567 0 0

157 Northend & Westerdale (Garage Development) David Barrett 370,000 1,407,359 0 0 0 1,777,359 515,430 1,579,159 (198,200) 0

159 Wood House - Office Space Fit Out David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 17,668 0 0 0

160 Temporary Accommodation - creation of new units David Barrett 90,000 32,711 0 0 0 122,711 87,257 122,711 0 0

2,089,000 3,502,637 0 0 0 5,591,637 3,214,779 5,393,437 (198,200) 0

Totals: Housing and Community 2,974,000 3,455,201 0 (245,000) (245,000) 6,184,201 3,253,427 5,986,001 (198,200) 0

Page 2    

P
age 26



APPENDIX C
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

Scheme Budget Holder
Original 

Budget

Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments

Current 

Budget
YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Strategic Planning and Environment

Environmental Services

168 Wheeled Bins & Boxes for New Properties Craig Thorpe 10,000 0 0 0 0 10,000 1,695 10,000 0 0

169 Waste & Recycling Service Improvements Craig Thorpe 36,000 11,414 0 0 0 47,414 53,850 57,000 0 9,586

170 Commercial Waste Collection System Craig Thorpe 0 1,700 0 0 0 1,700 7,500 7,500 0 5,800

172 Gadebridge Park - Renovation of White Bridge Craig Thorpe 250,000 209,426 0 0 0 459,426 4,428 380,000 0 (79,426) 

173 Cupid Green Waste Site Renovation Craig Thorpe 100,000 0 0 0 0 100,000 0 120,000 0 20,000

174 Cupid Green Welfare Facilities Craig Thorpe 90,000 0 0 0 0 90,000 0 90,000 0 0

175 Fleet Replacement Programme Craig Thorpe 1,122,328 1,715,643 0 0 0 2,837,971 669,507 2,837,971 0 0

176 Fleet Services Renew Plant & Equipment Craig Thorpe 46,500 155,000 60,000 0 60,000 261,500 0 261,500 0 0

177 Fleet Service Management System Upgrade Craig Thorpe 34,000 (22,000) 0 0 0 12,000 275 24,000 0 12,000

1,688,828 2,071,183 60,000 0 60,000 3,820,011 737,255 3,787,971 0 (32,040) 

Strategic Planning and Regeneration

181 Maylands Phase 1 Improvements Chris Taylor 0 0 0 0 0 0 (13,844) 0 0 0

182 Urban Park/Education Centre (Durrants Lakes) Chris Taylor 80,000 54,015 0 0 0 134,015 0 134,015 0 0

183 Maylands Business Centre Chris Taylor 0 0 0 0 0 0 (9,645) 0 0 0

184 Town Centre Access Improvements Chris Taylor 565,000 74,280 0 0 0 639,280 0 639,280 0 0

185 The Bury - Conversion into Museum and Gallery Chris Taylor 0 55,000 0 0 0 55,000 0 55,000 0 0

645,000 183,295 0 0 0 828,295 (23,489) 828,295 0 0

Totals: Strategic Planning and Environment 2,333,828 2,254,478 60,000 0 60,000 4,648,306 713,766 4,616,266 0 (32,040) 

Totals - Fund: General Fund 9,057,921 11,664,766 208,000 (688,235) (480,235) 20,242,452 7,167,201 20,041,733 (759,101) 558,382

Page 3    

P
age 27



APPENDIX C
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE FOR SEPTEMBER 2019

Scheme Budget Holder
Original 

Budget

Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments

Current 

Budget
YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Housing Revenue Account

Housing and Community

Property & Place

198 Planned Fixed Expenditure Alan Mortimer 12,000,000 0 0 0 0 12,000,000 4,183,384 12,000,000 0 0

199 Pain/Gain Share (Planned Fixed Expenditure) Alan Mortimer 0 0 0 0 0 0 101,568 0 0 0

200 M&E Contracted Works Alan Mortimer 700,000 0 0 0 0 700,000 386,584 700,000 0 0

201 Communal Gas & Heating Alan Mortimer 3,000,000 0 0 0 0 3,000,000 1,178,971 3,000,000 0 0

202 DBC Commissioned Capital Works Alan Mortimer (439,505) 3,420,524 0 0 0 2,981,019 639,366 2,981,019 0 0

203 Special Projects Alan Mortimer 146,000 767,853 0 0 0 913,853 0 862,000 (51,853) 0

15,406,495 4,188,377 0 0 0 19,594,872 6,489,873 19,543,019 (51,853) 0

Strategic Housing

207 New Build - General Expenditure David Barrett (326,953) 5,750,715 0 0 0 5,423,762 5,775 4,098,421 0 (1,325,341) 

208 Martindale David Barrett 8,221,449 2,021,510 0 184,516 184,516 10,427,475 3,427,869 9,167,959 (1,259,516) 0

209 Strategic Acquisitions - Housing David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 272 160,660 0 160,660

210 Kylna Court (Previously known as Wood House) David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 (15,990) 50,230 0 50,230

211 Stationers Place / Apsley Paper Mill David Barrett 3,895,519 2,193,192 0 0 0 6,088,711 1,139,761 4,663,001 (930,000) (495,710) 

212 Able House David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 31,748 17,700 0 17,700

213 Swing Gate Lane David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 109,168 391,100 0 391,100

214 Swing Gate Lane Conversion David Barrett 0 0 0 0 0 0 172,620 312,600 0 312,600

215 Bulbourne David Barrett 800,000 34,656 0 (748,937) (748,937) 85,719 0 69,956 (15,763) 0

216 Coniston Road David Barrett 60,000 39,200 0 (15,557) (15,557) 83,643 27,620 435,000 351,357 0

217 Eastwick Row David Barrett 120,000 11,529 0 0 0 131,529 79,424 1,135,429 103,900 900,000

218 St Margaret's Way David Barrett 400,000 41,148 0 0 0 441,148 0 20,148 (421,000) 0

219 Paradise Fields David Barrett 150,000 5,739 0 (34,071) (34,071) 121,668 35,536 144,500 34,071 (11,239) 

220 Gaddesden Row David Barrett 100,000 (7,668) 0 339,168 339,168 431,500 324,056 383,002 (48,498) 0

221 Randalls Ride David Barrett 120,000 0 0 (60,000) (60,000) 60,000 0 40,000 (20,000) 0

222 Garage Sites - New Build Developments David Barrett 500,000 0 0 (400,000) (400,000) 100,000 0 100,000 0 0

223 Wilstone David Barrett 120,000 0 0 (60,000) (60,000) 60,000 7,582 9,600 (50,400) 0

14,160,015 10,090,021 0 (794,881) (794,881) 23,455,155 5,345,442 21,199,306 (2,255,849) 0

Totals: Housing and Community 29,566,510 14,278,398 0 (794,881) (794,881) 43,050,027 11,835,315 40,742,325 (2,307,702) 0

Totals - Fund: Housing Revenue Account 29,566,510 14,278,398 0 (794,881) (794,881) 43,050,027 11,835,315 40,742,325 (2,307,702) 0

Totals 38,624,431 25,943,164 208,000 (1,483,116) (1,275,116) 63,292,479 19,002,516 60,784,059 (3,066,803) 558,383

Page 4    

P
age 28



Agenda Item
Page 1 of 5

Agenda item
Page 1 of 5

Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 12 November 2019

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020/21

Contact: Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Finance & Resources

Author/Responsible Officer

Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director (Finance & Resources)
Chris Baker, Group Manager (Revenues, Benefits & Fraud)

Purpose of report: To consider whether to revise or replace the existing Council Tax 
Support scheme for the 2020/21 billing year, and if so, to approve 
options for consultation.
To note the requirement to consider revision or replacement of 
the Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21. 

Recommendations That Cabinet recommends to Council not to revise or replace the 
current Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21.

Corporate 
Objectives:

Effective management of the Council’s finances supports the 
Council’s vision and all five of its corporate objectives.

Implications:

‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Financial

There are no direct financial implications arising if Cabinet agree 
with the recommendations made by this report, as the 
assumptions in the MTFS about council tax income are based on 
the continuation of the current scheme. The potential impacts of 
other choices are explained in the body of this report.

Risk Implications If revision or replacement of the scheme is recommended, the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (LGFA) specifies the 
consultative steps which must be taken. If changes are made 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



Agenda Item
Page 2 of 5

Agenda item
Page 2 of 5

without the required process being followed, there is a risk of the 
scheme being challenged by Judicial Review.
There are also financial risks in relation to the impact of 
applications for support exceeding the anticipated level of 
payments within the financial year. This is being addressed by 
ongoing monitoring of the amount of support as part of the 
collection fund monitoring process.

Community Impact 
Assessment

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken on the 
2013 Council Tax Support scheme. There have been no changes 
since that date which have required an update to that 
assessment. If revision or replacement of the scheme is being 
considered, then an updated Community Impact Assessment will 
be developed in order to form part of the consultation process.

Health And Safety 
Implications

There are no health and safety implications arising from this 
report.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

No comments to add to the report.

Deputy S.151 Officer

Deputy S151 officer report, comments included in the body of the 
report.

Consultees:

Background 
papers:

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

CTB – Council Tax Benefit
CTS - Council Tax Support
DBC - Dacorum Borough Council
MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government
EIA – Equalities Impact Assessment
HB – Housing Benefit
LGFA  – Local Government Finance Act 1992
MTFS – Medium term financial strategy
SFA – Settlement funding assessment
UC - Universal Credit 

Page 30



Agenda Item
Page 3 of 5

Agenda item
Page 3 of 5

Background 

1. In April 2013, the national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme was abolished and 
replaced by a requirement for each local authority to devise a localised Council Tax 
Support (CTS) scheme to help people on low incomes pay their Council Tax. Within 
certain parameters (including reduced government funding) each authority had to 
devise their own scheme based on local priorities for working age customers. 
Pensioners are protected from any changes because central government 
continues to set national rules covering the level of support for them. 

2. The Local Government Finance Act 1982 includes a requirement that every year 
each council must consider whether to revise or replace its CTS scheme for the 
following year. If it chooses to do this it must carry out a consultation on the 
proposed changes following rules set out in the LGFA. In summary this requires 
an initial consultation with the major preceptors (Herts County Council and the 
Herts Police & Crime Commissioner), followed by a public consultation with local 
taxpayers. Caselaw requires that this consultation also includes wider budgetary 
information (for example the option to reduce other service provision in order for 
the CTS scheme to be more generous).

3. Government funding for CTS is included within the overall Settlement Funding 
Assessment (SFA), but the amount provided has not been specified since 2013. 
The Government has stated that the funding level for CTS has not reduced since 
then, although the overall SFA has been reducing year on year.

Dacorum Borough Council’s (DBC’s) current CTS scheme

4. DBC’s current scheme was agreed by Council in January 2012 following the 
required consultation, and has been approved for continuation in each subsequent 
year. It was developed based on the principles that:

a. Everyone of working age should pay something towards their Council Tax 
(except for the most vulnerable)

b. The scheme should provide protection for the most vulnerable in the 
community

5. As a result, the DBC scheme has two main parts:

a. Vulnerable: where the taxpayer is disabled, has a child under 5, or receives 
a war widow’s or war disablement pension, CTS is assessed on 100% of 
their Council Tax liability

b. Other: all other working age taxpayers have their CTS assessed on 75% of 
their Council Tax liability. This means that they are expected to be paying 
at least 25% of their Council Tax.

Once a customer has been allocated to one of these groups, their entitlement to 
CTS is means tested.

6. We are now in the seventh year of the CTS scheme. During this time DBC has 
chosen not to revise or replace the original scheme. The only changes made have 
been minor, for example uprating the means testing calculation factors so that they 
remain aligned with those used in Housing Benefit (HB). 

Page 31



Agenda Item
Page 4 of 5

Agenda item
Page 4 of 5

Timetable

7. The consultation required for any proposed revision or replacement of the scheme 
means that it cannot be considered within the rest of the normal budget setting 
process. 

8. CTS acts in the same way as other discounts to reduce the council tax base, and 
so details of the scheme for the forthcoming year need to be known during 
December/January in order for the tax base to be set.

9. Replacement of the scheme would involve the introduction of a fundamentally 
different way of assessing the level of CTS awarded to a taxpayer. This may be 
something which would enable administrative savings to be made in the future, 
when most working age housing costs are being met by Universal Credit (UC) 
rather than HB. However, at present the majority of working age taxpayers 
receiving CTS also receive HB, and so it is more efficient to calculate both awards 
in a similar way. 

10. Revision of the existing scheme would leave the basis of the scheme the same, 
but with changes to significant elements, for example an expansion or restriction 
of the groups protected due to vulnerability, or a change to the minimum payment 
level from 25%.

Cost of current scheme 

11. The assumptions about future income from council tax in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) are based on the CTS scheme continuing in its current 
form.

Options for change

12. Changes to the CTS scheme will have an effect on the council tax base. A more 
generous scheme will reduce the base, and a less generous one will increase it. 
However, it is worth noting that although an increased tax base will lead to a higher 
level of collectible council tax, this will not necessarily mean increased income for 
the Council, as the tax itself still needs to be collected. 

13. Current data shows that the collection level from CTS recipients is significantly 
lower than the overall rate, which is probably linked to the fact that they are on low 
incomes. It is therefore not clear how much of any additional council tax liability 
would be collected, nor what additional resources may be required to maintain 
collection levels.   

14. Some options for revision to the scheme are shown in the table below. A change 
in tax base of 0.1% is roughly equivalent to £10k in collectible council tax for DBC.

Summary of option Projected change to tax base
Revert to match rules of old CTB (i.e. no 
minimum payment)

-0.6%

Reduce minimum payment to 20% -0.1%
Increase minimum payment to 40% +0.3%

15. If any of these (or other revisions to the scheme) are considered, then the Council 
must carry out a formal consultation exercise in line with the LGFA. This requires 
us to consult with all taxpayers, whether or not they receive CTS, as they will all be 
affected by any changes. The consultation which took place in 2012 prior to the 
introduction of the current scheme cost approximately £15k. 

Page 32



Agenda Item
Page 5 of 5

Agenda item
Page 5 of 5

Impact of Universal Credit rollout

16. Since December 2018, most working age residents must claim UC for help with 
housing costs rather than Housing Benefit. However, this remains a gradual 
impact, and currently only around a fifth of households receiving CTS are also in 
receipt of UC. 

17. This means that continuing to mirror the way in which HB is calculated remains the 
most straightforward process for working out CTS. 

18. Some authorities where the UC rollout was completed earlier than for Dacorum 
have had some success with different ways of working out CTS for those getting 
UC, but their previous CTS schemes were often significantly different to Dacorum’s 
scheme. Officers have been monitoring the impact of those schemes, but do not 
consider that there is yet sufficient information available about them to make 
effective recommendations to change the Dacorum scheme for 2020/21.

Recommendation

19. Evidence of the current long-term collection rates and notional cost of the CTS 
scheme suggests that the original scheme design is still working well, and so this 
report recommends that the scheme is neither revised nor replaced for 
2020/21.The scheme will be kept under review and will continue to be reported 
annually for member approval. 

Page 33



Agenda Item
Page 1 of 4

Agenda item
Page 1 of 4

Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 12 November 2019

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Update of discretionary rate relief policies

Contact: Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Finance & Resources

Author/Responsible Officer

Nigel Howcutt, Assistant Director (Finance & Resources)
Chris Baker, Group Manager (Revenues, Benefits & Fraud)

Purpose of report: To consider adjustments to the existing discretionary rate relief 
policy

Recommendations 1) That Cabinet approves the adoption of the updated 
discretionary rate relief policy (annex A)

2) That Cabinet approves the adoption of the revised 
Enterprise Zone rate relief policy (annex B)

Corporate 
Objectives:

These reliefs will support the corporate objectives of Ensuring 
economic growth and prosperity and Building strong and 
vibrant communities

Implications:

‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Financial

The changes highlighted in this report are not significant changes 
to the scheme and would not result in major differences to the 
rate relief awards granted, and hence is unlikely to have a 
material financial impact.

Risk Implications No Significant risks arising.

Community Impact 
Assessment

A full Community Impact Assessment has not been carried out 
as these only make minor changes to existing processes.

Health And Safety 
Implications

There are no health and safety implications arising from this 
report.

Page 34

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item
Page 2 of 4

Agenda item
Page 2 of 4

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

No comments to add to the report.

Deputy S.151 Officer

This is a deputy S151 officer report and hence the comments are 
included in the body of the report.

Consultees: Cllr Bassadone, Chair of Appeals committee (business rates)
Revenues Team Leader
Herts IQ Enterprise Zone Manager

Background 
papers:

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

DBC – Dacorum Borough Council
DRR – discretionary rate relief
EZ – Enterprise Zone
LGFA  – Local Government Finance Act

Page 35



Agenda Item
Page 3 of 4

Agenda item
Page 3 of 4

1. Background 

1.1. The legislation controlling business rates reliefs is found in the Local 
Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1988.

1.2. This Act contains powers enabling billing authorities to introduce 
discretionary rate reliefs (DRR) (in section 47 of LGFA 1988). 

1.3. The Council’s current DRR policy was agreed by Cabinet in January 2018 
(item CA/15/18).

1.4. The Council’s current Enterprise Zone (EZ) rate relief policy was agreed by 
Cabinet in July 2018 (item CA/85/18).

2. DRR policy

2.1. The Council’s DRR policy provides information about when additional rate 
relief will be awarded to organisations which already qualify for mandatory 
80% charitable rate relief. 

2.2. It is proposed that the existing policy wording is amended to enable DRR 
to be granted to organisations with paid employees.  This condition 
currently reads: 

If the work is carried out for the benefit of the elderly, sick or injured, 
disabled or other vulnerable groups. Paid workers are only used to provide 
specialised care.
(This excludes national or regional offices unless wholly for the benefit of 
Dacorum residents)

2.3. In order to address this, it is proposed to amend the paid worker condition 
to the following:

If the work is carried out for the benefit of the elderly, sick or injured, 
disabled or other vulnerable groups. Where paid workers are used for any 
purpose other than to provide specialised care, the organisation will provide 
the Council with information about why this is required. (This excludes 
national or regional offices unless wholly for the benefit of Dacorum 
residents)

2.4. This will provide additional flexibility to support third sector organisations 
which are unable to provide their services entirely through volunteer staff, 
while also providing assurance that there is a requirement for paid workers.

3. Enterprise Zone rate relief policy

3.1. Following the adoption of the current EZ rate relief policy in July 2018, there 
has so far been one applicant for this relief. A ratepayer can receive EZ 
relief for a maximum period of five years, but the current policy requires a 
renewal application every year.

3.2. As more businesses move into the area covered by the Herts IQ Enterprise 
Zone, the number of applications is expected to increase, and so the 
Enterprise Zone Manager has been reviewing the policy with a view to 
reducing the administrative burden for businesses by instead only requiring 

Page 36



Agenda Item
Page 4 of 4

Agenda item
Page 4 of 4

one renewal. There would therefore be two awards made, the first for three 
years, with the second for the remaining two years.

3.3. The same policy amendment will also be adopted by St Albans City and 
District Council in respect of the parts of the Herts IQ EZ that falls within its 
responsibility.

4. Recommendations

4.1. That Cabinet approves the adoption of the updated discretionary rate relief 
policy (annex A).

4.2. That Cabinet approves the adoption of the updated Enterprise Zone rate 
relief policy (annex B).

Page 37



Discretionary Rate Relief
valid from November 2019

Dacorum Borough Council - Discretionary Rate Relief

Background and legislation

Rate relief is part of the national non-domestic rates (business rates) scheme, and can reduce 
the amount of business rates payable by certain organisations.

Section 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (LGFA 1988) requires rate relief to be 
given in the following circumstances:

 charities and amateur community sports clubs can get relief of 80% (mandatory 
charitable rate relief);

 if they are the only one within a small rural community, village shops, post offices, pubs 
or petrol stations can get relief of 50%, as long as the rateable value of  the property 
falls under certain thresholds. (mandatory rural rate relief).

Discretionary rate relief (DRR) enables Dacorum Borough Council to:

 increase the level of charitable rate relief to up to 100%;
 increase the level of rural rate relief to up to 100%;
 give relief to other rural retail businesses of up to 100%, as long as the rateable value of 

the property falls under a threshold.

This power is contained in section 47 of LGFA 1988.

The cost of discretionary rate relief forms part of the business rate retention scheme. This 
effectively means that the Council contributes 20% of the value of DRR, with the remainder 
coming from Herts County Council (10%) and central government (70%).

Applications for DRR will be considered in line with this policy and relevant guidance provided 
by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.

What is discretionary rate relief?

DRR provides charities and other organisations with benefit to the local community with further 
financial assistance by reducing the amount of business rates they have to pay.

How will Dacorum Borough Council use discretionary rate relief?

We will use DRR to support the Council’s key priorities, in particular Building Community 
Capacity.

We recognise that certain charities and other organisations support the Council’s priorities and 
deliver outcomes that would otherwise be the responsibility of the Council. 

Page 38



Discretionary Rate Relief
valid from November 2019

Claiming a discretionary rate relief

All applications must be made in writing using the DRR application form by the ratepayer or 
someone authorised to act on their behalf.  The application form is available by contacting the 
business rates team. The form must be sent in with appropriate supporting evidence. The 
evidence needed will vary according to the type of DRR requested, but the form will tell the 
ratepayer what they need to provide.

Who will make the decision, and how long will it take?

Most requests will be decided by the Group Manager (Revenues, Benefits and Fraud) and the 
Revenues Team Leader. We will aim to make these decisions within four weeks of receiving 
all the information needed. 

The application will be considered by the appeals committee in the following circumstances:
 the organisation has an annual turnover over £250,000, and the annual value of the 

relief sought is over £1,000; or
 the application is for discretionary rural rate relief but there is no entitlement to 

mandatory rural rate relief.
In these cases it is likely to take about two months to make the decision, counting from the 
date we receive all the information needed.

What will be taken into account when the decision is made?

Each application will be considered on its own individual merits and the benefits that the 
organisation provides to the residents of Dacorum. The following will be considered:

 the organisation’s links to the Council’s priorities and to what extent its activities support 
these priorities;

 membership being open to all sections of the community and the extent to which the 
membership is made up of residents of Dacorum; 

 the organisation meeting a local need in the community and providing a valuable 
service to the community; 

 whether the organisation provides access to facilities which indirectly relieve the Council 
of the need to do so;

 where the organisation is national or regional, the extent to which services provided 
from the premises are focussed on supporting residents of Dacorum;

 the size and rateable value of the premises, and the reasons why the organisation is 
occupying that particular property.

Page 39



Discretionary Rate Relief
valid from November 2019

How much discretionary rate relief will be awarded, and how long will the relief last?

Awards will be made for fixed periods of no longer than four financial years. This means that 
all awards will be reviewed regularly.
The amount of DRR will be considered in line with the following table, depending on the nature 
of the request.

Type of organisation Other information Annual turnover Maximum relief
Youth organisations Premises occupied by youth clubs 

and organisations such as the 
Scouts etc.

The organisation must be able to 
demonstrate that the premises is 
used solely or mainly by them or 
other non profit making 
organisations for the benefit of the 
community

- Up to 100%

Village halls & 
community centres - Up to 100%

Schools Voluntary aided, voluntary 
controlled or grant aided and 
academy schools 

- Nil

Nursery schools Voluntary nurseries which are 
registered charities - Up to 100%

No bar Up to 50%
With bar: up to £24,999 Up to 50%
With bar: £25,000 – £49,999 Up to 25%

Sports & recreation Premises run by sports clubs and 
recreational societies that are not 
set up or run for profit

With bar:  over £50,000 Nil

- Up to 100%
Charities providing a 
public benefit

If the work is carried out for the 
benefit of the elderly, sick or 
injured, disabled or other 
vulnerable groups. Where paid 
workers are used for any purpose 
other than to provide specialised 
care, the organisation will provide 
the Council with information about 
why this is required. 
(This excludes national or regional 
offices unless wholly for the 
benefit of Dacorum residents)

Charity shops
(this means a shop 
selling goods donated to 
a charity)

Local charities primarily benefiting 
the local area
(This excludes national charities 
unless wholly for the benefit of 
Dacorum residents)

- Up to 100%

Page 40



Discretionary Rate Relief
valid from November 2019

When will an award of discretionary rate relief start?

Any award will normally be from the date we receive the application. 

In exceptional circumstances, we will consider starting from an earlier date in the same 
financial year (1 April to 31 March). 

How will discretionary rate relief be paid?

We will apply the DRR to the business rates account, and issue a new business rates bill. 

How will ratepayers be notified about discretionary rate relief decisions?

We will write to the ratepayer to tell them whether an award has been granted and the amount 
and period of that award.

What will happen if a ratepayer is not happy with the decision?

If the ratepayer is not happy with an officer decision, they can request a review of that decision 
by the appeals committee. This request must be made in writing and received within four 
weeks of the notification of the original decision. A decision of the appeals committee is final.

Responsibilities of customers receiving discretionary rate relief

Ratepayers have the responsibility to inform the business rates team of any change in their 
circumstances while they are receiving a DRR. 

If a change in circumstance takes place and this means the ratepayer has been awarded too 
much DRR, this will be recovered by adjusting their business rates account.

What happens when an award of discretionary rate relief ends?

If a ratepayer wants a further award of DRR they must make a further application. This will be 
considered in line with the agreed DRR policy at that time.

Page 41



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 1 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 42



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 2 

  

 

This policy identifies the circumstances in which a business rate relief can be granted to 

occupiers of non-domestic properties located within the Herts IQ, which is 

Hertfordshire’s designated Enterprise Zone. 

 

Businesses that occupy property in the Herts IQ may be eligible for a discretionary relief 

of up to 100% of the business rates payable, up to a limit of £55,000 per year and a 

maximum of £275,000 in any 5-year period - if they meet the criteria set out within this 

policy.  

Applicants for business rate relief will be assessed following the completion and 

submission of the Herts IQ Business Rate Relief Application Form.  Businesses will need 

to demonstrate their involvement in the sectors targeted by Herts IQ and provide 

appropriate evidence.   

Applications, assessed by the Herts IQ Team, will normally be determined within one 

month of receipt.  The outcome of the assessment will be notified to the applicant in 

writing.  

Successful applicants will need to re-submit a Herts IQ Business Rate Relief Application 

Form after 3 years for continued business rate relief.  This is to help ensure compliance 

with State Aid requirements. 

 

 

The Herts IQ is a partnership made up of the Hertfordshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership, Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City and District Council, 

Hertfordshire County Council, University of Hertfordshire, The Building Research 

Establishment (BRE) and Rothamsted Research.   

 

It aims to deliver the following: 

 

 To make a major contribution to regional and national economic growth 

 To develop environmental technology enterprise in the area 

 To attract and retain skills and talent in environmental technology research and 

its applications 

 To attract international and private sector inward investment 

 To provide infrastructure linking green research, science, engineering and 

technology enterprises 

 To assist the growth of new businesses associated with environmental 

technologies, smart construction and agri-tech.  

 

  

Page 43



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 3 

  

 

To deliver these aims we need to encourage more businesses to invest in Herts IQ.  

Those who choose to locate here can access a number of benefits: 

 Up to 100% business rate discount worth up to £275,000 per business  

 Fast tracked local authority planning decisions through Planning 

Performance Agreements 

 Government support to ensure that superfast broadband is rolled out 

throughout Herts IQ 

 Pre-planning support and advice from Building Futures on sustainable 

designs and construction.  

 Technical advice from the Building Research Establishment on building 

materials, components and products that are fit for purpose, durable, 

reliable, sustainable and safe. 

 Access to Herts IQ Network and a range of appropriate business, 

environmental, and innovation products, events and services. 

Businesses that locate with the Herts IQ Enterprise Zone before 31 March 2022 will be 

able to access business rate reliefs.   

 

Any business locating within Herts IQ could be eligible for some business rate discount.   

However to qualify for relief: 

a) The whole or part of the property must be situated within the defined boundary of 

Herts IQ as shown on the maps in Appendix A. 

b) The business occupying the property must satisfy the target sector and level test as 

defined in Appendix B.  In order to qualify for the primary focus, at least 50% of 

turnover of the business located within Herts IQ should be within the Level 1 target 

sector.  

c) The relief can be awarded for a maximum of five years. The initial award will be made 

for three years and the business will then be required to reapply for the remaining two 

years. 

d) The business must be occupying the property, liable for non-domestic rates and State 

Aid limits must not be exceeded (See Appendix C).   

Page 44



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 4 

  

The conditions of the award mean that it can be changed or ended if: 

 The property becomes vacant 

 The business stops being liable to pay business rates for the property. 

 A continuing award would breach de minimis State Aid rules.  

 

 

Herts IQ aims to focus on environmental technologies such as agri-tech, smart 

construction, low carbon technology and the renewable energy sector.  Businesses in 

these categories will therefore receive the maximum support. 

We will also bring opportunities for the supply chain, professional, financial, and 

business services to support these sectors and have developed the following sliding 

scale of rate relief:  

 

1. Environmental technology based businesses Up to £55,000 

2. Environmental technology supply & value 

chain businesses 

Up to £50,000 

3. Non environmental technology businesses 

who can demonstrate ‘green’ credentials 

Up to £40,000 

* See Appendix B for examples of each level  

 

 

 

The Business Rate Relief is subject to monitoring after three years to make sure that the 

qualifying business is still eligible for the relief and remains in occupation of the 

premises.  The business will be required to resubmit the Herts IQ Business Rates 

Application Form for the remaining two years.   

There are no powers of claw back of the relief.   

Page 45



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 5 

  

After three years, at the time of reapplication, there is no automatic approval of relief 

for the following two years.  The application will be assessed upon its merits at the time 

of submission.  

In cases where State Aid limits levels (see Appendix C) would be exceeded, relief will be 

terminated with immediate effect. 

Each case will be considered on its merits.  

 

 

In circumstances where an application for business rate relief has been declined, the 

applicant may appeal for the decision to be reconsidered.  A request for appeal should 

be made in writing to the Herts IQ Programme Manager, no later than one month after 

the date of the determination.  

Appeals will be considered by the Enterprise Zone Project Board in consultation with the 

Herts IQ Programme Manager and this decision will be final. 

 

 

  

Page 46



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 6 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 7 

  

 

The 5 Hemel Hempstead sites: 

 The Crown Estate 

 Maylands Gateway 

 Prologis Park 

 Spencer Park 

 Maylands Avenue 

Page 48



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 8 

  

Rothamsted Campus 

Building Research Establishment Campus 

Page 49



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 9 

  

 

The lists below for each level are by no means exhaustive but merely give an illustration of 

either they types of companies that qualify for Level 1 or 2 Business Rates discounts or the 

steps that should be taken to illustrate the efforts your company has made towards 

sustainability for a Level 3 discount. 

 

  

Agri-tech Agri-biotechnology Companies 

Crop based Bioenergy & Bio materials 

Farming Management Software, Sensing technology 

and  Internet of Things   

Farm Robotics, Mechanics and equipment 

Innovative Food processing 

Novel Farming Systems 

Agri Big Data Companies. 

Air Pollution 

 

Dust & Particulate Control 

Indoor Air Quality 

Industrial Ambient (Workplace) Air Control 

Industrial Emission Control 

Industrial/Mobile Source Emission Control 

Process Engineering Air Pollution 

Built Environment Advanced methods of building process, such as 

Modern Methods of Manufacturing, Offsite 

Manufacturing. 

Low carbon products, processes and/ or systems for 

the built environment 

Smart technologies with the potential to reduce 

carbon emissions in the built environment 

Developers and manufacturers of advanced, low 

carbon and smart materials and products for use in 

the built environment sector 

Contaminated Land Reclamation & 

Remediation  

Decommissioning of Nuclear Sites 

Remediation & Land Reclamation 

Environmental Monitoring, 

Instrumentation and Analysis 

Environmental Analysis 

Environmental Monitoring 

Instrumentation Equipment & Software 

Marine Pollution Control 

 

Marine Pollution Abatement 

Marine Pollution Specialist Consulting & Training 

Technologies, Research & Development 

Page 50



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 10 

  

Noise & Vibration Control 

 

Noise & Vibration Consultancy, Training & Education 

Services 

Noise Abatement 

Technologies, Research & Development 

Recovery and Recycling 

 

Automobile Recycling 

Coal Combustion Products Stock Processing 

Composting Feed Stock Processing 

Construction and Demolition Debris Stock Processing 

Electronics & Related Stock Processing 

Engineering & Equipment 

Glass Stock Processing 

Household Electrical Goods Stock Processing 

Metals Recycling Stock Processing 

Oil Stock Processing 

Paper Feed Stock Processing 

Plastics Stock Processing 

Rubber Products Stock Processing 

Technologies, Research & Development 

Textiles Feed Stock Processing 

Waste Collection 

Wood Stock Processing 

Waste Management 

 

Construction & Operation of Waste Treatment 

Facilities 

Equipment For Waste Treatment 

Technologies, Research & Development 

Water Supply and Waste Water 

Treatment 

 

Engineering 

Technology, Research & Development 

Water Treatment and Distribution 

  

  

 

Biomass technology* 

 

Biomass Energy Systems 

Biomass Furnace Systems 

Boilers and related Systems 

Manufacturing Of Boilers and Related Systems 

Geothermal technology* 

 

Component Design & Research 

Manufacture and Supply of Specialist Equipment 

Suppliers of Systems 

Whole Systems Manufacture 

Hydro technology* 

 

Dams & Structures 

Electricity Supply 

Pumping & Lubrication 

Turbines 

  

Page 51



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 11 

  

Photovoltaic technology* 

 

Chemicals 

Other Related Equipment and Chemicals 

Photovoltaic Cells 

Research & Development 

Systems & Equipment 

Wave & Tidal technology* 

 

Assessment and Measurement 

Ebb & Flood 

Other General Services 

Pumps & Equipment 

Turbine and Generation 

Two Basin Schemes 

Wind technology* 

 

Large Wind Turbine 

Small Wind Turbine 

Wind Farm Systems 

* Note - EZ Rate Relief only applies to the production of the technology and not 

energy generation. For businesses engaged in energy generation the Non 

Domestic Rating (Renewable Energy Projects) Regulations 2013 applies.  

  

Additional Energy Sources 

 

Compressed Air in Cylinders and in Caverns 

Energy Storage Research 

Flywheel Energy Storage 

Fuel Cells 

Hydraulic Accumulator 

Hydrogen Produced by Electrolysis 

Molten Salt 

Magnetic Energy Storages 

Thermal Mass 

Alternative Fuel/ Vehicle 

 

Alternative Fuels (main Stream) for Vehicles Only 

Other Fuels and Vehicles 

Alternative Fuels 

 

Batteries 

Bio Fuels Alternative for Vehicles Only 

Main Stream Bio Fuels 

Other Bio Fuels 

Other Fuels 

Building Technologies 

 

Doors 

Insulation and Heat Retention Materials 

Monitoring and Control Systems 

Windows 

Carbon Capture & Storage 

 

Engineering 

Geological Storage 

Mineral Storage 

Ocean Storage 

OxyFuel Combustion 

Page 52



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 12 

  

Pipeline 

Post-Combustion Capture 

Pre-combustion Capture 

Ship 

Energy Management 

 

Energy Saving Electrical Equipment 

Energy Saving Heating & Ventilation Equipment 

Energy Saving Lighting Equipment 

Gas Supply 

Technologies, Research & Development 

Nuclear Power Commissioning Engineering Services 

Construction of Plant & Equipment 

Manufacture of Cooling Equipment for the Nuclear 

Power Industry 

Nuclear Power Plant Operations 

Nuclear Safety Engineering Services 

Nuclear Science Services 

Sampling & Testing Services 

 

  

Environmental Consultancy and 

Related Services 

Management Services in the Environmental Sector 

Manpower and Executive Recruitment 

Specialist Consultancy to the Environmental Sector 

Training & Education 

Recovery and Recycling 

 

Consultancy, Training and Education 

 

Waste Management 

 

Consultancy, Training and Education 

 

Water Supply and Waste Water 

Treatment 

 

Consultancy, Training and Education 

 

 

 

  

 

Biomass 

 

Education and Technical Consulting 

 

Geothermal 

 

Consulting & Related Services 

 

Page 53



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 13 

  

Renewable Energy General 

Consultancy  

Consultancy Services 

Legal Services 

 

 

  

Carbon Capture & Storage 

 

Consultancy 

Project Management 

Carbon Finance 

 

Carbon Credits Finance & Fund Management 

Carbon Credits Journals and Press Periodicals 

Carbon Credits Trading 

Carbon Market Intelligence & Forecasting 

Projects and Verification 

Energy Management 

 

Consulting, Education & Training 

 

 

 

 

 

Establishing ‘green’ credentials, such as listed below, along with evidence of detailed 

environmental improvement plans. 

 

 

 ISO 14001 - Environmental Management System 

 The Planet Mark 

 LCA - Life cycle assessments (cradle to grave) 

 BRE Environment Profile  

 BRE Green Guide rating 

 BREEAM BRE Environmental Assessment Method 

 PAS141 Standard 

 CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme 

 Whole life costing (WLC) of products and assemblies 

 Association or accreditation with Investors in the Environment (IIE)  

 ISO 50001 – Energy Management System 

 BREEAM Construction Waste Management 

 EMAS – Eco-Management and Audit Scheme 

 EMIS – Environmental Management Information System 

 EDMS – Environmental Data Management System 

 ESOS Audits (Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme) 

 Public disclosure of environmental performance and impact information 

Page 54



Issued: September 2019                                                                                                                                       Page 14 

  

 

State Aid is financial support that is provided by the State to business organisations. 

State Aid rules exist to avoid public funded interventions distorting competition within 

the European Union.  Herts IQ Business Rate Relief is classed as State Aid. 

 

Generally State Aid is prohibited and unlawful. However, there are a number of 

exemptions, which if they apply, render the State Aid lawful and permitted. 

 

The relevant exemption in respect to the Enterprise Zone Business Rates Relief is De 

Minimis State Aid. 

 

If the business (including the applicant, parent company or subsidiary) has received any 

other de minimis State Aid during the current and the preceding two financial years this 

will be taken into account in calculating the amount of Business Rate Relief that may be 

awarded, to ensure that State Aid de minimis levels (currently €200,000 over a rolling 

three year period) are not exceeded. 

 

The De Minimis Regulations 1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the 

European Union L352 24.12.2013) can be downloaded at  

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF 

 

 

Page 55

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF


Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 12 November 2019

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Brownfield Land Register

Contact: Cllr   Graham Sutton, Portfolio   Holder   for   Planning   & Infrastructure

Author/Responsible Officer:
James Doe, Assistant Director, Planning, Development and
Regeneration.

Andrew Parrish, Strategic Planning & Regeneration Officer, Strategic 
Planning and Regeneration.

Stephen Mendham, Strategic Planning & Regeneration Officer, Strategic 
Planning and Regeneration.

Purpose of report: To consider the content of the Brownfield Land Register 2019 for the 
Borough of Dacorum.  

Recommendations That Cabinet approve the sites listed in Parts 1 of the Brownfield Land 
Register (BLR) as drafted in Appendix 1 and delegate authority to the 
Assistant Director (Planning, Development and Regeneration) to finalise 
the site specific information before publication and note that no sites are 
recommended for inclusion in Part 2.

Corporate 
Objectives:

A clean, safe and enjoyable environment, Building strong and vibrant 

communities; Ensuring economic growth and prosperity; Providing good 

quality affordable homes; Delivering an efficient and modern council;

The Brownfield Register will assist in more housing led sites becoming 
available for development This will provide more local housing, 
improved communities and economic growth.

Page 56

Agenda Item 10



Implications:

‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Financial
 
The then DCLG provided a new burdens grant to assist LA’s to produce 
their BLR.  £14,645 was given for 16/17 (paid to DBC 31/3/16), with 
further grants of £30,000 and £5,485 (paid to DBC on 29/03/18) and 
£1,775 and £575 (paid to DBC in March 2019). It is unclear what period 
this is intended to cover or whether any further grant is expected for 
future years.  The figures and timescales going forward are as yet 
unknown making it difficult for LA’s to budget effectively.

Value for Money

None specific, other than the grant finance from central Government 
assists in lessening the pressure on Council resources. 

Risk Implications Risk Assessment included within the PID for this area of work. 

Community Impact 
Assessment Community Impact Assessment carried out and at Appendix 2 to this 

report. 

Health And Safety 
Implications

None arising from this report.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

This report considers the Council’s statutory requirement to review its 
Brownfield Land Register at least once every year.  It is noted that no 
sites are recommended for approval in Part 2 of the register and 
therefore approval of Part 1 remains an Executive decision to be made 
by the Council’s Cabinet.

Deputy S.151 Officer:

No further comments to add to this report.

Consultees: Mark Gaynor, Corporate Director, Housing and Regeneration
James Doe, Assistant Director, Planning Development and Regeneration
Corporate Property Management Board
Cllr Graham Sutton, Portfolio Holder, Planning  and Infrastructure

Background 
papers:

Dacorum Borough Brownfield Land Register as approved (at 
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-
strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register) 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

BLR – Brownfield Land Register
TDC – Technical Details Consent
PIP – Permission in Principle

Page 57

http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/planning-development/planning-strategic-planning/brownfield-land-register


Background 

1. The Government, in its efforts to boost the supply and availability of land for housing-
led developments and to limit use of greenfield land, has required that all Councils 
prepare a register of brownfield land within their areas, of sizes from 0.25ha or capable 
of accommodating 5 dwellings or more. At their discretion, smaller sites can be 
included.

2. Legislation was issued in April 2017 (The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield 
Land Register) Regulations 2017) with additional guidance issued July 2017. All 
LA’s are required to review and maintain their BLR’s at least once each year from 
first publication. The register is formed of two parts:

a. Part 1 includes all brownfield sites that are suitable for housing but in order to 
develop the site will still need to go through the full planning application process 
to achieve a consent.

b. Part 2 includes sites for which Permission in Principle (PIP) has been granted, 
following prescribed publicity, notification and consultation requirements.

3. PIP settles the principle of development including its use, location and the quantum of 
development. However, work cannot commence until a Technical Details Consent 
(TDC) is obtained and this requires an application to be submitted to the local planning 
authority to enable them to assess the detailed design and ensure mitigation and 
contributions to infrastructure are secured, via conditions and planning obligations. 
Community Infrastructure Levy may also be payable.

 
4. The 2017 Regulations do not contain any mandatory consultation for Part 1. Part 2 

contains mandatory consultation requirements.

5. The draft BLR for consideration by Cabinet is at Appendix 1. This is in the format as 
required by the regulations.

6. It will be noted that Part 1 of the BLR includes sites already agreed by Council in 
September 2018. These comprise sites taken from the Council’s existing Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)/Site Allocation sites (Site Refs: 
BLR/001 to BLR/033 in Appendix 1). These have been reviewed and minor updates 
incorporated (e.g. where planning permissions have subsequently been granted or a 
definitive net minimum dwellings figure is now available). There were no sites included 
in Part 2.

7. The proposed new sites being recommended for Part 1 of the BLR in 2019 comprise 
site refs: BLR/034 to BLR/037. They comprises sites at Pix Farm Lane, Hemel 
Hempstead: the ‘Kier’ site at Maylands Avenue; the Old Mill PH; and land at Hillfield 
Road, Hemel Hempstead. 

8. These 4 sites which are endorsed by the Corporate Property Management Board, 
comprise sites that were considered to meet the relevant selection criteria as set out 
within the Brownfield Land Regulations 2017. They were sieved from a total of 10 “call-
for-sites” submissions, 7 DBC-owned sites and three sites from other sources (site 
allocations and SHLAA). It will be noted that none of the sites are proposed for 
inclusion in Part 2 of the register. This means there are no sites being recommended 
for PIP in 2019.

9. In accordance with the Council’s constitution, the resolution of the Cabinet on the BLR 
will be put to the full Council for final endorsement.

Page 58



OrganisationURI OrganisationLabel SiteReference PreviouslyPartOf SiteNameAddress SitePlanURL CoordinateReferenceSystem GeoX GeoY Hectares OwnershipStatus Deliverable PlanningStatus PermissionType PermissionDate PlanningHistory ProposedForPIP MinNetDwellings DevelopmentDescription NonHousingDevelopment Part2 NetDwellingsRa

ngeFrom

NetDwellingsRan

geTo

HazardousSubstances SIteInformation Notes Firstaddeddate Last updated date

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/001 West Herts College 

site and Civic Zone 

Marlowes 

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.75559885 -0.473836391 5.70 owned by a public 

authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2017-03-17 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

500 Housing led development with 

mixed use replacement college 

and new Public Sector Quarter 

Replacement college / New public 

sector building 

/Retail/Educational/Leisure

2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/002 Hemel Hempstead 

Hospital site Hillfield 

Road 

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.75073602 -0.467756483 11.71 owned by a public 

authority

yes not permissioned http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

400 Housing led development with 

mixed use replacement 

hospital new 2 form entry 

primary school 

Replacement hospital new 2 

form entry primary school

Previous permission 

expired

2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/003 HHC43 & MU/3 Paradise/Wood Lane 

Hemel Hempstead 

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74889125 -0.468340507 3.00 mixed ownership yes not permissioned 75 Housing led  development with 

mixed used B1  business

B1 led business 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/004 Hemel Hempstead 

Station Gateway 

Station Road

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74241128 -0.488750981 4.32 mixed ownership yes not permissioned 140 Housing led  development with 

mixed used transport 

interchange multi-story car 

park

Transport interchange multi-story 

car park

2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/005 Gossoms End / Billet 

Lane Berkhamsted

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.76569627 -0.579269352 0.63 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2018-06-25 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

32 Housing led  development with 

mixed used food store

New food store 2017-12-31 2019-10-14

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/006 Berkhamsted Civic 

Centre and land to 

rear of High Street 

Berkhamsted

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.75948607 -0.564728633 0.40 owned by a public 

authority

yes not permissioned http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

23 Housing led development with 

mixed use replacement Civic 

Centre

Replacement Civic Centre 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/007 Market Square 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.75260503 -0.473184068 0.50 owned by a public 

authority

yes not permissioned 5 Housing led development with 

mixed use for leisure food and 

offices

Leisure food residential and 

offices

2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/008 Land rear of 186-202 

Belswains Lane

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.73203233 -0.456080826 0.32 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned 10 Housing led development N/A 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/009 National Grid land 

339-353 London 

Road Hemel 

Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74091641 -0.480212078 4.32 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

350 Housing led development N/A Awaiting decision 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/010 Ebberns Road Hemel 

Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.73849247 -0.465289003 1.00 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2016-04-12 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

30 Housing led development N/A 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/011 Former Hewden Hire 

site Two Waters 

Road Hemel 

Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74095016 -0.473794603 0.30 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2019-08-27 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

39 Housing led development N/A 2017-12-31 2019-10-14

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/012 Leverstock Green 

Tennis Club 

Grasmere Close 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74529217 -0.438129878 1.16 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned 25 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/013 233 London Road 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.73888652 -0.47206825 0.11 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

10 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-12-31

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/014 Apsley Paper Trail 

land London Road

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.7338959 -0.462418196 0.31 owned by a public 

authority

yes not permissioned 31 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

DBC/015 The Point (former 

petrol filling station) 

Two Waters Road 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74555097 -0.472857213 0.15 owned by a public 

authority

yes not permissioned 25 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/016 Former Martindale 

School Boxted Road 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.76075142 -0.498281545 1.41 owned by a public 

authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2017-10-16 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

65 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2019-10-14

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/017 Frogmore Road 

Hemel Hempstead

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.73814976 -0.466589606 2.93 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

100 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/018 Corner of High Street 

/ Swing Gate Lane 

Berkhamsted

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.7574193 -0.556028506 0.10 owned by a public 

authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2015-06-29 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

11 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/019 Western Road Tring https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.79205221 -0.668470337 0.47 not owned by a 

public authority

yes not permissioned 25 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/020 Depot land Langdon 

Street Tring

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.79192804 -0.66386312 0.22 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2016-05-18 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

10 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/021 Watling Street (rear 

of Hicks Road/High 

Street) Markyate

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.83658719 -0.458571996 0.31 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2015-11-02 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

9 Housing led development Retrospective application 

for retention of mobile 

home granted approval

2017-12-31 2019-10-14

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/022 Garden Scene 

Nursery Chapel Croft 

Chipperfield

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.70739067 -0.491148546 0.81 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2019-07-29 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

15 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2019-10-14

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/023 Bourne End Mills 

Bourne End Lane

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74295745 -0.526102047 3.98 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned reserved matters 

approval

2017-07-17 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

45 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/024 St Mary's Convent 

Green End Road 

Boxmoor

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.74706522 -0.491941821 0.81 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2016-06-13 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

20 Housing led development 2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/025 Former Sappi Nash 

Mills

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.72869804 -0.451430478 6.67 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2015-10-19 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

38 Housing led development Part of site not yet 

developed out - Milbor 

Engioneering

2017-12-31 2018-08-16

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-

council/dacorum

Dacorum Borough 

Council

BLR/026 St Francis De Sales

Preparatory School

Aylesbury Road

https://goo.gl/ ETRS89 51.8314748 -0.699308714 0.69 not owned by a 

public authority

yes permissioned full planning 

permission

2018-03-09 http://www.dacorum.gov.

uk/brownfield-land-

register

40 Housing led development Site plan incorrect 2017-12-31 2019-10-14

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL - BROWNFIELD LAND REGISTER 2018
Part 1 and Part 2

P
age 59

http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
https://goo.gl/#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505868&y=206892&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505832&y=206686&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=504438&y=205936&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=498138&y=208400&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=499155&y=207729&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505489&y=207729&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=506718&y=204829&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505031&y=205782&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=506067&y=205534&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505474&y=205795&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
file:///C:/Users/aparrish/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/jdeacon/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/BLR REGISTER 17/Call for sites.doc#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505598&y=205568&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=506276&y=205027&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505528&y=206308&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=503738&y=207962&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=505978&y=205494&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=499760&y=207511&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=491929&y=211215&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=492247&y=211207&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=506300&y=216453&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=504353&y=202038&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=501858&y=205944&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=504207&y=206449&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=507047&y=204465&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://opendatacommunities.org/id/district-council/dacorum#
http://maps.dacorum.gov.uk/webmaplayers8/map.aspx?x=489724&y=215561&resolution=2&epsg=27700&mapname=dbc&marklocation=true&baseLayer=Basic%20Map&datalayers=BROWNFIELD%20REGISTER%2CselectFeaturesControl_container#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/brownfield-land-register#


September 2019 V2 1

Appendix 2

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template
Policy / service / decision Strategic Planning and Regeneration

Description of what is being impact assessed
What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 
need to reference/consider any related projects?
Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact

1. The Government, in its efforts to boost the supply and availability of land for housing-led developments and to limit use of greenfield land, has 
required that all Councils prepare a register of brownfield land within their areas, of sizes from 0.25ha or capable of accommodating 5 dwellings 
or more.

2. Legislation was issued in April 2017 (The Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017) with additional guidance 
issued July 2017. All LA’s are required to review and maintain their BLR’s at least once each year from first publication. The register is 
formed of two parts:

a. Part 1 includes all brownfield sites that are suitable for housing but in order to develop the site will still need to go through the full planning 
application process to achieve a consent.

b. Part 2 includes sites for which Permission in Principle (PIP) has been granted, following prescribed publicity, notification and consultation 
requirements.

3. The 2017 Regulations do not contain any mandatory consultation for Part 1. Part 2 contains mandatory consultation requirements, however, no 
sites are included in Part 2 of the Register.

4. The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes, including affordable homes, to meet housing need and also provide employment 
space for all members of the community. 

5. Recycling and re-purposing land is an important element of land use and can be an important tool in regenerating and creating vibrant 
and sustainable communities. Using brownfield land for development also assists in protecting existing greenfield land from development.

P
age 60



September 2019 V2 2

Evidence

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 
(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 
or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.  

Sites included on the register were taken from a number of sources, including screening the Council’s existing Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA)/Site Allocation sites. Those sites included on Part 1 of the Register must be deemed by the Council to be ‘suitable’, ‘available’, and 
‘achievable’ to deliver residential led development of 5 or more dwellings and have been previously developed.

The annual review of the Register is a statutory obligation and for sites listed in Part 1 consultation is not mandatory.   

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 
explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.  

The annual review of the Register is a statutory obligation and for sites listed in Part 1 consultation is not mandatory. Sites to be included in the Register 
were considered at a meeting of the Corporate Property Management Board in October 2019.  

P
age 61



September 2019 V2 3

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others)

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 
detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 
understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 
mitigation.

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment.
 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability).

Protected group
Summary of impact

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 
users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 
and why? Feedback/complaints? 

Negative 
impact / 
outcome

Neutral 
impact / 
outcome

Positive 
impact / 
outcome

Age The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

Disability (physical, 
intellectual, mental)

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 
and Mental Illness & 
Learning Disability Guide

The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community.

☐ ☒ ☐

Gender reassignment The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

P
age 62



September 2019 V2 4

Race and ethnicity The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

Religion or belief The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

Sex The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

Sexual orientation The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community. ☐ ☒ ☐

Not protected 
characteristics but 
consider other 
factors, e.g. carers, 
veterans, homeless, 
low income, 
loneliness, rurality 
etc.

The Register can assist in the delivery of new homes to meet housing need 
for all members of the community.

☐ ☒ ☐

P
age 63



September 2019 V2 5

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 
these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take.

Action taken/to be taken

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action)
Date Person 

responsible Action complete

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

P
age 64



September 2019 V2 6

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below.

N/A

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Stephen Mendham  
Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration Officer

Andrew Parrish 
Strategic Planning and
Regeneration Officer

Date 17 October 2019

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 
if being presented to CMT / Cabinet)

Date

Entered onto CIA database - date

To be reviewed by (officer name)

Review date

P
age 65



Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 12 November 2019

Part: I

If Part II, reason:

Title of report: Review of Commissioning & Procurement Strategy and
Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders

Contact: Andrew Williams, Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Contracted
Services

Mark Brookes, Assistant Director -Corporate & Contracted
Services

Author/Responsible Officer
Ben Hosier - Group Manager – Procurement & Contracted
Services

Andrew Linden – Commissioning & Procurement Team Leader

Purpose of report: To seek Cabinet approval to the changes to the 
Commissioning & Procurement Strategy and Commissioning 
and Procurement Standing Orders.

Recommendations That Cabinet recommend Council agree the   Commissioning 
& Procurement Strategy (appendix 1) and the revised 
Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders (appendix 
3)

Corporate 
Objectives:

Dacorum Delivers
The proposed changes will ensure that all commissioning and
procurement activities of the Council will align with the vision
and priorities as stated in the Corporate Plan and national best 
practice.

Implications: Financial

There are no direct financial implications from the review of the
Commissioning & Procurement Strategy and Standing Orders 
although it is expected that the increase in threshold for lower 
value procurements will become more efficient and free up 
officer resource to focus on more complex procurement 
activities 

Page 66

Agenda Item 11



‘Value For Money Value for Money

Implementing these recommended changes will support the 
planning, delivery and monitoring of the commissioning and 
procurement activities and align them to the vision and key 
priorities in the Corporate Plan which will result in a positive 
effect on Value for Money.

Risk Implications The changes to the procurement governance arrangements
ensures that the Council complies with the Public
Contract Regulations and the principles of transparency, non-
discrimination, equal treatment and proportionality when 
carrying out commissioning and procurement activities.

Community Impact 
Assessment

A copy of the completed community impact assessment is 
annexed to this report.

Health And Safety 
Implications

There are no direct implications on Health & Safety via the
implementation of these recommendations and the Standing
Orders make specific reference to Health & Safety.

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   

The Strategy and Standing Orders help to regulate the 
Council’s procurement and commissioning activities and 
ensure that the Council complies with relevant procurement 
legislation and guidance and internal constitutional 
procedures.  They also aim to deliver value for money and 
deliver other ‘social value’ objectives which benefit the 
borough as a whole.

Deputy S.151 Officer

The Commissioning and procurement standing orders support 
the financial regulations to ensure that, financial stewardship 
and financial authorisation related to procurement is 
maintained. The Council’s finance systems and processes 
support the Procurement standing orders.

Consultees: Mark Brookes – Assistant Director Corporate & Contracted 
Services
Fiona Jump – Group Manager Financial Services
Finance & Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Background 
papers:

None

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

NPS – National Procurement Strategy

The Standing Orders – the Commissioning and Procurement 
Standing Orders

The Strategy - the Commissioning & Procurement Strategy

Page 67



Introduction

The Council spends a significant amount of public money each year with third parties 
and there is a need to demonstrate that this expenditure is planned and executed in a 
manner that best delivers outcomes for residents and visitors to the borough.

The Council has in place a Constitution, which sets out how the Council operates, how 
decisions are made, and the procedures, which must be followed to ensure that these 
are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. The law requires some of 
these processes, while others are a matter for the Council to choose.

The Commissioning & Procurement Strategy (the Strategy) sets the direction and 
challenges the Council to deliver to the best of its ability, with the resources that are 
available within the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

The Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders (the Standing Orders) have 
been designed to provide a governance framework for officers and members to work 
within when carrying out commissioning and procurement activities on behalf of the 
Council.

Any major changes to these documents are presented to the Finance & Resources 
Overview Scrutiny Committee, before being recommended to Cabinet and then Full 
Council, the current documents were last adopted by Full Council in June 2014.

The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an overview of the main changes 
to the Strategy and Standing Orders.

This report provides Cabinet with assurances that the Strategy and Standing Orders 
remain fit for purpose and provide robust and transparent governance arrangements 
that support the delivery of the Corporate Plan.  

Commissioning & Procurement Strategy

1. National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2018
  

1.1 In previous procurement strategies, the Council has made reference to the 
deliverables and outcomes of the National Procurement Strategy whilst also taking 
account of local issues and the Corporate Plan. 

1.2 Rather than try and establish a separate strategy for the Council, it is recommended 
that the Council adopt the National Procurement Strategy 2018 as it best describes 
the priorities facing local government over the next few years.      

1.3 The Local Government Association launched a new National Procurement Strategy 
in 2018. It reflects learning from the 2014 strategy and focuses on three key themes 
which, consultation has shown, reflects local government’s priorities for the next 
four years:

 showing leadership
 behaving commercially

Page 68



 achieving community benefits

1.4 In addition to the themes, the strategy identifies four ‘enablers’:

 developing talent
 exploiting digital technology
 enabling innovation
 embedding change

1.5 These cross-cutting actions have been identified by councils as being necessary for 
successful delivery in the key areas. The idea is that each council chooses the level 
of maturity it aims for in each of the key areas. The choices will naturally reflect local 
priorities and the resources available to the council. 

1.6 The five defined outcomes for each value code are ‘minimum’ to ‘developing’ to 
‘mature’ to ‘leader’ to ‘innovator’. Achieving a ‘mature’ assessment should be 
regarded as a very satisfactory outcome; few councils will assess as ‘leader’ or 
‘innovator’.

1.7 The recommendation is for the Council to follow the Local Government 
Association’s National Procurement Strategy (https://www.local.gov.uk/national-
procurement-strategy) which was launched in 2018. The NPS provides a flexible 
framework so it is not a ‘one-size-fits-all’ approach and enables the Council to 
identify the most appropriate approach to delivering the themes and objectives in 
support of vision and priorities. A copy of the Council’s Commissioning & 
Procurement Strategy 2019-2024 is attached as Appendix 1. 

1.8 The NPS also provides a toolkit for the Council to assess its progress against the 
themes and objectives. The Council’s initial diagnostic self-assessment score is 
attached as Appendix 2. 

1.9 A diagram of the main features of the strategy is set out below:

Page 69

https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy
https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy


P
age 70



Commissioning & Procurement Standing Orders

2. The vast majority of the Standing Orders have fundamentally remained the same, 
but there have been some specific changes to this document. A copy of the 
proposed Standing Orders are attached as Appendix 3.

2.1 The table below identifies the changes which all relate to proposed increases in 
thresholds:

Quotations
Description Old 

threshold
New 

Threshold
Reason

A minimum of one quotation should 
be obtained from a local supplier if 
available.

Up to 
£9,999

Up to 
£24,999

The relatively low value of these types of quotations do 
not benefit from the added value of following a formal 
quotation process. There are also checks in place via 
Agresso to ensure that higher value expenditure cannot 
be ordered via this process, or that corporate contracts 
do not exist.   

A minimum of three quotations 
should be obtained including once 
from a local supplier where 
available.

£10,000 - 
£49,999

£25,000 - 
£74,999

Previously all quotations above £10,000 were 
advertised via Contracts Finder, this is resource 
intensive and does not deliver significant benefit to the 
Council, by increasing this value it will free up some 
resource to focus on higher value expenditure.  

Tenders
A formal tender process must be 
undertaken.

Above 
£50,000

Above 
£75,000

Previously formal tenders were undertaken above 
£50,000, this is resource intensive and does not deliver 
significant benefit to the Council, by increasing this 
value it will free up some resource to focus on higher 
value expenditure.  

Authority to Award Contracts
Team Leader arranges for a 
Purchase order to be raised via 
Agresso

Up to 
£9,999

Up to 
£24,999

The relatively low value of these contracts are covered 
by the Council’s terms and conditions which are 
included on a purchase order. Before a purchase order 
is sent to a supplier, it is signed off by a corporate 
expert (usually procurement) and the budget holder. 
This ensures that it complies with the standing orders 
and there is sufficient budget. 

Group Manager signs an Award 
Certificate

£10,000 - 
£49,000

£25,000 - 
£74,999

The increase in authority to award a contract has been 
increased to align with the maximum value of a 
quotation.

Assistant Director submits and 
Officer Decision Record Sheet

£50,000 - 
£250,000

£75,000 - 
£250,000

The increase in the lower value threshold for authority 
to award a contract has been increased to align with 
the new standing orders.

Chief Officer submits an Officer 
Decision Record Sheet

£250,001 £500,000 This remains the same

Portfolio Holder Decision Sheet is 
required

Above 
£500,000

Above 
£500,000

This remains the same

2.2 The scope of the standing orders has become wider and now includes guidance on 
concessions contracts and community impact assessments. The Council has 
recently awarded concessions contracts and it was identified that guidance on this 
was missing. Community Impact Assessments are an important tool in ensuring that 
any outcome that is delivered does not discriminate against a particular groups of 
people, it is vital that a community impact assessment is carried out at an early 
stage of the commissioning process. 

2.3 Guidance documents on contract management and supplier relationship 
management have been produced for officers to follow.

Page 71



2.4 The Council’s approach to category management and in particular the identification 
of category leads, category experts and category sponsors to feed information up to 
the Corporate Management Team and the Budget Review Group has been 
removed from the standing orders. Typically category management has been 
adopted by organisations with large levels of expenditure such as Unitary or County 
Councils where they have much larger procurement teams and have benefitted 
from this approach. Having a much larger procurement resource enables these 
authorities to categorise their expenditure and appoint specific category managers 
who are responsible for all expenditure within that category across the authority. 
Authorities such as Dacorum do not have the resource to fully deliver the benefits of 
implementing category management and this is the reason that it has been 
removed. 

2.5 The Council’s third party expenditure will still be analysed and reported on based 
upon the five categories of expenditure that the Council have identified, namely:

 Construction
 Facilities Management
 Environmental
 Professional Services
 ICT

3. Recommendations 

3.1 The recommendations for Cabinet in relation to the commissioning & procurement 
strategy and standing orders are set out below. 

 That Cabinet notes the changes to the Strategy and Standing Orders and 
recommends that these should be presented to Council for adoption. 

Page 72



September 2019 V2 1

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template
Policy / service / decision Commissioning & Procurement Strategy 2019- 2024

Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders

Description of what is being impact assessed
What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 
need to reference/consider any related projects?
Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment, dependent on likely level of impact

The commissioning and procurement standing orders are a documented set of procedures for officers and members to follow when carrying out any 
commissioning and procurement activities. Although they do not directly impact on the community, they are a clear set of rules that focus on outcome 
based specifications to ensure that it considers appropriate social/community/environmental benefits. 

The commissioning and procurement standing orders also state that Social Value should be incorporated either as a specific requirement to be delivered 
as part of the outcome or as part of the evaluation criteria.

Evidence

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 
(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 
or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.  

The Council has in place a Constitution, which sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made, and the procedures, which must be followed 
to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. The law requires some of these processes, while others are a matter for 
the Council to choose.

P
age 73



September 2019 V2 2

Any major changes to these documents are presented to the Finance & Resources Overview Scrutiny Committee, before being recommended to Cabinet 
and then Council, the current documents were last adopted by Full Council in June 2014.

There is a need to regularly review both the commissioning and procurement strategy and commissioning and procurement standing orders to provide 
assurances that they remain fit for purpose and provide robust and transparent governance arrangements that support the delivery of the Corporate 
Plan.  

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 
explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.  

Public procurement is subject to the EU Treaty principles of:

 non-discrimination
 free movement of goods
 freedom to provide services
 freedom of establishment

In addition to these fundamental treaty principles, some general principles of law have emerged from the case law of the European Court of Justice. The 
most important of these general principles of law in the procurement context are:

 equality of treatment
 transparency
 mutual recognition
 proportionality 

These principles have been signed up to by all EU countries and implemented in to national law.

P
age 74



September 2019 V2 3

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others)

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 
good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 
detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 
understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 
mitigation.

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment.
 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability).

Protected group
Summary of impact

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 
users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 
and why? Feedback/complaints? 

Negative 
impact / 
outcome

Neutral 
impact / 
outcome

Positive 
impact / 
outcome

Age The commissioning and procurement standing orders are not specific to these 
protected groups. The guidance advises officers and members that a community 
impact assessment must be undertaken for each procurement which will ensure 
that discrimination to these groups is avoided and that consideration is given to 
social/community and environmental outcomes which should all have a positive 
impact.

☐ ☐ ☒

Disability (physical, 
intellectual, mental)

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 
and Mental Illness & 
Learning Disability Guide

As above

☐ ☐ ☒

P
age 75



September 2019 V2 4

Gender reassignment As above
☐ ☐ ☒

Race and ethnicity As above
☐ ☐ ☒

Religion or belief As above
☐ ☐ ☒

Sex As above
☐ ☐ ☒

Sexual orientation As above
☐ ☐ ☒

Not protected 
characteristics but 
consider other 
factors, e.g. carers, 
veterans, homeless, 
low income, 
loneliness, rurality 
etc.

As above

☐ ☐ ☒

P
age 76



September 2019 V2 5

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 
these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take.

Action taken/to be taken

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action)
Date Person 

responsible Action complete

N/A Select date N/A ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

Select date ☐

P
age 77



September 2019 V2 6

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below.

N/A

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Ben Hosier & Sue Foster

Date 29th October 2019

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 
if being presented to CMT / Cabinet)

Date

Entered onto CIA database - date

To be reviewed by (officer name)

Review date

P
age 78



Commissioning & Procurement Strategy

2019-2024

Dacorum Borough Council                       

P
age 79



FOREWORD

The Council’s commissioning & procurement strategy is a very important corporate document that challenges us to deliver all that we do, to the best of our ability, 
with the resources that are available within our Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

The commissioning and procurement of services, supplies and works is an essential measure in supporting the Council’s Vision and the delivery of its priorities. 

It is at the heart of our commitment to maintain financial stability and improve our services and effective commissioning and procurement is paramount to 
improving the delivery, efficiency and quality of the range of services that the Council provides, and the outcomes it wishes to achieve. 

This strategy sets the commissioning and procurement direction for the Council and provides clarity around the vision and the objectives that will be focussed on 
when commissioning and procuring services, supplies and works. 

This Strategy will present Members, Officers and Stakeholders with the opportunity to challenge the present and deliver the future in an innovative and cost 
effective manner.

 

Councilor Andrew Williams - Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Contracted Services

Portfolio Holder for Residents and Regulatory Services

P
age 80



About Dacorum

Dacorum includes the towns of Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted and Tring along with many rural parishes. With a community population of over 130,000 
residents, Dacorum Borough Council provides a wide range of services from community activities, planning, landscaping, housing and refuse collection. 

The Council’s Commissioning, Procurement and Compliance Function

Commissioning & Procurement falls within the Chief Executives Unit at the Council, supporting services across the organisation, including the delivery of 
the front line service and back office services. The Council operate under this commissioning & procurement strategy in support of the Corporate Plan, 
Vision & Priorities and in support of the National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2018. 

Whether it is called procurement, purchasing, contracting, commissioning, tendering or buying, the Council spend approximately £70 million a year on 
obtaining a vast range of supplies, services and works from the external market. It is the Council’s duty to secure value for money in commissioning and 
procuring its requirements and to continually improve the quality in everything the public sees and expects from it. 

Central Government policy seeks to ensure that all commissioning and procurement activity should be based on obtaining value for money. This is defined 
as taking into account the optimum combination of whole life cost and the quality necessary to meet the customer’s requirements. In conjunction with 
relevant legislation and the Council’s Constitution (particularly the Financial Regulations and Commissioning & Procurement Standing Orders). This 
strategy will guide Members and Officers in making the right decisions when undertaking commissioning & procurement activities.

The Corporate Plan, Vision & Priorities 

Introduction

P
age 81



Spend Profile

The Council’s total spend in 2018/19 was £70 million across both revenue and capital. We use a variety of contracts from simple purchase orders to long-terms 
partnership agreements. 

The Council procures a wide range of goods, services and works for front-line services and back-office support. Examples include construction of new homes, 
energy, vehicles, IT software and consultancy. 

In 2015 the Council adopted a category management approach allowing procurement resources to focus on specific areas of spend and to analyse spend in a 
holistic manner. The Council’s categories are Construction, Environmental, Facilities Management, ICT and Professional Services. The breakdown for 2018/19 
was as follows: 

Our Vision for Commissioning & Procurement

Background

P
age 82



Our approach
This strategy builds on the Council’s previous procurement strategy where the focus was very much on category management and an outcome based 
commissioning approach. Even though these will remain part of the Council’s approach to procurement we are also keen to focus on achieving additional 
outcomes from our procurement activity, at no extra cost. By leveraging our procurement expenditure and engaging with suppliers we can help the council 
enhance our communities through increased social value. 
The strategy will support the Council’s corporate plan and support the council to achieve its vision and priorities: 

Vision:

“The Council is committed to working in partnership to create a borough which enables the communities of Dacorum to thrive and prosper. This requires
us to play a leadership role in bringing together a range of organisations and individuals to support and sustain good conditions for local growth”

Priorities: 

• A clean, safe and enjoyable environment
• Building strong and vibrant communities
• Ensuring economic growth and prosperity
• Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need
• Delivering an efficient and modern council
In order to help the council achieve its vision and strategic ambitions we will adopt the Local Government Association’s National Procurement Strategy 
(NPS) (https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy) launched in 2018. The NPS provides a flexible framework so it is not a ‘one-size-fits-all’ 
approach. The NPS allows the Council to identify the most appropriate approach to delivering the themes and objectives within the NPS. The NPS also 
provides a toolkit for the Council to assess its progress against the themes and objectives within diagram 1 below.  

Our Approach

P
age 83

https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy


Key Themes of the Strategy

Strategy Themes

P
age 84



Enablers

In order to understand areas where the Council currently sits against the themes and objectives set out in the National Procurement Strategy we have carried out a 
self-assessment using the National Procurement Strategy toolkit. The levels of maturity are set at minimum, developing, mature, leader and innovator. 

Our results will be used as a baseline and then the service will identify the maturity levels we realistically believe we can achieve in these areas by 2024. 

We have also devised a number of KPI’s against which to measure our progress towards our goals in respect of the three key areas. These KPI’s will be set out in 
the service plan. 

Finally, we have adopted the “enablers” identified in the National Procurement Strategy which need to be addressed and developed in order to support the 
council’s achievement of these ambitions and KPIs: 

 Developing talent
 Exploiting Digital Technology; 
 Enabling innovation; 
 Embedding change. 

We will monitor our progress in delivering this strategy and provide a review of the strategy, particularly of the KPIs in two years.

Enablers

P
age 85



Achieving Community Benefits

Through the Council’s third party spend, there is the opportunity to deliver additional value to the community by improving economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of the local community through the Council’s contracts. Used properly, additional social value can be beneficial to both suppliers and the council and 
represent a joint effort to exploit maximum value from procurement.

Objectives: 

- Obtaining social value
- Local small medium enterprises (SMEs) and micro-business engagement
- Enabling voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) engagement

How will we deliver this: 

Obtaining social value: 

- Utilise forward plans to identify and plan for opportunities which have economic, social and environmental implications and could have an additional 
benefit to the community. 

- Ensuring Economic, Social and Environmental principles are incorporated in specifications where suitable. 
- Ensure social value is included within the commissioning stage including discussions with key stakeholders and the voluntary sector. 
- Raise awareness of social value within the organisation by working with the Council’s key officers and providing training opportunities to members and 

staff. 
- Identify ways of measuring social value on relevant contracts against both financial and non-financial terms. 

Procurement Objectives & Principles

P
age 86



Procurement Objectives & Principles

Local small medium enterprises (SMEs) and micro-business engagement:

- Publishing forward plans to allow SMEs to identify, plan and target suitable tender opportunities.  
- Provide training and support to SMEs to ensure they have the relevant skills to compete with the wider market.
- Help to facilitate relationships between SMEs and the Council’s larger providers. 
- Ensure there is local representation from the SME sectors in any pre-market dialogue when suitable. 
- Ensure all tender opportunities are published on the local portal, Supply Hertfordshire. 
- Work with the Council’s Strategic Planning and Regeneration team to help facilitate good relationships between with the Council and the local SME 

sector. 
- Capture spend with local SMEs and set targets on an annual basis. 
- Ensure clauses are inserted into contracts with main contractors to ensure any sub-contractors are paid on the same terms as the main contractor. 

Enabling voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) engagement
- Utilise forward plans to identify contracts which are suitable for voluntary sector involvement, either as a main contractor or as part of the supply chain. 
- Publishing forward plans to allow VCSEs to identify, plan and target suitable tender opportunities.  
- Utilise the commissioning process to allow early involvement from both key stakeholders and the voluntary sector where appropriate to help shape 

the outcomes from the Council’s contracts. 
- Where appropriate, undertake an outcome based commissioning approach on key projects to ensure the Council’s vision and communities need form 

a fundamental element of the requirement. 
- Work with larger providers during the contract period and identify opportunities for VCSEs involvement within their supply chain. 
- Capture spend with local VCSEs and set targets on an annual basis. 
- Provide training and support to the local VCSEs to ensure they have the relevant skills to compete with the private sector.
- Ensure clauses are inserted into contracts with main contractors to ensure any sub-contractors are paid on the same terms as the main contractor.

P
age 87



Procurement Objectives & Principles

Showing Leadership 

The Procurement and Contracted Services Team are keen to lead from the front and encourage a more strategic approach to procurement. This requires a 
need for the Procurement Team to engage with councillors and senior managers on areas such as high value-high risk procurements to drive innovation, 
generate saving opportunities and identify opportunities for income generation whilst mitigating risk.  
This will lead to Procurement engaging more with both Councillors and Senior Managers within the Organisation to ensure procurement exercises and 
contracts are thoroughly thought through to deliver the best outcomes for the Council and our communities. 

Objectives: 
Engaging Councillors and Senior Management to deliver better results across all procurement and commercial activity.

-  Achieving better outcomes from procurement projects due to early procurement and commercial advice involvement. 
- Engaging with strategic suppliers to improve performance, reduce cost, mitigate risks and harness innovation. 

How we will achieve this: 
- Engaging Councillors and Senior Management to deliver better results across all procurement and commercial activity: 
- Provide quarterly reports to members and senior officers on areas such as actual spend vs planned spend, up and coming tender exercises and non-

compliance
- Provide training opportunities to both members and staff on both procurement and contract management principles. 
- Provide regular updates to the Procurement & Contracted Services Portfolio Holder on procurement and commercial activities. 

Achieving better outcomes from projects due to early procurement and commercial advice.
- Development of forward plans on key and upcoming projects to give both members, senior officer’s and key stakeholder’s opportunities to be involved 

in procurement activities early on and throughout the process providing better outcomes.
- Undertake an outcome based commissioning approach on strategic tenders to ensure the Council’s vision and communities needs form a fundamental 

element of the requirement. 
Engaging with strategic suppliers to improve performance, reduce cost, mitigate risks and harness innovation.

- Carry out supply risk analysis using tools such as the Kraljic Purchasing Model to identify high risk and high value contracts as well as identifying the 
best approach to each procurement exercise. 

- Utilising forward plans and a category management approach, identifying opportunities to aggregate spend internally and externally. 
- Collect and analyse data on key contracts looking at areas on supplier performance, cost, financial status, added value and risk. 
- Roll-out training programme and develop a toolkit on contract management principles.
-  Carry out reviews and benchmarking exercises on high value / high risk contracts. 
- Engage suppliers early on for key procurement exercises as part of the outcome based commissioning approach.

P
age 88



Spend and Structure

Spend and Structure

Procurement Objectives & Principles

Behaving Commercially
The Council’s Procurement and Commissioning Team will look to maximise value for money from our third party acquisitions by looking at 
opportunities to maximise any commercial opportunities through increasing revenue generation and value creating. This needs to be delivered 
throughout contract and commercial lifecycles from identifying the need through to the contract management process. This will require careful 
planning, encouraging innovation and a strategic approach to risk management. 
Objectives:

- Creating commercial opportunities 
- Managing contracts and relationships
- Managing strategic risk

How we will achieve this:
Creating commercial opportunities: 

- Ensuring projects and procurement activities are fully planned and thought out with procurement and key stakeholders having early 
involvement.

- Undertake an outcome based commissioning approach on key projects to ensure the Council’s vision and communities needs form a 
fundamental element of the requirement. 

- Ensuring procurement and officers are obtaining value for money in all procurement activities.  
- Collect and analyse data on key contracts looking at areas on supplier performance, cost, financial status, added value and risk. 

Managing contracts and relationships
- Making the contract register a more workable document allowing the Council to review actual spend vs planned spend as well as 

feeding into other strategic documents such as forward plans. 
- Ensure the relevant policies and toolkits are in place for contract management approaches including areas such managing 

performance, building relationships and change control. 
- Ensure strategic supplier’s financial position is monitored to identify suppliers that fall into financial distress. 
- Collect and analyse data on key contracts looking at areas on supplier performance, cost, savings, financial status, added value and 

risk. 
- Develop a training programme for both staff and members on contract management principles to increase both skills and knowledge 

within the organisation as well as changing the culture within the organisation when it comes to contract management. 
- Post contract reviews undertaken both internally and with external partners on key contract and feeding the findings into future 

procurements and contracts. 
- Carry out reviews on strategic contracts to ensure the relevant resources and skills are in place when it comes to contract 

management. 
Managing strategic risk

- Ensure the relevant processes are in place to identify risks including areas such as fraud, financial loss and modern slavery.  
- Carry out supply risk analysis using models such as the Kraljic Purchasing Model to identify high risk / high value contracts 
- Develop suitable risk registers for strategic contracts with mitigating actions in place. 

P
age 89



Dacorum Borough Council - LGA National Procurement
Strategy 2018

(submitted on 18th October 2018)

Page 90



 

Page 91



Contents (draft)

Summary
Engaging Councillors

Proc. and commercial champions
Reporting
Councillor development

Engaging senior managers
Influence and impact
Mission and strategy
Processes
Senior managers development

Working with partners
Culture
Governance and processes
Staff development for partnership working

Engaging strategic suppliers
Data collection and analysis
Existing strategic supplier engagement
Early engagement with future suppliers

Creating commercial opportunities
Forward planning
Options appraisal (Make or Buy)
Market/supplier research/analysis
Tendering
Performance reporting
Post contract review

Contract and relationship management
Information storage/accessibility
Change control
Supplier financial distress
Savings and benefits delivery
Recognition/cultural acceptance
C&RM skills and knowledge

Managing strategic risk
Fraud and financial loss
Supply chain and contractor failure
Modern slavery (Legislation)
GDPR (Legislation)
External events (e.g. Brexit)

Obtaining social value
Policy and scope (social value)
Social value internal management
Social value TOMs (themes, outcomes and measures)
Commissioning for social value
Procurement (social value)
Social value market engagement
Social value contract management
Cross sector collaboration
Reporting social value
Social value governance

Local SME and micro-business engagement
Policy and scope (SMEs)
SME relationships
Commissioning with SMEs
Market engagement with SMEs
Procurement with SMEs
Contract management with SMEs
Governance of SME engagement

Engaging VCSEs (voluntary, community and social enterprises)
Policy and scope (VCSEs)
VCSE relationships
VCSE engagement measurement

Page 1 of 74

Page 92



Commissioning with VCSEs
VCSE market engagement
Procurement with VCSEs
Contract management with VCSEs
Governance of VCSE engagement

Enablers
Developing talent
Exploring digital technology
Enabling innovation
Embedding change

Page 2 of 74

Page 93



 1 - Minimum  2 - Developing  3 - Mature  4 - Leader
 5 - Innovator  unscored

Overall Score Distribution

Section Score Distributions

Local SME and micro-business e…

Creating commercial opportunities

Contract and relationship manag…

Obtaining social value

Engaging strategic suppliers

Enablers

Engaging Councillors

Working with partners

Managing strategic risk

Engaging senior managers

Engaging VCSEs (voluntary, com…

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Key

Summary (draft)

The following charts summarise the scores to give an overview of: how many question scores were given at each level, how many
question scores were given per section at each level, and which questions were given scores at each level.

Scores
C&RM skills and knowledge
Commissioning with SMEs
Cross sector collaboration

Options appraisal (Make or Buy)
Policy and scope (SMEs)

Post contract review
Procurement with SMEs

Savings and benefits delivery
Supply chain and contractor failure

Change control
Commissioning for social value

Contract management with SMEs
Contract management with VCSEs

Councillor development
Culture

Data collection and analysis
Early engagement with future sup…

Embedding change
Enabling innovation

Existing strategic supplier engag…
Exploring digital technology
External events (e.g. Brexit)

Forward planning
Governance of SME engagement

Governance of VCSE engagement
Information storage/accessibility
Market engagement with SMEs

Market/supplier research/analysis
Mission and strategy

Modern slavery (Legislation)
Performance reporting

Policy and scope (social value)
Procurement (social value)

Recognition/cultural acceptance
Reporting

Reporting social value
SME relationships

Senior managers development
Social value TOMs (themes, outc…
Social value contract management

Social value governance
Social value internal management
Social value market engagement

Staff development for partnership…
Supplier financial distress

Tendering
Commissioning with VCSEs

Developing talent
Fraud and financial loss

GDPR (Legislation)
Governance and processes

Influence and impact
Policy and scope (VCSEs)

Proc. and commercial champions
Procurement with VCSEs

VCSE engagement measurement
VCSE market engagement

VCSE relationships
Processes

Page 3 of 74

Page 94



Engaging Councillors (draft)

Engaging Councillors refers to the engagement of councillors in the leadership and governance of council procurement and
commercial activity. This includes both the Cabinet/portfolio holders and overview and scrutiny members. To perform their roles
effectively councillors must be equipped with the necessary skills and value and benefit from good procurement and commercial
advice.

What it is: Councillors set the council vision and strategic priorities and must be satisfied that the procurement and commercial
arrangements for their delivery are robust. Councillors make key decisions, particularly in major projects, and maintain oversight of
the performance of key contracts, agreeing corrective action where necessary. Councillors need to be fully engaged in these roles.
Councillor engagement needs to be supported through training, good procurement and commercial advice and reporting
arrangements.

Why it is important: When councillors are fully engaged with procurement and commercial matters, the quality of decision-making
is better and oversight and accountability are improved. Among other things, councillor engagement leads to better project delivery
and better outcomes for the local community.

Page 4 of 74

Page 95



Proc. and commercial champions (draft)

Description: The extent to which the role of procurement and commissioning is recognised by
members.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Councillors recognise

the role of procurement
and commercial in

delivering the council’s
vision and strategic

priorities.

The council is
exploring the best way

for councillors to
champion procurement

and commercial
matters.

Procurement and
commercial are within

the portfolio of a
Cabinet member (or

equivalent
arrangements).

The portfolio holder (or
equivalent) is making a
demonstrable impact

on council procurement
and commercial

activities.

The portfolio holder (or
equivalent) is making

an impact on a
combined

authority/group of
councils project or
another innovative

project.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 5 of 74

Page 96



Reporting (draft)

Description: The extent to which reporting is used to inform your councillors and those councillors in collaborative
networks.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Councillors in

executive and overview
and scrutiny roles

receive reports
required for formal

decision-making and
reviews.

Council is exploring
better ways of

informing councillors
about procurement and
commercial activities.

Councillors receive
regular briefings and

reports, going beyond
formal requirements,
which highlight the

contribution of
procurement and

commercial.

Councillors are
performing their roles

more effectively due to
enhanced reporting

arrangements.

Enhanced reporting
extends to combined

authority/group of
councils projects and

other innovative
projects.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 6 of 74

Page 97



Councillor development (draft)

Description: The extent to which councillors are offered personal development programmes to support collaborative
procurement.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No formal training for

councillors on
procurement and

commercial issues.

Some councillors have
attended relevant
training courses.

Councillor development
programmes include

procurement and
commercial modules
for all participants.

Training equips
councillors in executive

and overview and
scrutiny roles to ask the

right questions.

Development
programmes have
resulted in better

councillor engagement
with procurement and

better decisions.

Development equips
councillors to play their

role in combined
authority/group of

councils projects or
other innovative

projects.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 7 of 74

Page 98



Engaging senior managers (draft)

Engaging senior managers refers to the corporate management team valuing and benefiting from procurement and commercial
advice at all stages of decision-making, including early advice on major projects.

What it is: Key decision-makers value and benefit from procurement and commercial advice, including advice at the early stages of
major projects. This is a two-way process requiring action by senior managers on the one hand and by procurement and
commercial advisors on the other.

Why it is important: Good procurement and commercial (wherever possible, provided in-house or shared between councils) can
have a decisive impact on the outcome of a project, particularly one involving innovation. It is important that senior managers
engage with the procurement and commercial issues from the earliest stages of the project.

Page 8 of 74

Page 99



Influence and impact (draft)

Description: The extent to which the corporate management team influences and makes an
impact.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Procurement and

commercial is
contributing but

contribution is not
visible to senior

managers.

Contribution of
procurement and

commercial has been
noted on isolated

projects.

Contribution
recognised through
representation on

corporate management
team.

Representation on
corporate management

team contributing to
better strategic

planning, coordination
and decision-making.

Representation on
combined authority/
group of councils,
decision-making

bodies or governance
structure of an

innovative project.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 9 of 74

Page 100



Mission and strategy (draft)

Description: The extent to which procurement is represented with a working mission and
strategy.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Obsolete procurement

strategy or no
procurement strategy.

Procurement strategy
being reviewed and

refreshed.

Council has approved
a procurement strategy

aligned to corporate
and service strategies.

Council has approved
procurement and

commercial mission to
harness supplier

innovation.

Council committed to
providing procurement

and commercial
support to combined

authority/group of
councils approach to

the harnessing of
supplier innovation or
other approaches to

innovation.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 10 of 74

Page 101



Processes (draft)

Description: The extent to which procurement commercial advice is sought for managing projects.
.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Ad hoc approach to
managing projects.

Structured approach
but not explicit about

role of commercial and
procurement advice.

Structured approach to
project management
clearly defining roles
and responsibilities in

relation to procurement
and commercial

advice.

Demonstrably better
outcomes from projects

due to early
procurement and

commercial advice.

Arrangements for
combined authority/

group of councils joint
projects or other

innovative projects
provide for early
procurement and

commercial advice
from the council.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 11 of 74

Page 102



Senior managers development (draft)

Description: The extent to which the management team is trained in procurement and commercial decision
making.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No formal training for
senior managers on

procurement and
commercial issues.

Some senior managers
have attended training

courses.

Senior manager
development

programmes include
procurement and

commercial modules
for all participants.

Development
programmes have
resulted in better
engagement with
procurement and

commercial and better
decisions.

Development equips
senior managers to

play their role in
combined

authority/group of
councils projects or

other innovative
projects.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 12 of 74

Page 103



Working with partners (draft)

Working with partners refers to a ‘one team’ approach to the design and implementation of solutions for public services which spans
council departments and organisations.

What it is: The council works as a single team to design and implement solutions for public services and commissioners/budget
holders, and commercial and procurement advisors work together as part of that team.

Why it is important: A team approach is the best use of limited resources and can lead to innovative solutions and better results.
The team approach should characterise how council departments work together and how the council works with other councils,
health, fire, police, housing, VCSEs and other partners.

Page 13 of 74

Page 104



Culture (draft)

Description: The extent to which third parties are included in the design and delivery of
solutions.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Silo working is not

questioned.
Benefits of a change in

culture recognised.
Pilots challenging

attitudes and
behaviours.

Working as a single
team is ‘the way we do

things here’.

Working as a single
team is the norm when
the council cooperates
with external partners.

Team successes,
including significant

innovations, reinforce
the culture.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 14 of 74

Page 105



Governance and processes (draft)

Description: The extent to which partnerships are embedded in processes and
structures.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Departments generally

have their own
arrangements and

processes.

Lessons being learned
from pilot projects for

planning and budgeting
processes, project
management and

governance.

The team approach is
supported by:

• corporate service
planning and budgeting

processes

• a structured approach
to project management

• effective governance
arrangements.

The team approach is
supported by:

• joint planning and
budgeting processes

• common approach to
project management.

• strong cross-
organisation

governance structures.

Peers acknowledge the
transformational results
being achieved through

partnership working
(including governance,
processes and project

management
arrangements).

Comment

(no comment)

Page 15 of 74

Page 106



Staff development for partnership working (draft)

Description: The extent to which staff development encompasses the benefits of partnership working.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Training and
development

programmes do not
cover partnership

working.

Training programmes
under development.

Training programmes
cover ‘soft skills’ of

partnership working as
well as council

processes.

Training programmes
cover ‘soft skills’ of
partnership working

and shared processes.

Other public bodies
regard the council’s

approach as exemplary
practice and involve
council staff in their

own training
programmes.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 16 of 74

Page 107



Engaging strategic suppliers (draft)

Engaging strategic suppliers refers to the process of identifying strategic suppliers and engaging with them to improve performance,
reduce cost, mitigate risk and harness innovation.

What it is: The council takes a strategic approach to the management of relationships with the most important suppliers (otherwise
known as Strategic Supplier Relationship Management). This activity should be carried out cross-department and is most effective
when done cross-organisation.

Why it is important: Effective management of strategic supplier relationships can deliver a range of benefits including improved
outcomes for the public, added social value, reduced cost, reduced risk and innovation.

Page 17 of 74

Page 108



Data collection and analysis (draft)

Description: The extent to which data on strategic suppliers is collected and
utilised.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No common basis for
departments to collect
data and intelligence

on suppliers.

No system for sharing
and analysing

departmental data.

No agreed definition of
a ‘strategic’ supplier.

Council has partial
data and intelligence
on its suppliers and is
developing criteria it
will use to identify
strategic suppliers.

Council routinely
collects and analyses
data and intelligence

on supplier
performance, cost,

financial status, added
social value and risk.

Council strategic
suppliers identified

according to agreed
criteria.

Council has visibility of
strategic supplier

supply chains.

Council shares data
and intelligence on
performance, cost,

financial status, added
social value and risk.

Contributes to analysis
of data and

identification of
strategic suppliers at
combined authority/

group of councils level.

Council participates in
regional/national data

and intelligence
sharing.

Contributes to analysis
of data and

identification of
strategic suppliers at

regional/national level.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 18 of 74

Page 109



Existing strategic supplier engagement (draft)

Description: The extent to which existing strategic supplier relationships are
managed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Roles and

responsibilities in
relation to strategic

suppliers not defined.

Engagement (when it
happens) is firefighting
in response to a crisis.

Evaluating toolkits.

Piloting engagement
with a major supplier.

Roles and
responsibilities

allocated for monitoring
and engaging strategic

suppliers.

Engagement toolkit
adopted.

Supply chain risk
assessment carried

out.

Programme of
engagement to identify

and realise
opportunities for cost

reduction, performance
improvement, added

social value, mitigation
of risk and so on.

Improvement/cost
reduction plans in

place. Contingency
planning where there is

significant risk.

Combined authority/
group of councils lead

role for strategic
supplier monitoring and

engagement.

Leading delivery of a
programme of

engagement with one
or more shared

strategic suppliers.

Undertaking joint risk
assessment.

Using shared toolkit.

Coordinating
improvement/cost

reduction planning and
contingency planning
at combined authority/
group of councils level.

Regional/national lead
role for strategic

supplier monitoring and
engagement.

Leading delivery of a
programme of

engagement with one
or more

regional/national
strategic suppliers.

Regional/national risk
assessment.

Using regional/ national
toolkit.

Coordinating
improvement/cost

reduction planning and
contingency planning
at regional/national

level.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 19 of 74

Page 110



Early engagement with future suppliers (draft)

Description: The extent to which future strategic requirements are planned and
managed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Not recognised as

important.
Some information on

forward plans
published.

Experience of early
market engagement on

at least one council
project.

Future needs signalled
to the market using a
variety of channels

including publication of
pipeline information

and engagement
events.

Normal practice to
engage early with

bidders on significant
projects to encourage
innovative solutions.

Combined authority/
group of councils lead

role for market
engagement.

Leading early
engagement for a joint

project.

Regional/national lead
role for market
engagement.

Leading early
engagement for a
regional/national

project.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 20 of 74

Page 111



Creating commercial opportunities (draft)

Creating commercial opportunities refers to how an organisation promotes revenue generation and value creation through the way
it plans its major third party acquisitions (works, services and goods); reviews its business options (make or buy); engages with, and
influences, markets and potential suppliers; seeks to support and encourage innovation; and promotes the development of new
ideas and solutions to service delivery.

Commercialisation is a broad subject and this key area is confined to how procurement teams should contribute to its successful
delivery.

What it is: There are many ways in which commercial opportunities can be created through the strategic management of the
commercial cycle and the services and assets delivered through the contracts it creates. Commercialisation is a broad and
important subject to the sector. This key area is confined to how procurement teams should contribute to helping identify and create
commercial opportunities.

Why it is important: As grants from central government are reduced, organisations are required to look at other means of reducing
funding deficits. Commercial opportunities can be created in many different ways, from conventional means such as increasing
returns on assets to the way it engages with its development partners and third party contractors.

Page 21 of 74

Page 112



Forward planning (draft)

Description: The extent to which forward planning is undertaken to maximise commercial
attractiveness.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Some forward planning
is undertaken but with

a focus on process
compliance.

Forward planning is
undertaken in some

areas and/or for some
acquisition types.

Opportunities to create
new revenue streams

is sometimes
investigated in some
departments and for
some expenditure

categories.

Forward planning is
always undertaken

across the organisation
for all strategic

contracts.

Opportunities to create
new revenue streams
is considered by all

departments and for all
relevant expenditure

categories.

Procurement
encouraged to

contribute ideas for
revenue generation in
the forward planning

process.

Forward planning for
contracts has

developed to form an
integral part of the

organisation’s budget
setting and expenditure

forecasting process.

Procurement is able to
contribute ideas for

revenue generation in
the forward planning

process.

Forward planning for
contracts is undertaken

across multiple
organisations in order
to maximise leverage

and commercial
attractiveness to the

market.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 22 of 74

Page 113



Options appraisal (Make or Buy) (draft)

Description: The extent to which options appraisal is included in the commercial cycle and the extent of options that are
explored.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Sometimes

undertaken, but only
seen as an in-

house/outsource
decision.

Undertaken for high
profile/high value

projects and exercises.

Evaluation criteria
sometimes

incorporating
commercial and social

considerations.

A policy exists, setting
out how and when

options appraisal must
be applied and is used

by all departments.

Clear guidance on how
to identify and evaluate
‘make or buy’ options,
including commercial

and social
considerations, is in

place and widely used.

Procurement is
consulted on options

appraisals.

Options appraisal
includes seeking

commercial
opportunities and/ or

collaborative
contracting with others

in the sector.

Creation of new models
for delivering services.

Procurement viewed
as an integral aspect of

options appraisals.

Expanded to include
alternative service
delivery vehicles,

includes creation of
new trading

companies, seeking
commercial

opportunities and/or
collaborative

contracting with other
organisations in the
wider public sector.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 23 of 74

Page 114



Market/supplier research/analysis (draft)

Description: The extent to which supplier and market research is used to determine procurement and commercial decision
making.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Sometimes undertaken
if time permits or there
is a political imperative.

Undertaken when a
new requirement is

sought and/or where
there have been

problems on an earlier
contract.

Research sometimes
includes looking for

commercial
opportunities or gaps in

the market.

A policy exists, setting
out how and when

market and supplier
research/analysis must
be undertaken and is

used by all
departments.

Clear guidance on how
to interpret and apply
the findings, including
commercial and social

considerations, is in
place and widely used.

Procurement is asked
to give advice on

market and supplier
research.

Outcomes from market
and supplier research
are used to shape and
determine the content

and timing of the
procurement process

used.

Outcomes are also
used to contribute to
the risk management
process and options
appraisal process.

Procurement viewed
as an integral aspect of

market and supplier
research and analysis.

Outcomes from market
and supplier research

are used in
collaboration with other

organisations in the
wider public sector for
seeking and exploiting

new commercial
opportunities.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 24 of 74

Page 115



Tendering (draft)

Description: The extent to which innovative tenders are
utilised.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Mainly focused on
compliance and

standard cost/quality
ratios.

Focus still on
compliance and

standard cost/quality
ratios but innovation

sometimes considered.

Tenders mainly viewed
as legal documents but

written in plain
language.

Procurement is
sometimes invited to

contribute to the
planning phase.

Innovation is seen by
the organisation as an
important factor in the
tendering process and

scored at the
evaluation stage.

Tenders viewed as
needing to have a
legal/ commercial

balance are focused on
attracting the best bids.

Procurement is asked
to contribute to the

planning phase.

Tendering is seen as a
commercial process by

the organisation.

Documentation is
prepared to make it

attractive to take part
and is focused on

innovation and
opportunities.

Procurement is seen
as an integral

contributor to the
planning phase.

Tendering
opportunities are

focused on innovation
and opportunities and
done in conjunction
with development

partners to maximise
market attractiveness.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 25 of 74

Page 116



Performance reporting (draft)

Description: The extent to which performance reporting is utilised to maximise leverage and
influence.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Performance reporting

is undertaken, but
restricted to the level

savings made.

Performance reporting
is undertaken and

includes commercial
and social benefits
achieved as well as

savings but restricted
to specific procurement

exercises and some
departments.

Summary reports are
produced by

Procurement for
service heads on an

annual basis.

Performance reporting
is undertaken and

includes commercial
and social benefits
achieved as well as
savings across the
whole organisation.

Procurement is asked
to produce summary

reports for chief officers
and elected Members
on a monthly basis.

Performance reporting
is seen as an integral

part of the
organisation’s culture

with reports on
commercial and social

benefits achieved
included in a
performance
dashboard.

An annual report for
the Leadership team
and potential delivery

partners covering
achievements and

aspirations is published
by the organisation.

Procurement is viewed
as an integral aspect of
performance reporting
and is viewed by the

leadership as
contributing to

commercialism.

Aspirations and
performance reporting

is shared with other
organisations in the
sector to maximise

potential leverage and
influencing capability in

markets and/or with
development partners.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 26 of 74

Page 117



Post contract review (draft)

Description: The extent to which contract reviews are used to improve performance exploit new
opportunities.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Occasional post
contract reviews
undertaken, but

restricted to some
departments and/ or

categories of
expenditure.

Seen as something
that is done after poor
contract performance

or contract failure.

Post contract reviews
undertaken, by most
departments and/or

identified categories of
expenditure.

Seen as being an
integral part of

improving outcomes
and identifying

commercial
opportunities.

Post contract reviews
undertaken as part of

an organisational
policy.

Well defined criteria
published for

undertaking post
contract reviews

including the
identification of

commercial
opportunities.

Procurement is asked
to support the post

contract review
process.

Contract reviews and
relationships are seen

as a continuous
process and involve

development partners
to ensure commercial

and social
opportunities are

identified and
exploited.

Procurement is seen
as an integral part of

the post contract
review process.

Contract reviews and
relationships are seen

as a continuous
process and

fundamental to
improved performance
and the creation of new

opportunities.

Reviews are extended
to sector partners so

that supplier
relationship

management can be
undertaken in

partnership with
multiple organisations.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 27 of 74

Page 118



Contract and relationship management (draft)

Contracts and relationship management refers to the effective management and control of all contracts from their planned inception
until their completion by the appointed contractor(s). It covers the supporting policies, procedures and systems needed to undertake
it, together with broader issues from the identification and minimisation of risk, successful and timely delivery of outcomes and
performance, effective control of cost and variations and the maintenance of clear communications and operational relationships
with contractors.

What it is: Contract and relationship management is the process by which all contracts and variations are managed effectively to
control costs, secure the quality and timeliness of agreed outcomes and performance levels and minimise the occurrence of risks.

Why it is important: Research by the International Association for Contract and Commercial Management (IACCM) shows that
contracts exceed their expected costs by 9.4 per cent on average over their lifetime. Poor contractor performance or commercial
failure can seriously damage a council’s reputation and its ability to deliver effective services and support to local communities.

Page 28 of 74

Page 119



Information storage/accessibility (draft)

Description: The extent to which a contract register is implemented and used to influence procurement planning and decision
making.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Basic contracts register
on a spreadsheet with
limited accessibility.

Data held is often
incomplete/out of date.

Contracts register
exists with some
access possible,

mainly viewing and
searching capability.

Data held is
incomplete/ out of date,

but efforts are being
made to increase data

quality and the
percentage of third

party spend listed on
the register.

Contracts Register is
dynamic and provided

through a purpose-
built solution (in-

house/ external C and
RM software/hosted

service).

Fully visible to the
whole council with
read/ write/edit and

search capabilities for
all contract owners and

managers.

Complete data sets for
all major third party

spend.

Contracts Register is
dynamic and fully

accessible to all who
need to use it.

Information is always
up-to-date with
comprehensive,

complete and accurate
records on all

contracts.

Contracts register has
action/renewal alerting
capabilities for contract
owners and managers
and in-built Learning

Management
capability.

Contracts Register is
complete and

accessible to all
appropriate staff and is

integrated with the
financial system for
forward planning,
budgeting, asset
management and

expenditure reporting.

Contracts register is
used for forward

planning and financial
modelling.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 29 of 74

Page 120



Change control (draft)

Description: The extent to which a change control policy is implemented and used to manage
variations.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No change control

policy in place except
for isolated contracts.

A change control policy
exists for capturing the
details of any changes
or variations made to

some contracts.

Standard
documentation is

available and used by
some departments.

Change control policy
implemented across

the board for all
contract changes and

variations.

Standard
documentation is

available and used in
all circumstances

across all departments.

All contract changes
and variations

processed through
change control stored

on the contracts
register.

Details shared online
with contract

managers, owners and
contractors.

Details of all contract
changes and variations

used for calculating
impacts on budgets

and assessing
contractor

risk/performance.

Cost/time overruns
reported to service

heads and Leadership
Team.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 30 of 74

Page 121



Supplier financial distress (draft)

Description: The extent to which suppliers in financial distress are identified and
managed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Recognition of need for
early engagement with
suppliers in financial

difficulties.

Structured approach to
early engagement of
suppliers in financial

difficulties.

Ad hoc inclusion of
supplier financial
distress clause in

contracts.

Standard supplier
financial distress

clause included in all
major contracts for

services.

Implementing
advanced approach to

supplier financial
distress extending
beyond contract

clauses.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 31 of 74

Page 122



Savings and benefits delivery (draft)

Description: The extent to which savings and other benefits are identified and delivered through the life of a
contract.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Savings and benefits

are delivered from
some contracts but not

a part of any formal
process.

A formal policy is in
place for capturing

savings and accruing
benefits from contracts

but is not uniformly
implemented.

Savings capture from
contracts and benefits

realisation applied
uniformly across the

organisation and
reported to chief officer

level.

All contracts regularly
reviewed to monitor

actual versus planned
spend.

Opportunities for
savings from

specification and
performance reviews
are assessed on an

ongoing basis.

All benefits/savings
claimed in agreed

business cases and/or
promised by

contractors are
managed and accrued

to the organisation.

A proactive system is
in place in partnership

with contractors to
review all contracts for
potential savings, cost
reductions and benefits

realisation.

Contractors work with
the organisation on an

ongoing basis to
reduce costs and
eliminate potential

waste.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 32 of 74

Page 123



Recognition/cultural acceptance (draft)

Description: The extent to which the value of contract and relationship management is recognised and embedded in the
management culture.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
There is no recognition
by the organisation of

contract and
relationship

management.

Only job roles which
are 100% designated
to managing contracts

are designated as
contract manager in

their title.

There is recognition by
the organisation of

Contract and
Relationship

management in some
departments.

Job roles are
designated as contract

manager and/or
contain specific

contract and
management activity in

their content
description in some

departments.

Contract and
Relationship

Management is
recognised by the

organisation as being
essential to its overall

performance.

Job roles are
designated as contract

and relationship
manager and/or

contain contract and
relationship

management activity in
their content

description as a formal
policy.

Performance is
reviewed with job

holders in their annual
appraisals.

Regular briefings and
meetings are held to

brief all staff involved in
contract and
relationship

management on
commercial,

developments, new
initiatives and
professional

development.

The organisation is a
sector exemplar with

contract and
relationship

management firmly
rooted in the

management culture
and is able to advise

other organisations on
how to achieve a

similar transformation.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 33 of 74

Page 124



C&RM skills and knowledge (draft)

Description: The extent to which officers are trained in contract and relationship management and encouraged to enhance their
professional skills.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Staff have limited

access to any contract
and relationship

management skills and
knowledge

programmes.

Staff have access to
general contract

management training
given as a one-off

exercise rather than an
ongoing skills
enhancement
programme.

Contract and
Relationship

Management is
acknowledged as a
core competency

across the
organisation.

Briefings on Contract
and Relationship

Management are given
in all induction and

management
programmes.

Refresher programmes
are available to all staff

involved in contract
and relationship
management.

Contract and
Relationship

Management is
acknowledged as a
core competency

across the
organisation.

Staff are invited to
undergo advanced/
specialist training
where contract

management accounts
for more than 20 per
cent of their job role.

Contract and
relationship

management is
recognised as a

profession where staff
are encouraged and

supported to advance
their skills in the

subject and/or acquire
professional

qualifications.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 34 of 74

Page 125



Managing strategic risk (draft)

Managing strategic risk refers to the impact by an external event, passing of a statute or illegal activity upon business as usual,
reputation and/or financial health of the organisation.

What it is: A series of actions and policies designed to reduce or even eliminate the probability of a perceived risk occurring and
minimising the detrimental effects that may occur should it materialise.

Why it is important: The occurrence of any risk, particularly when it could be foreseen, can have a devastating impact on the
organisation’s reputation and the lives of the people it serves, the quality of the services that it provides, and even its financial
viability.

Page 35 of 74

Page 126



Fraud and financial loss (draft)

Description: The extent to which financial loss opportunities are identified and
removed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation does

not see this as a
priority/ is not aware,

beyond statutory
compliance.

Basic systems, controls
and reporting in place
to ensure compliance
and minimise potential
for financial loss from

both internal and
external sources.

Systems in place to
target both financial
loss and fraud with a
proactive approach to

issues such as
irregular transactions,
duplicate payments,

and fake
creditors/invoices.

Well defined systems
in place targeting both

financial loss and
fraud.

Active deployment and
use of analytical

software.

Audit teams working
closely with all

departments to make
this a priority.

All internal systems
covered and supported
by analytical software.

Fraud detection checks
throughout supply

chain.

Potential collusion in
contracts and market

distortion actively
investigated.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 36 of 74

Page 127



Supply chain and contractor failure (draft)

Description: The extent to which supply chain failure risks are identified and
managed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation does

not see this as a
priority/ is not aware,

and will react to events.

Aware of the risks and
issues involved and
attempting to identify
where this may occur.

Expenditure
categories/ contracts

where this might occur
identified.

A suitable policy
developed and risk

register with mitigating
actions in place.

Effective policies
implemented in

collaboration with
relevant contractors.

Full picture of all high
risk suppliers and

contractors with supply
chain vulnerabilities

identified.

Active management of,
and reporting against,
high risk suppliers and

their supply chains.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 37 of 74

Page 128



Modern slavery (Legislation) (draft)

Description: The extent to which modern slavery legislation is understood and embedded within the commercial
process.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation does

not see this as a
priority/ is not aware of

its obligations and
duties.

Aware of the legislation
and how it might

manifest itself in supply
chains.

Expenditure
categories/ contracts

with potential for
modern slavery

identified.

Basic checks made
with appropriate

contractors.

All contracts where
modern slavery might

occur are known.

Agreed reporting
measures and

compliance checks
agreed and

implemented by
appropriate
contractors.

All appropriate
contractors and their

supply chains are
known with risk of
occurrence fully

managed.

Assisting other
organisations to

advance.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 38 of 74

Page 129



GDPR (Legislation) (draft)

Description: The extent to which GDPR legislation is understood and embedded within the commercial
process.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation does

not see this as a
priority/ is not aware,

beyond statutory
compliance.

Aware of legislation
and taking steps to
ensure compliance.

Actively identifying and
reviewing contracts
where data issues

could occur.

Pre-defined policy and
process in place to
identify contracts

where data issues will
occur reflected in

standard Terms and
Conditions.

Good engagement with
contractors.

Full understanding and
visibility of all existing
and planned contracts

where data issues
exist.

Contractors fully
engaged and
contributing to

compliance and
transparency.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 39 of 74

Page 130



External events (e.g. Brexit) (draft)

Description: The extent to which contingency plans are put in place for high risk external
events.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No consideration given

to the impact of
external events on the

functioning of the
organisation.

Keeping abreast with
central government
briefings and taking

appropriate action, as
and when required.

Monitoring the high
value/risk contracts.

Gaining visibility and
understanding of

vulnerabilities in supply
chains and labour

availability.

Thorough
understanding of the
possible impact on all

high value/risk
contracts.

Contingency plans in
place in the event of

contract failure.

Contingency plans in
place for all high value/

risk projects.

Back-up suppliers
identified.

Fully engaged in
discussions on how
best to exploit the

opportunities
presented by the post-

Brexit landscape.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 40 of 74

Page 131



Obtaining social value (draft)

Social value refers to wider financial and non-financial impacts of programmes, organisations and interventions, including the
wellbeing of individuals and communities, social capital and the environment. From a business perspective, it may be summarised
as the net social and environmental benefits (and value) generated by an organisation to society through its corporate and
community activities reported either as financial or non-financial (or both) performance.

What it is: Social value is about improving economic, social and environmental wellbeing from public sector contracts over and
above the delivery of the services directly required at no extra cost.

Why it is important: Experience from procurements let by Councils that have fully included social value requirements has shown
that a minimum +20 per cent social value ‘additionality’ can be obtained on contract value by way of direct community benefits.

Page 41 of 74

Page 132



Policy and scope (social value) (draft)

Description: The extent to which the requirements of the Social Value Act are embedded into corporate
policy.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Complies with the Act
by considering social
value but not taking

any action to
implement.

No specific policy in
place. Only complies

with the Act (i.e.
services above EU

procurement
threshold).

A process and policy is
in place to identify

which contracts should
include social value.

Justification provided
for a relevant,

proportional and
considered threshold

over which social value
should be included.

Social value
requirements applied to

supplies, works and
services above AND

below OJEU
thresholds.

Requirements are
tailored to reflect size
and scope of contract.

Social value embedded
into all procurement

routes where
appropriate.

Social value
requirements applied to

grants, supplies,
works, services AND

planning.

Innovators encourage
other work through

outside contracts, e.g.
through time banks,
charter accredited

organisations.

Specific policies in
place on stakeholder

involvement, materiality
assessment and

valuation. Policies
include coverage of the

Living Wage, ethical
procurement and

visibility of supply chain
adoption.

Policies are consistent
with the policy criteria
as set out by level one

of the Social Value
Certificate.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 42 of 74

Page 133



Social value internal management (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value awareness is embedded across all management
levels.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Not considered

important.
No senior officer given

a direct reporting
responsibility for social

value.

Councillor or cabinet
board/authority
member given

responsibility for
reporting leading on

social value.

Individual named
officer(s) given

responsibility for
reporting to board/
member councillor,

managing and
delivering social value
across procurement
and commissioning.

Relevant officers are
provided with social
value training and

resources to implement
social value strategy.

Expectation that all
officers take

responsibility for
managing and

delivering social value.

Social value used as a
KPI or as part of a

balanced scorecard to
assess progress at
relevant cabinet or
scrutiny committee

meetings.

Expectation that all
officers take

responsibility for
managing and

delivering social value,
with individual named
officer responsible for

maintaining the
organisation’s

approach.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 43 of 74

Page 134



Social value TOMs (themes, outcomes and measures) (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value TOMs are, reported and
used.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No measurement

undertaken.
Measuring some

limited form of social
value, e.g. SME spend.

Measure social value
in non-financial terms

against national TOMs.

Golden thread
maintained between
national TOMs, the

corporate strategy and
the social value policy.

National TOMs
available on website, to
all suppliers as a part
of social value policy.

Measure social value
in BOTH non-financial
AND financial terms

against outcomes and
themes.

Local TOMs (including
values) updated on an

annual basis with
evidence and

methodology to
support.

Outcomes weighted
systematically to
council and local

priorities (i.e. targeting).

Measure social value
in BOTH non-financial
AND financial terms

against outcomes and
themes.

Financial weightings
adjusted according to
stakeholder feedback.

Processes in place to
allow local TOMs to be
updated according to

local community
priorities.

Other stakeholders and
public sector bodies

consulted in
development of local

TOMs including health,
education and

emergency services.

Suppliers are asked to
achieve, or be working
towards, Social Value
Certificate Levels 2 or

3 or equivalent.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 44 of 74

Page 135



Commissioning for social value (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value requirements are embedded in the commissioning
process.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No attention given to
commissioning for

social value, above and
beyond the Act.

Some attention given in
larger contracts to
commissioning for

social value.

Needs assessment
used to update

approach to project
commission.

Key projects re-
commissioned with

social value creation at
their core.

Social value threaded
through commissioning
cycle, procurement are

involved throughout.

All new contracts
assessed before

procurement for their
potential contribution to
social value objectives.

TOMs adjusted to
against overall social

value delivery strategy.

For user department
led projects, social
value is embedded

within guidance,
resources, and

templates.

Outcomes approach
taken to commissioning

of all services with
cross departmental

collaboration including
with planning.

Regular feedback
between

Commissioning and
Procurement teams to

ensure local TOMs
remain ‘live’ and

relevant.

Social value mapped to
location of delivery and
measured as a part of
the evaluation criteria.

Outcomes updated
systematically to build

on stakeholder
feedback.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 45 of 74

Page 136



Procurement (social value) (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value requirements are embedded in the procurement
process

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Social value not

considered to provide
any value to
organisation.

Social value is
mentioned in tenders

(where relevant)
relating to services but

no weightings or
specific score

allocated.

Tenderers asked for
social value

commitments to
improve the economic,

social and
environmental

wellbeing of the
relevant area.

Social value
requirements included
in all relevant tenders

as a part of quality
score.

SV weighting as a part
of quality score 5-10

per cent.

Social value
requirements included
in all tenders (contracts

and frameworks).

A specific scoring and
weighting system in

place of at least 5 per
cent of the total score.

Relevant ‘Gateways
and Checks’ in place to
ensure consistency in

tenders.

Processes in place to
ensure lessons learnt

and feedback
incorporated for

continuous practice
improvement including

policy and toolkit
development.

Specific social value
commitments sought

from tenders that have
been open/transparent

to the public and
adapted to take

account of residents’
input.

Weighting system in
place of at least 10 per

cent of total score
unless a robust

rationale for lesser
percentage exists.

Processes in place
across departments to
ensure consistency.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 46 of 74

Page 137



Social value market engagement (draft)

Description: The extent to which obtaining social value is part of market engagement and third party
relationships.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No engagement

undertaken.
Initial but ad hoc steps

taken in market
engagement around

social value.

Some information is
made available to

suppliers to support
their understanding of

social value.

Initiatives taken to build
capacity and shape

market with business
community and the

community and
voluntary sector

providers.

Project specific market
engagement

offered/delivered as
relevant and
appropriate.

Works proactively with
suppliers to support

their understanding of
social value.

Regular ‘supplier
summits’ held to build
capacity AND to get

feedback.

Case studies and
examples of innovation

provided to illustrate
the different

levels/actions.

A market development
plan forms part of the
policy underpinning

commissioning
development and

action plan.

A specific focus on
upskilling of local

micro, small, medium
sized enterprises,

business and VCSE
organisations.

Specific initiatives
taken to begin to build

partnerships with
business and the
community and

voluntary sector, such
as time brokerage and

banking.

Promotion of B2B and
B2Three relationships

(for larger suppliers
and long-term
frameworks).

Feedback mechanisms
are ongoing, including

an annual provider
satisfaction survey.

A cross sector advisory
group meets regularly
to provide feedback.

Regular forums for
social value networking

and engagement.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 47 of 74

Page 138



Social value contract management (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value requirements in contracts are
managed.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Social value not sought

from contracts.
Contracts not

monitored in any
coherent way for social

value afterwards.

Specific, targeted
social value action

plans agreed at
commissioning/

procurement stage and
are bound into the

contract and
performance
monitored.

Performance reviews
and regular feedback
and action taken to
ensure continuous

improvements to social
value implementation

and delivery.

Processes in place to
ensure lessons are
learnt and feedback

incorporated for
continuous practice

improvement, including
benchmarking and

case law.

Meetings regularly held
with contractors to
discuss delivery of

social value.

Benchmarking across
all contracts shared

with other Councils to
establish best practice.

Suppliers provided with
quarterly feedback on

progress.

Clauses built into
contracts to apply

service credits or to
recover costs of

replacement in the
event of non-delivery of
social value promised.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 48 of 74

Page 139



Cross sector collaboration (draft)

Description: The extent to which obtaining social value is embedded in a wider collaborative
environment.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Social value not

considered important.
Limited collaboration

through joint
occasional contract

with other public sector
bodies held regarding

social value.

Relevant public bodies
identified such as

Health, Education and
Emergency Services –
preliminary discussions

held.

Unofficial sharing of
data with ad hoc joint

procurement/
commissioning.

Cross sector
committee formed to
develop and manage
the delivery of joined

up social value policies
and shared TOMs.

Regular meetings and
feedback sessions

held.

Shared implementation
plan.

Common set of TOMs
created which all public
sector bodies in region/

area use as a part of
their commissioning/

procurement and
reporting.

Regular cross sector
meetings held to share

feedback and
benchmarking.

Opportunities explored
for shared

commissioning and
procurement.

Cost savings identified
and results shared to
help build financial

benefits.

Common reporting.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 49 of 74

Page 140



Reporting social value (draft)

Description: The extent to which progress in obtaining social value is communicated and
reported.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Social value not

considered important.
Limited or informal

social value reporting
and feedback only.

Annual feedback to
cabinet/scrutiny

committee on social
value creation.

Robust reporting in
place on progress and
delivery and published

annually.

Regular feedback to
cabinet/scrutiny

committee on social
value.

Annual reporting
includes benchmarking
and progress against

targets.

Regular feedback to
citizens on value

creation against targets
including local
performance.

Innovative ways of
communication

employed to ensure
citizen feedback,

including provision of
data to location and

digital communication.

Evidence published
setting out impact

where social value has
made a difference
along with relevant

case studies.

Suppliers are asked to
produce Assured
Impact reports.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 50 of 74

Page 141



Social value governance (draft)

Description: The extent to which social value is embedded and managed in the commissioning and procurement
process.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No visibility of issue at

authority meetings.
Council/authority has
met the requirements
of the Act to ‘consider’
social value and this is

minuted.

Social Value Act
mentioned in corporate

strategy.

Social value
recognised as a core
principle supported by

a published social
value policy and
implementation

strategy.

All relevant
documentation made
available on web site.

Cabinet member has
direct oversight of

social value
performance.

Social value has been
embedded into

commissioning and
procurement practice,
tools, resources and

processes with a
ratified policy and

toolkit that are
published.

Social value
implementation is
underpinned by an
overarching action

plan.

Social value is
measured and reported

on regularly.

Cabinet level scrutiny
of performance with
regular reporting as

appropriate.

Council/authority has
set SMART targets and

is prepared to be
accountable for these

targets.

For larger councils,
targets are set for each

department and
reported against

annually.

A cross sector social
value advisory group is

in place providing
oversight, scrutiny and

challenge.

Third party verification
is provided on reported

social value content
(e.g. independent

assurance).

Comment

(no comment)

Page 51 of 74

Page 142



Local SME and micro-business engagement (draft)

The usual definition of SMEs used in the public sector is any business with fewer than 250 employees and turnover of less than
£50 million. There were 5.2 million SMEs in the UK in 2014, which was over 99 per cent of all business. Micro-businesses are
business with 0-9 employees and turnover of under £2 million. For the purposes of this document the term ‘SME’ shall refer to both
SME and micro-businesses.

What it is: SMEs are non-subsidiary, independent firms.

Why it is important: SMEs play a major role in creating jobs and generating income for those on low incomes; they help foster
economic growth, social stability, are a source of innovation and contribute to the development of a dynamic private sector. With the
potential localisation of business rates, it will be even more important for local authorities to encourage the establishment and
growth of SMEs in their areas.

Page 52 of 74

Page 143



Policy and scope (SMEs) (draft)

Description: The extent to which small business engagement is included in commissioning and procurement
policies.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
There is no ongoing
communication with

SMEs regarding local
needs, long-term

strategies and desired
outcomes. SMEs are

unaware of their role in
responding to such

needs.

Services are
commissioned without

thought about
engagement of SMEs

in the local area.

Commissioners have
started to communicate

what local needs are
and the desired market

outcomes.

No policy or strategy in
place for addressing

SMEs.

Commissioners have
informed SMEs what
local needs there are

and the desired market
outcomes.

SMEs are encouraged
to collaborate with

larger organisations to
respond to local need.

Commissioners
engage regularly with

SMEs, both on an
individual basis and

collectively to achieve
desired market

outcomes.

Support is provided to
SMEs to understand

how to respond to
Council requirements.

Full policy or strategy
in place to direct the

organisation’s
engagement with

SMEs.

Commissioners have
clearly set out how

SMEs should deliver,
and to what standards.

SMEs can collaborate
with other

organisations to
effectively respond to
local needs, and meet

desired outcomes.

Commissioners work
with Economic

Development and
Procurement

colleagues and have
established how SMEs
can be engaged both
directly and through
first tier suppliers.

A senior responsible
officer has oversight for

SME strategy/policy
delivery.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 53 of 74

Page 144



SME relationships (draft)

Description: The extent of communications with small business are communicated
with.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Fostering good

relationships with
SMEs not deemed to

be important.

Relationships between
SMEs and other
providers are not
facilitated. It is not

considered to be an
area where intervention

is needed or
appropriate.

As a result of this,
there is an absence of

consortia and
networking in the

locality.

There is
acknowledgment for

the convening role that
commissioners can
have and what the
benefit of facilitated

relationships between
SMEs and other

providers could bring.
They have started to
make some efforts to
bring these parties

together.

There is responsive
willingness to facilitate
relationships between

SMEs and certain
larger providers. Some
of the benefits of this
are being realised.

As a result of this,
SMEs have formed

some partnerships with
larger providers.

Commissioners
proactively facilitate,

and nurture,
relationships between

SMEs and a broad
range of providers.

In turn, SMEs created
their own networks,
and consortia with

other providers.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 54 of 74

Page 145



Commissioning with SMEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which commissioning opportunities are extended to small businesses and developed for mutual
benefit.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
There is no or little

knowledge of the local
expertise that SMEs
can bring to public

services. SMEs are not
integrated into the

wider service provision.

There is no SME
engagement

throughout the
commissioning

process. There are no
established

communication
channels or designated
engagement events for

SMEs.

There is no partnership
working or ongoing

relationships.

There is some
knowledge of how

SMEs’ local expertise
can add value and

attempts are made to
integrate them into the
wider service provision.

A limited number of
‘usual suspects’ SMEs
are invited to contribute
to the commissioning
process. There are

some general
engagement events
and communication

channels that they can
feed into but response

is low/knowledge of
them is limited.

There is interest in
SME partnership

working but no lasting
relationship has been

established.

There is good
knowledge of how

SMEs’ local expertise
can add value and

attempts are made to
integrate them into the
wider service provision.

SME representatives
are invited to contribute
to the commissioning
process. There are

some general
engagement events
and communication

channels.

There is interest in
SME partnership

working.

There is strong
knowledge of the value

SMEs bring in
providing niche,

localised services and
actively integrate them

into their service
provision.

A wide variety of
relevant SMEs are

proactively invited to
contribute to the
commissioning

process. There are
some designated
voluntary sector

engagement events
and specified

communication
channels.

Efforts are made to
establish continuous
partnership working

with SME
organisations.

SMEs’ ability to provide
niche, localised and

innovative services is
being celebrated and
drawn upon routinely.

Their broad community
outreach is actively

integrated into service
provision.

SMEs have regular and
significant opportunities

to feed into public
service design through
a host of designated
market engagement

events and
communication

channels.

Relationships with
SME organisations are
strong and optimal for
partnership working.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 55 of 74

Page 146



Market engagement with SMEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which small businesses are encouraged and supported to engage in delivering public
services.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
SMEs are not seen as
important and there is
no attempt to engage

with them.

There is knowledge of
the SME landscape
and the value they

could bring to public
services but this is

unevenly distributed
across Council
departments.

There is no particular
point of contact for
SMEs. They are

assumed to understand
the commissioning
process and how to

participate.

Communication
materials rely on

jargon and no
dedicated support

exists to make
processes more

accessible to SMEs.

SMEs are seen as part
of a diverse supply

chain but they are not
seen as a provider with

a particularly unique
value.

Efforts are made to
establish a lead contact
for SMEs with the view
to upskilling SMEs to

participate in
procurement.

There is awareness of
SMEs’ need for support
to effectively contribute
to the commissioning
process. Efforts are

made to clarify jargon
and facilitate SMEs’

input and participation
but SMEs are often
unable to effectively

feed in.

Good understanding of
the local SME

landscape and their
value exists.

There is a lead
commissioning contact

who takes some
responsibility for

facilitating SMEs’ input
into the commissioning

process.

A conscious effort is
made to clarify
language and

procedures related to
the commissioning
process. SMEs are

fully aware of ways to
feed in.

There is strong
understanding of the
SME sector and the
social and financial

value they bring to the
local area.

There is a designated
contact who proactively
facilitates SMEs’ input
into the commissioning

process.

A variety of support is
available to help SMEs
understand the ways in

which they can
contribute to design or
apply to deliver public

services. Clear
language is used,

without jargon.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 56 of 74

Page 147



Procurement with SMEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which procurement processes engage and build relationships with small
businesses.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
There is little to no

understanding of the
capacity and capability

of SMEs, and
processes and

procedures are not
adapted to their
capability. This

excludes SMEs from
commissioning and

procurement
processes.

There is a prescriptive
procedure for all

procurement exercises
and little awareness of

how SMEs might
engage.

There is engagement
with a limited number

of SMEs ahead of
notices of tenders
being published.

However, there is little
or no understanding of

the capacity or
capability of SMEs and

processes are not
adapted to their needs.

Dynamic purchasing
systems (DPS) used by

certain areas of the
Council.

There is engagement
with SMEs ahead of
publishing a notice of

tender.

There is an attempt to
better understand the

capacity and capability
of SMEs and adapt

procurement processes
to reflect this.

DPSs used regularly to
go to market and
enable SMEs to
provide services.

Lotting used
proactively to ensure

contracts are available
to SMEs.

Processes have been
adapted to ensure that

SMEs are fully
engaged from the

outset.

There is proactive
engagement with

SMEs and relevant
infrastructure bodies
ahead of publishing a
notice to tender. This
gives SMEs sufficient

time to galvanise
resources to put

together a bid and
shape the service.

There is good
understanding of the

capacity and capability
of SMEs. Where
appropriate, after
evaluating service
specifications and

contract sizes,
processes are adapted
to reflect this capability.

Procurement
procedures are flexible
according to the size of
contract and supplier
market. Prescriptive
measures are only

used when necessary
according to law or

regulations. SMEs are
fully able to respond to

the process.

SMEs have had the
opportunity to

contribute to the
service specification
ahead of a notice to

tender being published
via a variety of
communication

channels. SMEs have
had a significant
amount of time to

galvanise resources to
put together a bid and

shape the service.

Commissioners and
procurers have a

strong understanding of
the capacity and

capability of SMEs and
adapt their processes,
when appropriate to

the service
specification and

contract size, to reflect
this capability.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 57 of 74

Page 148



Contract management with SMEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which the requirements of small businesses are reflected in ongoing contract
management.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Contract management

is generally poorly
undertaken in the

council and no
consideration of SMEs

given.

Some parts of the
Council manage

contracts with SMEs
but this is not

consistent.

Contract management
only relates to the

prime contractor. There
is no particular

expectation on how
subcontracting

relationships with
smaller SMEs should

be conducted.

Contract management
processes assess how
prime contractors have
engaged with SMEs in

their supply chains.

Contracts with SMEs
are monitored, and
regular feedback

provided.

Prime contractor
payments terms in
supply chains are

monitored to ensure
compliance.

Contract management
processes encourage
proactive engagement

with SMEs in prime
contractor supply

chains.

Regular meetings
occur with SMEs that
have council contracts

where they are
provided with feedback

to enable them to
improve and apply for

other work.

Whistleblowing
procedures in place to
enable SMEs in supply
chains to highlight poor

treatment by prime
contractors.

Full monitoring of prime
contractor supply

chains.

Contract management
processes require full

monitoring of the
performance of prime
contractors to ensure
they fairly treat SMEs
in their supply chains
(e.g. through prompt

payments, not passing
on risks) and obtain
SME organisations’

views when evaluating
prime providers’

contract performance.

Assistance given to
SMEs in supply chains

to improve their
performance and apply

for other work.

SMEs that have council
contracts are given

proactive assistance
with issues that they

may have and to
enable them to grow.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 58 of 74

Page 149



Governance of SME engagement (draft)

Description: The extent to which the engagement of small businesses is monitored and
reported.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No reporting on SME
engagement takes

place.

Some analysis of SME
spend is captured but
no actions are taken

based on the
information gathered.

SME spend is captured
and analysed to
determine how

engagement might be
improved. A principal
officer has been given

responsibility for
improving engagement.

Targets are set for
expenditure on SMEs

and these are
monitored and reported

on at Officer level
boards.

Performance on
engagement with

SMEs by the council is
reported to scrutiny

committee on a regular
basis.

Prime contractors
required to provide

data on payment times
to SMEs in supply

chains and this
information is reported

to members.

A balanced scorecard
is used to assess the
council’s use of SMEs

and treatment in supply
chains.

Use of SMEs is fully
monitored and

measured with an
analysis by SME type
and expenditure by

ward.

A portfolio holder has
been appointed to lead
on SME engagement

and meets with
representatives on a

regular basis.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 59 of 74

Page 150



Engaging VCSEs (voluntary, community and social
enterprises) (draft)

VCSE refers to organisations that include small local community and voluntary groups, registered charities both large and small,
foundations, trusts and a growing number of social enterprises and cooperatives. These are often also referred to as third sector
organisations or civil society organisations.

What it is: The VCSE sector is diverse in size, scope, staffing and funding of organisations. It provides a broad range of services to
many different client groups. However, VCSE sector organisations share common characteristics in the social, environmental or
cultural objectives they pursue, their independence from government, and the reinvestment of surpluses for those objectives.

Why it is important: VCSE organisations can play a critical and integral role in health and social care including as providers of
services; advocates; and representing the voice of service users, patients and carers.

Page 60 of 74

Page 151



Policy and scope (VCSEs) (draft)

Description: The extent to which VSCE engagement is included in commissioning and procurement
policies.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation has
no policy in place for
VCSE engagement

and does not see any
benefit from doing so.

There is no ongoing
communication with
the market regarding
the local need, long-
term strategies and
desired outcomes.
Small VCSEs are

unaware of their role in
responding to such

needs.

Services are
commissioned to

address current needs
and have little or no
focus on prevention
and long-term needs

of the community.
VCSEs are not invited

to inform service
provision.

Commissioners/
procurers have started
to communicate to the
market what the local

need is, and the
desired market

outcomes. However,
small VCSEs remain

unaware of their place
in the market.

Short-term needs are
a priority but there is

some effort to bring in
the community via

small VCSEs to
consider long-term and

preventative needs.

Commissioners/procurers
have informed the market

what the local need is
and the desired market

outcomes. Small VCSEs
can make efforts to

collaborate with
organisations to respond

to local need.

There is a good balance
between addressing

short-term needs and
working with small

VCSEs to establish the
long-term priorities and

needs of the community.

Commissioners/
procurers have clearly
set out how the market
should deliver, and to
what standards. Small

VCSEs can
collaborate with other

organisations to
effectively respond to
local needs, and meet

desired outcomes.

Services incorporate
VCSE expertise on

prevention and long-
term needs while also

providing relevant
crisis services.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 61 of 74

Page 152



VCSE relationships (draft)

Description: The extent of communication with
VCSEs.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
The organisation does

not see any benefit
from engaging with

VCSE organisations.

Relationships between
small VCSEs and

other providers are not
facilitated. It is not

considered to be an
area where

intervention is needed
or appropriate.

As a result of this,
there is an absence of

consortia and
networking in their

locality.

There is some
acknowledgment for the

convening role that
commissioners/procurers
can have and what the

benefit of facilitated
relationships between

small VCSEs and other
providers could bring.

They have started to
make some efforts to
bring these parties

together. VCSE
‘umbrella’ organisations

are used as a go-
between where they

exist.

There is responsive
willingness to facilitate
relationships between

small VCSEs and
certain larger

providers. Some of the
benefits of this are

being realised. As a
result of this, Small

VCSEs have formed
some partnerships with

larger providers via
VCSE umbrella

organisations where
they exist.

Commissioners/
procurers proactively
facilitate, and nurture,
relationships between
small VCSEs and a

broad range of
providers via local

umbrella organisations
where they exist. In
turn, small VCSEs
created their own

networks, and
consortia with other

providers.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 62 of 74

Page 153



VCSE engagement measurement (draft)

Description: The extent to which VCSE engagement is measured and
reported.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No measurement of

VCSE usage or
impact not seen as

important.

There is no or little
time given to the

strategic evaluation
and impact

measurement of
services. The

perspective of small
VCSEs and users is

not sought.

Commissioners have
recognised the value
in employing small

VCSEs to reach users,
where they could seek

insightful service
feedback, but have yet
to engage them in the

process.

Commissioners/procurers
often ask small VCSEs to

aid them in the user
feedback process,
recognising their

expertise in this area.

Commissioners/
procurers work closely
with small VCSEs to
seek extensive user
feedback in order to

review the
effectiveness of their
service in meeting

local need.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 63 of 74

Page 154



Commissioning with VCSEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which commissioning opportunities are extended to VCSEs and developed for mutual
benefit.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
There is no knowledge
of VCSE organisations
in the local area, nor

their capabilities.

There is no or little
knowledge of the local

expertise that small
VCSEs can bring to
public services and
their ability to reach
more marginalised

parts of the community.
Small VCSEs are not

integrated into the
wider service provision.

There is no, or minimal,
VCSE engagement

throughout the
commissioning

process. There are no
established

communication
channels or designated
engagement events for

small VCSEs.

There is no partnership
working or ongoing

relationships.

There is some
knowledge of how

VCSEs’ local expertise
and community

outreach can add value
and attempts are made
to integrate them into

the wider service
provision.

A limited number of
‘usual suspects’ small
VCSEs are invited to

contribute to the
commissioning

process. There are
some general

engagement events
and communication

channels that they can
feed into but response
is low/ knowledge of

them is limited.

There is interest in
VCSE partnership

working but no lasting
relationship has been

established.

There is strong
knowledge of the value
small VCSEs bring in

providing niche,
localised services; they
often draw upon their

broad community
outreach and actively

integrate them into
their service provision.

A variety of relevant
small VCSEs are

proactively invited to
contribute to co- design
in the commissioning
process. There are

designated voluntary
sector engagement
events and specified

communication
channels.

Efforts are made to
establish continuous
partnership working

with VCSE
organisations.

VCSE’s ability to
provide niche, localised

services is being
celebrated and drawn
upon routinely. Their

broad community
outreach is actively

integrated into service
provision.

Small VCSEs have
regular and significant
opportunities to feed

into public service
design through a host
of designated market
engagement events
and communication

channels.

Relationships with
VCSE organisations

are strong and optimal
for partnership working.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 64 of 74

Page 155



VCSE market engagement (draft)

Description: The extent to which VCSEs are encouraged and supported to engage in delivering public
services.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No engagement takes

place between the
council and VCSE

organisations.

There is little
knowledge of the small
VCSE landscape and
the value they could

bring to public
services.

There is no particular
point of contact for

small VCSEs. They are
assumed to understand

the commissioning
process and how to

participate.

Communication
materials rely on

jargon and no
dedicated support

exists to make
processes more

accessible to small
VCSEs.

Small VCSEs are seen
as part of a diverse

supply chain but they
are not seen as a

provider with a
particularly unique

value.

Efforts are made to
establish a lead contact
for small VCSEs with
the view to upskilling

VCSEs to participate in
procurement.

There is some
awareness of small

VCSEs’ need for
support to effectively

contribute to the
commissioning

process. Some efforts
are made to clarify
jargon and facilitate
charities’ input and

participation but
charities are often

unable to effectively
feed in.

Good understanding of
the local small VCSE
landscape and their

value exists.

There is a lead
commissioning contact

who takes some
responsibility for
facilitating small

VCSEs’ input into the
commissioning

process.

A conscious effort is
made to clarify
language and

procedures related to
the commissioning

process. Charities are
aware of ways to feed

in.

There is strong
understanding of the
local voluntary sector

and the social and
financial value they

bring.

There is a designated
contact who proactively

facilitates small
VCSEs’ input into the

commissioning
process.

A variety of support is
available to help small
VCSEs understand the
ways in which they can
contribute to design or
apply to deliver public

services. Clear
language is used,

without jargon.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 65 of 74

Page 156



Procurement with VCSEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which procurement processes engage and build relationships with
VCSEs.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
VCSE organisations

are not taken into
account at any time in

procurement
processes.

There is a prescriptive
procedure for all

procurement exercises
and little use of

Dynamic Purchasing
Systems (DPS) or
flexibilities possible

under the ‘light touch’
regime.

There is little to no prior
engagement

specifically aimed at
small VCSEs ahead of

notices of tenders
being published. This is
a major barrier in their
ability to create a bid in

time.

There is little to no
understanding of the

capacity and capability
of small VCSEs and
processes are not
adapted to their
capability. This

excludes small VCSEs
from the

commissioning
process.

There is some
consideration of

whether a prescriptive
procedure is needed

for procurement
exercises, the light
touch regime and
DPSs are used

wherever appropriate.

There is some prior
engagement with a

limited amount of small
VCSEs ahead of

publishing a notice of
tender. However, small

VCSEs often remain
unable respond in time.

There is an attempt to
better understand the

capacity and capability
of small VCSEs, and
adapt procurement
processes to reflect

this. However, this has
not yet enabled small

VCSEs to better
participate in the
commissioning

process.

The Light Touch
Regime and the use of

DPSs are taken
advantage of in the
majority of cases.

There are attempts to
adapt processes to
ensure that small
VCSEs are fully

engaged.

There is proactive
engagement with small

VCSEs and relevant
infrastructure bodies
ahead of publishing a
notice to tender. This
gives small VCSEs

sufficient time to
galvanise resources to
put together a bid and

shape the service.

There is some
understanding of the

capacity and capability
of small VCSEs. In
certain cases, after
evaluating service
specifications and

contract sizes,
processes are adapted
to reflect this capability.

Procurement
procedures are flexible
according to the size of
contract and supplier
market. Prescriptive
measures are only

used when necessary
according to law or
regulations. Small

VCSEs are fully able to
respond to the process.

Small VCSEs have had
the opportunity to
contribute to the

service specification
ahead of a notice to

tender being published
via a variety of
communication
channels. Small

VCSEs have had a
significant amount of

time to galvanise
resources to put

together a bid and
shape the service.

Commissioners/
procurers have a

strong understanding of
the capacity and

capability of small
VCSEs and adapt their

processes, when
appropriate, to the

service specification
and contract size, to
reflect this capability.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 66 of 74

Page 157



Contract management with VCSEs (draft)

Description: The extent to which the requirements of VCSEs are reflected in ongoing contract
management

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Contract management

not required.
Some contract

management but this is
not consistent across

the organisation.

Contract management
structures only relate to

the prime contractor.
There is no expectation
on how subcontracting

relationships with
smaller VCSEs should

be conducted.

Contract management
structures are

beginning to consider
how prime contractors

should engage and
manage their sub

contracts with smaller
VCSEs yet to be set.

Prime contractor
relationships with

VCSE organisations in
their supply chain are

taken into
consideration when
evaluating the large
providers’ contract

performance.

Whistleblowing
procedures in place to

enable VCSEs in
supply chains to

highlight poor
treatment by prime

contractors.

Contract management
structures fully monitor

the performance of
prime contractors to

ensure they fairly treat
VCSEs in their supply
chains (e.g. through

prompt payments, not
passing on risks) and

obtain VCSE
organisations’ views

when evaluating prime
providers’ contract

performance.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 67 of 74

Page 158



Governance of VCSE engagement (draft)

Description: The extent to which the engagement of VSCEs is monitored and
reported.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
No reporting on VCSE

engagement takes
place.

Some analysis of
VCSE spend through
procurement activity is
captured but no actions
are taken based on the
information gathered.

VCSE spend through
procurement activity is
captured and analysed

to determine how
engagement might be
improved. A principal
officer has been given

responsibility for
improving engagement.

Targets are set for
expenditure on VCSEs

and these are
monitored and reported

on at officer level
boards. These include

spend on VCSE
organisations by prime

contractors.

Performance on
engagement with

VCSEs by the council
is reported to scrutiny

committee on a regular
basis.

A balanced scorecard
is used to assess a

council’s use of VCSEs
and treatment in supply

chains.

Use of VCSEs is fully
monitored and

measured with an
analysis by VCSE type

and expenditure by
ward.

A portfolio holder has
been appointed to lead
on VCSE engagement

and meets with
representatives on a

regular basis.

Prime contractors
required to provide

data on payment times
to VCSEs in supply

chains and this
information is reported

to members.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 68 of 74

Page 159



Enablers (draft)

Councils have identified a number of cross-cutting issues that will also need to be addressed if they are to realise their ambitions in
the key areas. These are referred to as ‘enablers’ of the strategy.

What it is: These ‘enablers’ are common issues that are essential to driving success with each of the strategy’s three themes.

Why it is important: Inherent weaknesses with any of the ‘enablers’ will make it difficult for a council to drive improvement with the
value codes found under each of the three themes.

Page 69 of 74

Page 160



Developing talent (draft)

Description: The extent to which staff are recruited and developed in relation to procurement and contract
management.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Recruits staff with

appropriate
experience/
professional

qualifications (e.g.
CIPS).

Recruits staff with
appropriate
experience/
professional

qualifications and
responds to ad hoc
requests for training
and development.

Service plan includes
support for staff to
obtain professional

qualifications and for
apprenticeships.

Planned approach to
talent development in

relation to future
procurement and

contract management
workload including:

• Contracts pipeline

• Resourcing plan

• Competency
framework

• Remuneration
strategy

• Comprehensive
training and

development plan
including provision for
development of staff

not currently in
procurement or

contract management
roles

• Secondments to and
from the private sector

and VCSE sector.

Planned talent
development (as for

Leader) but at
combined

authority/group of
councils level.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 70 of 74

Page 161



Exploring digital technology (draft)

Description: The extent to which digital technology is used to underpin the procurement
cycle.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Basic purchase

ordering functionality
for some products

and/or services using
finance and/ or

operational systems.

Limited procurement
and contract
management

information available
via static sources.).

Use of an integrated
Procure to Pay (P2P)
system in conjunction
with online ordering for
all services/ products.

May include some
human intervention and

paper trails.

Some procurement and
contract management
Information available

online to all
stakeholders with

appropriate search and
filtering.

Use of electronic
tendering and

quotations system for
some tenders/ quotes
(either as a dedicated
system or tender box

rental).

Use of an integrated
Procure to Pay (P2P)
system in conjunction
with online ordering for
all services/ products
fully automated and

paperless, with human
intervention being

restricted to exceptions
only.

Comprehensive
procurement and

contract management
information available

online to all
stakeholders with

appropriate search and
filtering.

Use of electronic
tendering and

quotations system for
all tenders/ quotes

(either as a dedicated
system or tender box

rental).

Access and interaction
to all of the above
possible from any
electronic mobile

device.

Access to a Procure to
Pay (P2P) system via

secure mobile
application, promoting

a self-service approach
for suppliers. (Access
should include online
viewing of payment

records/status and the
ability to auto convert
orders to invoices).

Technology used to
forward plan all

strategic acquisitions
and to underpin

sourcing and
procurement decision

making.

• Performance
monitoring and

communications
underpinned by
dashboards and

diagnostics.

Mobile applications
designed for supplier

and contractor
interactions including

future opportunity
alerts, contract
management,

contractor performance
ratings and

procurement
satisfaction levels.

Shared systems and
information with
delivery partners

(including voluntary
sector/ local

businesses) and other
councils and citizens.

Knowledge
management,

accessing paper and
electronic sources to
build comprehensive

intelligence about
contracts, markets and

trends.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 71 of 74

Page 162



Enabling innovation (draft)

Description: The extent to which innovation in procurement and contract management is recognised and
adopted.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Ability to capture and
harness procurement

innovation in
organisation non-

existent.

Innovation only
considered in a few

contracts where
technology is involved.

Outcomes based on
procurement and

market making are the
‘standard’ way of doing

things.

Innovative
procurement

approaches are not
just applied to

technology but to
established services.

Innovation in
procurement and

contract management
is mainstreamed.

Procurement
techniques such as

innovation
partnerships, pre-

commercial
procurements used

regularly.

All contracts reviewed
to identify new service
delivery and income
generation models.

Procurement
challenges and

innovative potential
solutions shared

across councils and
regions.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 72 of 74

Page 163



Embedding change (draft)

Description: The extent to which change management in procurement and contract management is used to drive wider
organisational change.

1 - Minimum 2 - Developing 3 - Mature 4 - Leader 5 - Innovator
Success depends on

individuals, no
organisational
engagement.

New approaches and
ideas applied in

isolated procurement
processes.

Procurement change
comprehensively

applied across multiple
projects and
departments.

Senior leaders
recognise the
importance of

procurement and
contract management,

and promote it as a
way of leading and

managing
organisational change.

Procurement and
contract management

are key drivers of
organisational change
and are embedded at

all levels in the
organisation. Lessons
learned shared with

other organisations at
regional and national

level.

Comment

(no comment)

Page 73 of 74

Page 164



Appendix A: Guidance
The following was given as guidance for completing this response:

About the 2018 diagnostic

This diagnostic sets contains all the value codes that were included in the toolkit accompanying the 2018 National
Procurement Strategy for English local government (NPS). For each value code, it articulates ‘what good looks like’ as a
series of clear, progressively attainable steps. It allows each council to:

Engage with colleagues with an interest in procurement outcomes to indicate their council's current position and
reduce the risks associated with mismatched expectations

Identify where purposeful improvement activities are required and manage them to a successful conclusion

You can read in detail about the strategy and this approach here.

Please use comments to:

provide examples of good practice (especially where you have selected a high score)

tell us which NPS value codes are most important to you and/or where you believe support is required

describe how the value codes set out in the Toolkit were / are being implemented

provide any other observations

How to complete the diagnostic

We have produced a full web based LMS which provides background and support information. Gain quick access on the
following topics in the LMS by clicking on the links:

How to submit a response

How to assess your organisation

How to access and download your response report

Frequently Asked Questions

Navigate the diagnostic by clicking on the grey 'tabs' above.

Within each 'tab' there are a series of statements that express the extent of current development with each value code from
the NPS Toolkit

Please read each statement and use the slider bar to select the score description that best reflects your council's
current position.  If you would like to see all scoring statements at once to help you choose your answer, click on
'Draft Report' in the top right - that report can then be accessed as a PDF to support your use of this system.  Note,
you can directly click on the slider bar to choose a score without having to first slide to it.

Scoring should be done on the basis of the weakest level of attainment in the council rather than attempting to
arrive at an average. Also, please note that if you assess your attainment level as 5, you should be prepared to act
as a case study and exemplar for weaker councils.

Your progress will be automatically saved at least every 4 minutes.

If you don't complete the Diagnostic in one session, you can save your progress by clicking "Save" (top right) – this will save
everything entered on all pages. You can save and return later by following the link from your original email and log in with
the password you selected.

To submit your scores and comments for consideration click "Save" and then "Submit".

Once you’ve submitted your final response, you can view, print and share your response report as a PDF.

Page 74 of 74

Page 165



COMMISSI
ONING & 

PROCURE
MENT 

STANDING 
ORDERS

March 2019

Page 166



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS Page
Section Heading

1 Introduction 3
2 General advice and guidance 7
3 Determining the Type of Contract and its Value 10
4 Commissioning 11
5 Quotations table for contract values up to £74,999 16
6 Obtaining Quotations 18
7 Who has the Authority to Award the Contract 20
8 Consultants 22
9 Tendering Table for contract values £75,000 & above 25

10 Guidance on Writing a Specification 27
11 Tendering Rules 33
12 Tendering exceptions 42
13 Contract management 44
14 Appendices 50

APPENDICES
1 Tender Requisition Form - template
2 Policies, Strategies & Legislation
3 European Union procurement thresholds & definitions
4 Transparency Requirements
5 Contract Terms & Conditions
6 Glossary
7 Writing a Business Case
8 Minimum Insurance Thresholds
9 Service Delivery – Options Appraisal

10 Request for Quotation - template
11 Change Control    

Page 167



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 3

SECTION ONE
INTRODUCTION 

Introduction

1 The purpose of these Standing Orders is to support the Council’s commissioning 
& procurement strategy by providing a clear governance framework for officers 
and members to work within when carrying out commissioning and procurement 
activities on behalf of the Council. 

2 The Council’s approach to commissioning & procurement follows the 
commercial cycle and is identified in diagram 1 below;

3. Definition

3.1 The process by which public bodies decide how to spend their money to 
get the best possible services for people, it involves anticipating future 
needs and expectations rather reacting to present demand.

Commissioning is the first 3 elements of the commercial cycle and involves 
identifying the service need by reviewing the ‘as is’ provision and 
consulting with stakeholders to forecast future demand, undertaking a 
commercial assessment by understanding the different markets and 
funding provisions that are available and by a carrying out a solution 
provision which involves reviewing skills and risk. 

3.2 Procurement is the tendering element of the cycle and includes

i) the specific aspects of the commissioning cycle that focus on the 
process of buying services, from initial advertising through to 
appropriate contract arrangements; 

ii) The purchase of goods, services or works by publicly funded 
bodies at the best possible total price, in the right quantity and 
quality, at the right time generally via a contract.

3.3 Contract Management refers to relationship management and includes 
managing the performance of the contract and the contractor and 
developing the relationship between the contractor and the Council to 
maximise the return on investment.

Page 168



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 4

4 These Standing Orders apply to the commissioning and procuring in all of the 
following areas, regardless whether it is funded from revenue or capital 
expenditure or from grants:

a. Supplies
b. Services
c. Works
d. Third Party Contracts (services that are income generating for the 

provider and/ or zero/low cost for the Council).
e. Grants – including strategic partners, annual grants and disabled facility 

grants etc.

5 Standing Orders do not apply to:

a. Employment contracts (e.g. the Council’s own staff)
b. Contracts relating to the purchase or sale of land (advice must always be 

sought from officers of the procurement team).
c. Appointment of legal counsel and the appointment of expert witnesses’ in

legal proceedings

Governance Framework

6 These Standing Orders have been drafted in such a way as to simplify the 
commissioning and procurement process where appropriate, and to provide 
comprehensive guidance where necessary.   

7 These Standing Orders form part of the Council’s Constitution and are required 
under Section 135 Local Government Act 1972.

8 The objective of these Standing Orders is to enable the Council to be able to 
demonstrate that it commissions and procures supplies, services and works 
contracts in a fair, efficient and economical way, using whole life costing where 
relevant and ensuring that value for money is obtained through competition.

9 These Standing Orders intend to promote good practice, transparency, equal 
treatment, proper accountability, compliance with legislation and deter 
corruption.

Compliance

10 These Standing Orders apply to every officer and member of the Council who is 
responsible for taking any steps that may lead to a contract being entered into. 
They have a duty to read, be familiar with, and fully comply with these Standing 
Orders as they set out the minimum requirements that should be followed when 
commissioning & procuring on behalf of the Council.

11. In addition, the Standing Orders also contain rules which must be followed by 
the Council and the Cabinet (including Cabinet Portfolio Holders) 

Page 169



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 5

12. Officers are responsible for ensuring that any agents or consultants acting on 
the Council’s behalf, such as architects, engineers, fully comply with the 
Standing Orders, Financial Regulations and the Public Contract Regulations 
where applicable.

13. Failure to comply with the Standing Orders is in direct contravention of the 
Council’s Constitution and is, therefore, a disciplinary offence that could be 
classed as gross misconduct or breach of contract.

14. Where commissioning and procurement activities are subject to the provisions 
contained in the Standing Orders, no quotation or tender shall be accepted until 
all necessary approvals and consents have been obtained and no contract shall 
be entered into until all documentation has been signed.

Commissioning and Procurement Strategy

15. The Council’s commissioning and procurement strategy sets out how 
commissioning and procurement activities will support the delivery of the 
Council’s vision and priorities as shown in the corporate plan.  
The commissioning and procurement strategy will shape choices and any 
subsequent procurement must comply with these Standing Orders and the 
Financial Regulations.

Amendments

16. These Standing Orders shall be subject to the following amendment protocol:
a. Standing Orders

Full Council shall be responsible for the approval of and any major 
amendment of the principal Standing Orders.
The Council’s Monitoring Officer may approve amendments due to 
changes in legislation and any minor amendments or corrections where 
they are satisfied that it is appropriate to do so.

b. Appendices
The Council’s Monitoring Officer may approve amendments to the 
appendices where they are satisfied that it is appropriate to do so.

Advice and guidance

17. If any Officer or Member has any queries or requires advice in relation to these 
Standing Orders, how they apply to any commissioning or procurement activity, 
contract or proposed contract, their meaning or how to follow them, then advice 
must be sought without delay.

18. Sources of advice include:
a. Any officer of the commissioning and procurement team

Page 170



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 6

b. Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director of Corporate & Contracted 
Services)

Suspension of the Standing Orders

19. These Standing Orders will always apply unless a suspension is approved. 
Details of how to suspend these Standing Orders can be requested by 
contacting any officer of the commissioning and procurement team.  

20. An exemption from the requirement to comply with these Standing Orders may 
only be made by the Council or the Cabinet or the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder responsible for the service affected by the contract and then only subject 
to the following requirements:

20.1 The special circumstances requiring the suspension must be reported to 
the Council or the Cabinet or the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio Holder and 
the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services together with a 
detailed justification for the proposed action, and

20.2 The suspension and the special circumstances justifying the exception 
must be noted and recorded in the Full Council or Cabinet minutes or PH 
decision record.

21. In the event that a suspension to these Standing Orders needs to be 
considered, advice should be sought from the Group Manager of Procurement & 
Contracted Services or the Monitoring Officer as to how to proceed.

22. The suspension of these Standing Orders shall not be permitted if the contract 
value breaches the financial EU thresholds.

Page 171



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 7

SECTION TWO
GENERAL ADVICE AND GUIDANCE

General rules
1 Following the rules as set out in these Standing Orders is the best defence 

against allegations that any commissioning and procurement activity has been 
concluded incorrectly or fraudulently. Officers and Members undertaking 
commissioning and procurement activities must comply with these Standing 
Orders. They lay down minimum requirements and, in some cases, a more 
thorough procedure may be appropriate for a particular contract. 

2 Procurements up to and including £74,999
Before commencing any commissioning and procurement activity, and in the 
interests of good governance, Officers and Members should:

2.1 Check to ensure that you have the necessary authority to commence the 
commissioning and procurement activity. Refer to Section Five (Quotation 
Table) on the number of quotations you are required to obtain.

2.2 Check with the budget holder that there is a budgetary provision or an 
approved supplementary estimate in place. 

2.3 Check with the commissioning & procurement unit to whether there is an 
existing contract in place which should be used.

 
2.4 Declare any personal, direct or indirect, financial interests in any 

commissioning and procurement activity, failure to do so is in direct 
contravention of the Council’s Constitution and is, therefore, a disciplinary 
offence that could be classed as gross misconduct and could lead to a 
criminal conviction. (See 4.7 for how to make a declaration)

3 Procurements above £74,999
Complete the Tender Requisition Form (see Appendix 1) and submit this to an 
officer from the commissioning and procurement team.

All Council Members and Officers must act in an ethical and professional 
manner whilst undertaking any commissioning and procurement activity 
4 Council Members and Officers must seek to uphold and enhance the reputation 

of the Council by:

4.1 Complying with the relevant Code of Conduct. Officers must comply with 
the Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees. Click on link and select 
Section 12 – Conduct – Code of Conduct for Employees.  

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%2
0Handbook/Section%2012%20-

Page 172

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2012%20-%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2012%20-%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 8

%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-
%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf 

Council Members must comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members. Click on following link and select Handbook – Code of Conduct. 
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-
democracy/councilconstitution-part-5---codes-and-protocols-(pdf298-kb)-
opens-in-new-window).pdf

4.2 Maintaining a high standard of integrity in all business and commercial 
relationships both inside and outside the Council,

4.3 Maintaining high professional standards by promoting equal treatment, 
openness and transparency in all commissioning and procurement activity.

4.4 Complying both with the letter and the spirit of:
4.4.1 UK and European Union procurement legislation
4.4.2 Such guidance on professional practice as may be issued from 

time to time by the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted 
Services or any officer from the commissioning and procurement 
team

4.5 Rejecting any business practice which might appear improper to a 
reasonable observer, e.g. where offers of gifts or hospitality could give the 
appearance of trying to obtain influence or favour. Any offer whether 
accepted or not must be declared to your manager.

4.6 Taking advice from the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted 
Services, any officer from the commissioning and procurement team and/or 
the Monitoring Officer when in doubt.

4.7 Declaring any personal and/or financial interest and/or conflict of interests 
using the relevant forms in the Code of Conduct documentation. 

4.8 Maintaining the confidentiality of information with respect to any quotation 
or tender submissions.

4.9 Ensuring any information given by officers or members in the course of 
their duties should be true, accurate and fair and never designed to 
mislead

4.10 Bearing in mind the advantages of maintaining a continuing relationship 
with suppliers, contractors and consultants, Members and Officers should 
avoid any arrangement which might, in the long term, prevent the effective 
operation of fair competition

Page 173

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2012%20-%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2012%20-%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2012%20-%20Employee%20Relations/Section%2012%20-%20Conduct%20-%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20for%20Employees.pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/councilconstitution-part-5---codes-and-protocols-(pdf298-kb)-opens-in-new-window).pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/councilconstitution-part-5---codes-and-protocols-(pdf298-kb)-opens-in-new-window).pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/councilconstitution-part-5---codes-and-protocols-(pdf298-kb)-opens-in-new-window).pdf


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 9

What is a contract?
5 Contracts are legally binding agreements and, in English law, to be binding, 

contracts need not be in writing (except for contracts for the sale or lease of 
land). A contract is made when one person offers to undertake or supply 
something to another person and that offer is accepted unconditionally by the 
person to whom the offer was made, who in turn, supplies value (which can be 
money or moneys worth).

6 Contracts may be concluded in writing, by word of mouth, over the telephone, or 
even by performance. For example, the purchase of a newspaper from a shop, 
even if unaccompanied by a single spoken word, will constitute a legally binding 
contract from which legal obligations follow (e.g. to deliver the paper, to pay for 
it).

7 It is not the purpose of these Standing Orders to give a definitive guide on UK 
contract law. The user of these Standing Orders should, however, be aware that 
in any commercial dealings with a supplier, contractor or consultant, his or her 
actions may be deemed in law to have constituted a fully binding legal contract 
on behalf of the Council. In any case of doubt, advice should be taken from the 
Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services or the Monitoring Officer.

8 Officers and Members should ensure in all commissioning and procurement 
activities that the following matters have been complied with:

8.1 The general UK law and, in particular, the provisions of the Public 
Contracts Regulations. Where the provisions of legislation conflict with 
these Standing Orders, the legislation will always take precedence.

8.2 E.U. Procurement Directives.

8.3 The Council's Financial Regulations.

8.4 The Commissioning & Procurement Standing Orders.

8.5 Local Government transparency code 2015.  The Council has to publish 
details of any contract, commissioned activity, purchase orders, 
frameworks or any other legally enforceable agreement for values over 
£5,000.

Page 174



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 10

SECTION THREE
DETERMINING THE TYPE OF CONTRACT AND ITS VALUE

Is the Contract for Supplies, Services or Works?

1 It is important to determine between the following classifications of contract 
before you proceed:

1.1 “Supply” contracts are where goods and supplies are purchased or hired; it 
also includes energy, water and fuel.

1.2 “Service” contracts are where the service provider is providing time, effort 
and expertise. Service contracts, e.g. cleaning services, consultancy, fees 
or advice.

1.3 “Works” contracts are contracts for the carrying out construction or building 
repairs works or building refurbishments.

2 A mixed supply/service or supply/works or service/works contract will be 
classified according to its predominant value. For example, with a replacement 
door contract, if the value of the door is more expensive than the value of the 
fitting of the door, then this would result in the contract being classified as a 
supply contract. If the value of the fitting of the door was more expensive than 
the supply of the door, then this would be classified as a works contract.

Further guidance and advice is available from the commissioning & procurement team 
with regard to the classification of supplies, services and works.

Calculating the Value of a Contract

3 In determining the value of a potential contract you must calculate:

3.1 The estimated aggregate value of a series of contracts or a renewable 
contract is entered into for supplies, services and/or works of a similar type, 
this must take into account both the annual value as well as the number of 
years it will operate for:

By way of example, a three-year contract to supply financial advice at 
£50,000 per year will have an aggregated value of £150,000.

4 There shall be no artificial splitting of a contract to avoid the application of the 
provisions of the Public Contract Regulations and/or these Standing Orders.

Page 175



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 11

SECTION FOUR
COMMISSIONING

1. Commissioning is the first 3 elements of the commercial cycle that is used to:
 assess the needs of the service and the people it will impact upon,
 design the services to meet those needs,
 procuring the service by competitive tendering
 monitor the service after contract award; and review

2. The following should be considered in your commissioning process:

2.1. Allow sufficient time to plan and run the tender process.  Refer to Section 4 for 
guidance on typical timescales

2.2. All necessary legal, financial and professional advice should be taken, and any 
information from this (e.g. market research or consultants reports) made available 
in value for money reviews or business cases.

2.3 Use any research or consultants reports to build Social Value into the process 
early on. Any necessary value for money reviews or business cases should be 
conducted and appraise the purchasing needs prior to commencing a 
procurement exercise.

2.4 When writing you specification you must ensure it includes the following
 Demonstrate a link to the Council’s Corporate Plan. 
 Incorporate Social Value either as specific requirement or as part of the 

evaluation – allowing tenderers to state what they can offer to the local 
community.

 any environmental or sustainability requirements – use an Environmental 
impact assessment;

 Build in requirements from your Equality Impact Assessment of the service.
 All relevant strategies of the Council E.g. Business Continuity, 

Sustainability, Safeguarding, etc. should be incorporated into the written 
specification (See Appendix 2).

2.5 Consideration should be made as to how the proposed procurement will be 
monitored, quality assessed and performance measured when in operation and a 
contract manager should be appointed who is responsible for ensuring the 
contract delivers as intended,

2.6 Find out if there are alternative and better ways to deliver the service. E.g. an 
outcome based approach aims to shift the emphasis from what services a 
provider will offer to what outcomes they will achieve.  Consider an options 
appraisal.

2.7 Any proposed procurement exercise must take into account the Council’s risk 
management strategies, guidance and procedures; the consideration of risks and 
their subsequent documentation in risk registers with suitable control measures.  

Page 176



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 12

Insurance cover requirements will need to be considered, if in doubt you should 
consult the Council’s Insurance & risk Lead Officer for advice.  Where there is 
High Risk, High Value or High Profile services at stake, the risk factors must be 
reported to Cabinet, the Portfolio Holder or the Director or Chief Executive as 
appropriate.  It is good practice to request Business Continuity Plan/Disaster 
Recovery Plans from tenderers, however for contracts identified as a ‘Critical 
Function’ it may be prudent to score these to ensure adequate plans are in place 
to avoid any loss of service due to disasters e.g. fire or flood.

2.8 A written detailed specification of the goods, services or works to be procured 
should be in place before the tender process starts.

Further guidance can be found in the appendices:
Writing a Business Case – Appendix 7
Conducting an Options Appraisal – Appendix 9

Page 177



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 13

The key elements of the commercial cycle are illustrated in the diagram below. 

Diagram 4 – Detailed Commercial Cycle

Page 178



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 14

FORWARD PLANNING & ALLOWING SUFFICIENT TIME FOR YOUR TENDER 
PROCESS

Forward Plan
1. The Forward Procurement Plan is a document detailing potential major 

contracts and possible tendering opportunities over a 3 year period. 
2. The purpose of the plan is to: 

a. Allow the Council to sufficiently plan and where required carry out a 
commissioning process prior to carrying out any tendering activity. 

b. Allow the Council to ensure there is sufficient skills and resources available 
when carrying out a tendering exercises. 

c. To raise awareness of Council opportunities for the market to have ample 
time to prepare. 

3. The Commissioning and Procurement Team will utilise the Council’s Corporate 
Contract Register and the Council’s Capital Programme to identify upcoming 
tender opportunities however officers will need to make the Council’s 
commissioning and procurement aware as and when a new opportunity arises. 
It will be the Group Managers responsibility to ensure the Commissioning and 
Procurement Team have adequate notice when it comes to carrying out 
procurement activities. 

TENDER TIMESCALES

Allow sufficient time to plan and run the commissioning and tender process.
The 4 main stages of the process are:

1. The pre tender stages, including any pre-procurement market engagement, 
deciding on your final specification, evaluation criteria and questions for the 
tender response document.

2. The tender process.  From when the contract notice/OJEU notice is published to  
completion of the evaluation of the tenders;

3. Approval to Award Process;
4. Lead-in period to contract & contract commencement.  Your contract may 

require a mobilisation process for the new supplier to get ready for the contract 
start date.

The timescale example shown does not show every transaction in the tendering 
process, but is designed to give you an overview of the general processes included 
and the responsibilities of each party.  Timescales will vary depending on the type of 
contract, the tendering process used and the supplier, however a minimum timescale 
is given as a guide only.

The commissioning and procurement team will produce a project plan for each tender 
process based on the information provided by the client department.

Page 179



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 15

COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT PROCESS & TIMESCALES

The following diagram shows an indicative timescale

Client Department Procurement Team Supplier Time

Contact Procurement Team 
& Category Lead.  Complete 
a Tender Requisition Form. 

Include in planned 
procurement schedule

Information on future 
tenders available for 

suppliers to view

Market Intelligence - 
gathering of information 

from market sector & 
consultation with 

stakeholders

Draw up specification of 
requirement following 

market intelligence.

Client Department submits 
information to procurement 

for tendering

Procurement checking & 
preparing tender document

1-2 weeks

Contract notice issued on e-
tendering portal

Suppliers download tender 
documents

Client dept complete 
evaluation

Procurement Team open 
tenders after return date

Supplier uploads tender to 
e-tendering portal

appropriate officer signs 
certificate or submits PH 

Decision report

Procurement check 
evaluation; plus prepare 

certificate OR provide 
background report for PH 

sheet

Approval to Award Process 
within DBC begins.  PH 

decision sheet will includes 
28 day consultation

Approval completed & 
Procurement notified

Certificate 
1-2 weeks;  
PH Sheet - 

6 weeks

Standstill period applicable 
for contracts over EU 

thresholds only.
10-12 days

Successful & unsuccessful 
companies contacted via e-

tendering portal
2-3 days

Award contract to successful 
tenderer.

Contract sent to supplier to 
sign

Council signs contract. Supplier returns contract

Lead in period to contract. 
Client Dept prepare for start

Supplier preparing for 
contract start, ordering 

supplies, etc.

lead-in 
times vary.

Contract start Contract start

contract monitoring
Supplier performing 

contract
Contract 
duration

Pr
e-

te
nd

er
 st

ag
e

C
O

M
M

IS
SI

O
N

IN
G

 P
R

O
C

ES
S

Times vary 
depending 
on subject 
of contract

Te
nd

er
in

g S
ta

ge

Simple, 
low value 
contracts - 
4+ months.   

Over EU 
threshold - 
6+ months. 
Very high 
value or  
complex 

spec. - 12+ 
months

Aw
ar

d 
pr

oc
es

se
s

3-4 weeks

Co
nt

ra
ct

 m
on

ito
rin

g

Diagram 3 – Example commissioning and procurement timescale

Page 180



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 16

SECTION FIVE
QUOTATION TABLE - CONTRACT VALUES OF UP TO AND INCLUDING £74,999

For Contract values and purchases up to and including £74,999 quotations should be 
obtained in accordance with the table below:

Value Requirements Approval Process
Up to and including 
£24,999

 A minimum of one quotation 
should be obtained from a 
local supplier where 
available.

 Details of contracts must be 
entered on to the contract 
register.

 Quotation documents and 
purchase order/contract  
records must be retained 
(see Section 6 for details)

 Team Leader or above, is 
under a duty to seek value for 
money and take up 
quotations as appropriate for 
the supplies, services or 
works to be delivered.

 Group Manager or above to 
approve award of contract by 
signing contract award 
certificate;

 A purchase order must be 
raised through the Agresso 
finance system for the 
services, supplies or works.

From £25,000 up to 
and including £74,999

 A minimum of three 
quotations should be 
obtained including once from 
a local supplier where 
available.

 Details of contracts must be 
entered on to the contract 
register.

 Quotation documents and 
purchase order/contract  
records must be retained 
(see Section 6 for details)

 Group Manager or above, is 
under a duty to seek value for 
money and take up 
quotations as appropriate for 
the supplies, services or 
works to be delivered.

 Group Manager or above to 
approve award of contract by 
signing contract award 
certificate.

 A purchase order must be 
raised through the Agresso 
finance system for the 
services, supplies or works

Framework contracts
Up to £74,999

 As a rule, framework 
contracts normally require an 
additional tendering process 
- even for lower values.  You 
must contact the 
commissioning & 
procurement Team for 
advice

 Approval process to be the 
same as non-framework 
values

Page 181



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 17

EXCEPTIONS TO QUOTATIONS

Prior authorisation from a member of the commissioning & procurement team is 
required to award a contract (up to and including £74,999 without undertaking any 
quotation process and only when one of the following situations apply:

 A framework agreement that has already been awarded by other public sector 
bodies can be used by the Council provided that:
a) the contract has been awarded to a single supplier, or ;
b) where there are multiple suppliers, a direct award is permitted by that 

Contract’s terms and conditions ; and the rules for a direct award have been 
complied with; and

c) Use of the framework has been approved by an officer from the 
commissioning & procurement team.

 Urgent supplies, services or works as necessary for the protection of life or 
property or to maintain the functioning of a public service for which the Council 
is responsible (or if there are a number of public service implications that also 
include any responsibility of Hertfordshire County Council). 

 Supplies, services or works for the repair or enhancement of existing proprietary 
machinery, plant, equipment, software and maintenance of any of these where 
there is no other reasonable alternative supplier.

 The relevant Group Manager can approve an exception to obtaining quotations 
providing that a genuine justification is given.

Page 182



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 18

SECTION SIX
OBTAINING QUOTATIONS

The process for obtaining quotations shall be as follows:
 As indicated in Section 5, quotations can be sought up to and including 

£74,999.
 If the value is expected to be up to and including £24,999, use the Request for 

Quotation (RFQ) template (see appendix 10) to invite your chosen suppliers to 
quote via email.

 If the value is expected to be £25,000 or above, use the RFQ template and 
send this through to the commissioning & procurement team, who will advertise 
your quotation on the Council’s e-tendering portal and Contracts Finder to 
ensure there is open competition.

 Include a detailed written specification of your requirements whenever possible 
(compulsory for values of £25,000 and above).

 Where appropriate invite at least one local supplier to submit a quotation, if 
expected value is of £25,000 and above, you should inform suppliers that the 
requirement has been advertised and can be found on the Council’s e-tendering 
portal and Contracts Finder.

 Decide on the evaluation criteria you will use.  If price is not the only criteria to 
be considered, then state the other criteria in the RFQ (e.g. delivery timescales 
and/or quality) in the RFQ documents.

 Evaluate all quotations received and keep all scoring and evaluation notes.  
Evaluation notes must be factual and based on the evidence provided by a 
supplier’s quotation submission. 

 Obtain necessary authorisation to award the contract (see Section 7).
 Inform all bidders in writing of the contract award decision, including how they 

have scored, using your evaluation notes. 
 Raise a purchase order and produce contract documentation if necessary.
 If monitoring of the contract is required, then ensure arrangements are in place 

(see Section 14).
 Where the contract value is £25,000 or above then the Officer will need to 

provide a contract award certificate to be authorised by the relevant Officer, 
details of the contract will also need to be entered on to the contract register

 No contract shall commence until all documentation is in place.
 If you are seeking quotations for a service that supports a ‘Critical Function’ for 

the Council you must request and evaluate the supplier’s Business Continuity 
Plan as part of the evaluation process.  A list of the Council’s critical functions 
are listed in the Council’s Corporate Business Continuity Plan which can be 
found on the DENNIS Document Centre in the Resilience folder.

Records to be maintained where quotations are taken up
 

1 The Group Manager of the procuring service must ensure that all written 
documentation for quotations are retained for record retention purposes and 
made available for inspection by the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer or 
Audit for the greater period of:

Page 183



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 19

1.1 Such timescale that is prescribed by law, or
1.2 A minimum period of six years plus the current financial year, or
1.3 Such period as is prescribed by the Council’s Document Retention 

Procedure. Click on the following link and select DBC 400IM Policy – 
Retention Schedule Policy version 3_11 (or latest version)  
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs
%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2
FRecords%20Management 

2 The records that need to be kept will include:
2.1.1 Invitation to quote (including the Council’s written specification) and 

all quotations received from suppliers.
2.1.2 a record of any exemptions or rejections and the reasons for them
2.1.3 the reason if the lowest price is not accepted
2.1.4 The evaluation spreadsheet, if price is not the only criteria taken 

into consideration, then the value for money evaluation process 
must be clearly set out.

2.1.5 the contract documents
2.1.6 post-contract monitoring
2.1.7 Written/electronic records of communications with suppliers 

submitting quotations and with the successful contractor 
throughout the period of the contract.

In regard to the records kept you may be ask to provide:
 evidence of these documents to our auditors; or
 Provide FOI information to a supplier about how their submission 

evaluation notes.

Page 184

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FRecords%20Management
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FRecords%20Management
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FRecords%20Management
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FRecords%20Management


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 20

SECTION SEVEN
WHO HAS THE AUTHORITY TO AWARD A CONTRACT?

Taking the formal decision to award the contract
1 The formal Contracting Decision to award a contract will be based upon the 

following circumstances:

Decision maker Authority Process

An Officer

Up to £500,000

 A contract award certificate is 
required on all contracts valued 
at £25,000 and above.

 A written delegated authority 
exists under the Council’s 
Constitution to all Team Leaders 
for contracts up to and including 
£24,999, Group Managers for 
contracts up to and including 
£74,999, all Assistant Directors 
for contracts up to and including 
£250,000 and all Corporate 
Directors for contracts up to and 
including £500,000.

 Other delegated authority for 
specific supplies, services or 
works for other values may be 
listed within the Council’s 
Financial Regulations under the 
‘Scheme of Delegation’ - 
schedules 2 & 3 or by delegated 
authority granted by Cabinet or 
Portfolio Holder.

 The raising of a 
requisition/purchase order for 
contracts valued up to an 
including £24,999 on Agresso 
will be deemed to have the 
authority to award.

 Where delegated authority 
exists, the client department 
must prepare a written contract 
award certificate (up to £74,999 
or if value if £75,000+ an Officer 
Decision Record Sheet with the 
Procurement Report and pass 
to the Section 151 Officer and 
the Monitoring Officer for 
comments;

 Once statutory comments have 
been received, the contact 
award certificate must be 
signed and dated by the officer 
who has the delegated authority 
and returned to the 
commissioning and 
procurement team.

Delegated 
decisions to 
specific officers

 Where Cabinet has delegated a 
specific decision to a particular 
officer for determination

 Where a particular officer 
e.g.an Assistant Director has a 
decision delegated to them in 
the Council’s Constitution, that 
officer can submit an Officer 
Decision Record Sheet for 
values above £500,000.

Portfolio Holder

Above £500,000

 The Council’s scheme of 
delegation enables Portfolio 
Holders to award contracts above 
£500,000 in value in relation to 
their Portfolio

 Where Cabinet has delegated a 
specific decision to a Portfolio 
Holder for determination

 A Portfolio Holder decision will 
be required in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution.  The 
client department must prepare 
a Portfolio Holder Decision 
Record Sheet which must be 
submitted to together with the 
Procurement Report to 
Statutory Comments for the 
Section 151 Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer comments;

 The procurement team will 
prepare a Procurement Report 
detailing the procurement & 

Page 185



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 21

tender process, the reason to 
award the contract and any 
relevant implications.

 The PH Decision process 
includes an internal approval 
process before the public 
consultation – 28 days. Allow a 
minimum of 6 weeks’ extra time 
in your tender timescales for 
this process. Click on the 
following link and select PH 
Decision – Officer Guidance 
and PH Decision – Timeline. 
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/
Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFold
er=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%
2FTemplates%20and%20Form
s&FolderCTID=0x012000C990
015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CA
E03911&View=%7B8E3311E3
%2D1A55%2D48AE%2D91C5
%2DF86E41D6816D%7D 

Cabinet  The Council’s Constitution 
deems that the decision is a “key 
decision” and, therefore, it should 
be taken by the Cabinet.

 A resolution of Cabinet

NB – It is anticipated that High Risk 
or High Impact contracts will be 
considered by Cabinet where there 
is a cross-cutting benefit and/or 
implication of the award of the 
contract that could affect more than 
one portfolio.

Council  The Council’s Constitution 
reserves the power to full 
Council.

 A resolution of Council

NB – Council is only likely to be 
required to approve to award 
contracts where there are far-
reaching benefits and/or 
implications to making a decision 
(e.g. redevelopment agreements 
etc.)

2 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, where there is any doubt as to 
who is the appropriate decision maker, the advice should be sought of any 
officer from the commissioning and procurement team or the Monitoring Officer.

Page 186

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FTemplates%20and%20Forms&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911&View=%7B8E3311E3-1A55-48AE-91C5-F86E41D6816D%7D


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 22

SECTION EIGHT
CONSULTANTS

The engagement of a consultant is classified as the commissioning and procurement 
of a service and should follow that process, there is some additional guidance below 
that should also be followed when commissioning and procuring consultants.   

Consultancy brief
1 The engagement of a Consultant shall follow the agreement of a brief that 

adequately describes the scope of the services to be provided and shall be 
subject to completion of a contract of appointment.

2 No consultant shall be engaged unless:

2.1 specialist expertise is not available from in-house sources; 
2.2 there is a lack of in-house capacity to undertake the project;
2.3 the in-house proposal is not competitive; or
2.4 An independent opinion is required.

The selection and appointment of consultants to provide services
3 Consultant architects, engineers, surveyors, project managers and other 

professional consultants shall be commissioned and procured in accordance 
with the procedures detailed within these Standing Orders and as outlined 
below.

4 The number of quotations or tenders required in respect of consultancy 
contracts shall be as detailed in Section 5 – Quotation Table for Contract Values 
of up to and including £74,999; or Section 9 – Tendering Table for Contract 
Values of £75,000 and above.

5 Officers must always, before seeking quotations or tenders, prepare a detailed 
brief or specification with the contract terms. The specification must include:

a. The outcomes to be achieved by the consultants including significant 
stages, milestones, reports, etc.

b. The basis on which the consultant can charge (e.g. payment when a 
particular stage is completed).

c. When payments are due.
d. If expenses or additional disbursements may be charged or if these must 

be included in tendered/quoted charges.
e. If there is an option to extend the contract after the initial period, (this 

must be taken into consideration when determining the contract value).
f. Agreed process and charges for variations to the contract.  This is 

particularly important where the appointment is likely to be for a long 
period of time.

g. A request to provide evidence of the required insurances, in particular 
access the risk associated with the work to ensure the value of 

Page 187



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 23

professional indemnity insurance cover requested as standard is 
sufficient for the service being provided.  (See also items 10 & 11.)

h. A request for the consultant to provide a copy of their Business 
Continuity Plan/Disaster Recovery Plan.  This should detail the 
arrangements the consultant has in place to overcome any disasters to 
their workplace (e.g. fire or flood) so that work they have done for you is 
protected and they can quickly carry on delivering the service.  In 
addition you may want to ensure they have sufficient arrangements in 
place to cover any absences due to illness or staff resignations, to 
ensure the consultant will be able to continue to provide the service.

6 Officers must not permit consultants to:
a. Prepare their own brief (or be invited to quote or tender on terms so 

vague that this is in effect what is happening)
b. Produce their own contract terms, unless

 these are standard terms prescribed by a professional body and 
agreed with by any officer of the commissioning and procurement 
team;

 The value of the contract is below £25,000 and the officer has 
reviewed the terms and this has been approved by a member of the 
commissioning & procurement team.

c. Be engaged on a payment by time basis; unless:
i. it is the custom in the profession for payment for that kind of work 

to be on a time basis, or;
ii. a quotation for the work cannot be obtained in any other way;

In these cases, an upper financial limit should always be set on the sum 
payable and there should be arrangements in place to manage and 
control amounts spent and the commissioning of additional work.

7 Officers must make sound arrangements to monitor performance, control costs 
and ensure that any changes in instructions are properly agreed and recorded in 
writing (see Section 14). This is particularly important where the appointment is 
likely to be for a long period of time or to develop a project, rather than to deliver 
a single goal to a predetermined programme.  If extra work is to be agreed, this 
is an extension and the agreement must comply with the Financial Regulations 
and these Standing Orders regarding extensions and EU procurement rules 
relating to aggregation.

Page 188



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 24

Application of Financial Regulations and Procurement Standing Orders to 
consultant’s who act on the Council’s behalf
8 If the Council engages anyone who is not a Council officer to procure or to 

supervise a contract on its behalf, the contract with that person must require 
them to comply with these Standing Orders and the Council’s Financial 
Regulations as if they were an officer of the Council. 

Insurances
9 A consultant must be required to produce evidence of satisfactory employers 

and public liability insurance. 

10 The consultant must produce satisfactory evidence of professional indemnity 
insurance unless;
10.1 such insurance is not available in the insurance market; 
10.2 the consultant will already have been required to demonstrate such cover 

as part of their annual or periodic certification process with their 
professional organisation; 

10.3 the nature of the appointment is such that there is no risk to which the 
Council will be exposed; 

10.4 The consultant will be covered by the Council’s own insurance 
arrangements (as may be the case for some locum and similar 
appointments) and this has been cleared in writing by Section 151 Officer.

11 The amount and terms of the consultant’s insurance covers shall be to the 
satisfaction of the Insurance & Risk Lead Officer.  The consultant must not be 
allowed to recharge the cost of his or her professional indemnity insurance to 
the Council.

Page 189



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 25

SECTION NINE
TENDERING TABLE FOR CONTRACT VALUES OF £75,000 AND ABOVE

Value Requirements Process 
Supplies, Services 
or Works 
From £75,000 up to 
EU threshold

 A fully completed and signed 
Tender Requisition Form 
(TRF) must be received by the 
Commissioning and 
Procurement Team before the 
tender can be advertised.

 Tendering process to be 
complied with (see section ten 
onwards)

 A Procurement Report must 
be obtained from Procurement 
to be attached to your 
certificate or ODRS prior to 
approval.

 The contract must be signed 
by both parties before the 
contract commences.

 Details of contracts must be 
entered on to the contract 
register.

 Assistant Director to approve 
award of contract up to and 
including £250,000 by signing 
a contract award certificate 
up to £74,999 or an Officer 
Decision Record Sheet 
(ODRS) over £75,000.

 Chief Officer to approve 
award of contract up to and 
including £500,000 by signing 
a contract award certificate or 
ODRS.

 All contract values above 
£500,000 will require a PH 
Decision (unless delegated 
authority has been given by 
Cabinet or via a PH 
Decision). 

 A purchase order must be 
raised through the Agresso 
finance system for the 
services, supplies or works

EU threshold and 
above

 A fully completed and signed 
Tender Requisition Form 
(TRF) must be received by the 
Commissioning and 
Procurement Team before the 
tender can be advertised.

 Tendering process to be 
complied with (see section ten 
onwards)

 A Procurement Report must 
be obtained from Procurement 
to be attached to your 
certificate or ODRS prior to 
approval.

 The contract must be signed 
by both parties before the 
contract commences.

 Details of contracts must be 
entered on to the contract 
register.

 Assistant Director to approve 
award of contract up to and 
including £250,000 by signing 
a contract award certificate. 
up to £74,999K or an Officer 
Decision Record Sheet 
(ODRS) over £75,000

 Chief Officer to approve 
award of contract up to and 
including £500,000 by signing 
a contract award certificate.

 All contract values above 
£500,000 will require a PH 
Decision (unless delegated 
authority has been given by 
Cabinet or via a PH 
Decision). 

 A purchase order must be 
raised through the Agresso 
finance system for the 
services, supplies or works

Page 190



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 26

Using framework 
agreements for a 
value of £100,000 
and over, including 
OJEU values

 A fully completed and 
signed Tender Requisition 
Form (TRF) must be 
received by the 
Commissioning and 
Procurement Team

 The terms and conditions 
of using the framework 
must be complied with.

 Direct awards (if allowed 
by the framework) must be 
also approved by an 
officer in the 
commissioning & 
procurement team.

 The mini-competition 
process of the framework 
must be complied with 

 The contract must be 
signed by both parties 
before the contract 
commences.

 Details of contracts must 
be entered on to the 
contract register.

Approval process to be same as 
non-framework contract values.

Collaborative 
Procurements

 Approval to collaborate on 
procurements to be approved 
by any officer of the 
procurement team

 Tenders must be advertised in 
accordance with the rules of 
the lead authority.

 Details of contracts must be 
entered on to the contract 
register of the lead authority.

Approval process for each 
authority to be as per the rules 
for that authority.

Page 191



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 27

SECTION TEN
GUIDANCE ON WRITING A SPECIFICATION

1. Introduction
Give a brief introduction to the Council, an outline of the Department’s role and the 
main functions carried out.

2. Background 

Provide some background information to help tenderers see the requirements in 
context. Subjects to cover can include an overview of business objectives, national 
strategies, guidance/frameworks, surveys carried out or previous results that are 
relevant to the contract.  If there are any minimum requirements then this should be 
made clear here.

3. Contract Period 

Consider the duration of the contract. The contract period should ensure that the 
department achieves the maximum return on their investment.

 Longer term contracts will give the contractor more certainty in relation to the 
investment and should secure better value for money than short term contracts.  

 Consultancy contracts may be viewed as short term requirements initially, but it 
may be prudent to include an option to extend should the outcome result in 
additional work being required.  

 Annual optional extensions for recurring contracts should only be included 
where there are uncertainties in funding.

4. Scope of the Contract

This will provide tenderers with the broad scope of the contract and should cover what 
is included and excluded.  This should be a general description to set the contract into 
context. 

5. Detailed Requirements

This section sets out the detailed requirements the tenderer is required to meet. You 
will need to define exactly what the tenderers need to know in order to deliver the right 
goods or services at the right time, in the right place, in the right quantity and at the 
right price. (e.g. volumes; timescales; deliverables, quality expected; reporting 
structures; resources available from the contracting authority; governance 
arrangements; requirements for contingencies/business continuity; etc.)  

The requirements may be split into two forms as described below ‘Functional’ and 
‘Performance’ and dependent upon the requirements, they may both be used or stand 
alone.

Page 192



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 28

5.1 Functional Requirements

These requirements define the task or desired result by focusing on what is to be 
achieved, rather than by describing the way it is to be achieved. This challenges 
tenderers to use their skills and develop smart, creative solutions.

Specifying requirements in terms of outcomes, outputs or functions gives potential 
tenderers the opportunity to propose innovative solutions (or simply be more creative 
in their proposals), and also means the responsibility for ensuring the solution meets 
the requirement rests with the tenderer rather than the Department.

   Use the information you have gathered in your research to shape your 
requirements.

   Be aware of any legislation that will apply to the contract
   Incorporate any Council policies or strategies that apply, e.g. business 

continuity, sustainability, safeguarding, etc. (see Appendix 2).
   Be realistic about what your budget can afford.
   Consider the range of providers, both large and small, who could provide the 

service.
   If your level 2 business continuity plan has identified any critical functions that 

are delivered by an external service provider, you must ensure that a robust 
business continuity plan is requested in your specification as part of the tender 
return, this can either be as a minimum requirement, or preferably is evaluated 
as part of the tender evaluation and then included as part of the contractual 
documentation.   

Use a heading structure that subdivides the requirement into logical areas that map 
onto the evaluation model which will set out the criteria by which all tender responses 
will be assessed. The outputs should also be clearly linked to the payment 
profile/schedule. 

5.2 Performance Requirements

These requirements detail the performance required of the solution by setting out 
details of inputs and outputs. Example performance measures are:

 throughput – the volume of inputs that can be handled within a specified 
time;

 accuracy – the number of outputs that are error free (usually expressed as a 
percentage);

 Availability – the time the solution is able to be used as a percentage of the 
time it is supposed to be able to be used.

 Standards – compliance with/performance to the relevant European 
Standards (or equivalent)

Page 193



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 29

5.3 Mandatory Requirements

Some requirements may be considered to be mandatory and this section should also 
be used to clearly detail any such requirements. These must be considered to be 
essential to the contract and should not discriminate unfairly because tenderers can be 
rejected for failing to meet them.

 Within this section, Departments may also wish to consider requirements around:
 Hours of Service/Delivery - The Department should consider what hours of service 

may be required e.g. Mon-Fri 9.-5pm, Public Holidays etc. and ensure specific 
delivery times, locations and turnaround times are specified where relevant.

 Security of data – If data will be collected, stored or used by the Contractors, then 
data security requirements should be outlined, so that clear obligations may be 
placed on the processor:
 The subject matter and duration of the process;
 The nature and purpose of processing;
 The type of personal data and categories of data subjects; and
 The obligations and rights of the controller. 

 The terms and conditions cover GDPR and there is a schedule in the tender 
response document for tenderers to complete regarding the tenderers processing 
for GDPR 

 Exit Strategy - Consideration should be given to whether an exit strategy is 
required for when the contract comes to an end and a new contractor is appointed. 
This will be particularly relevant if data is held by the contractor.

 Relevant experience of providing this type of service during the last three years.
 If an external company is already providing this service, then TUPE may apply and 

you will need to seek further advice from legal services

If an external company is already providing this service, then TUPE may apply and you 
will need to seek further advice from legal services

5.4 Timescales/Timetable

If it is essential that the required Service is delivered to particular timescales or key 
stages completed by certain dates, then this information should be provided.

In addition you can ask them to provide a project plan showing key milestones against 
timescales in the tender response.

6. Contract Management, Service Levels and Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs)

You must be clear about what type of contract reports the Council requires back and 
the frequency of meetings/update reviews that are required. DBCs Standing orders 
state that Contract Managers should meet with contractors/suppliers at least once a 
quarter.  Some contracts may need more frequent meetings, e.g. every month, others 

Page 194



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 30

may benefit from monthly meetings at the start of the contract term and then change to 
quarterly. 

Whether in terms of quality or in terms of timeliness, service levels and Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) should be included in a specification. You must be able 
to measure the contractor’s performance delivery and the specification must provide 
information of any service levels and/or KPIs that the contractor will be monitored 
against. The frequency of the monitoring must also be included to ensure a robust 
management regime.   

Some service levels and KPIs are easily defined by reference to existing operations, 
SLAs etc. Where this is not the case, they need to be defined with users and can be 
informed by benchmarking information. It is important to set any performance 
measures at the right level:

 too high and they can be costly: the cost of meeting the higher performance 
level can be higher than the additional benefit obtained; and

 Too low and users' expectations will not be met, and there may be a 
detrimental effect on the business.

KPIs should be clearly linked to the specification and payment regime to allow 
performance failure to be tracked and reflected in payment abatement. 

The service levels and KPIs which will be monitored should be outlined in the 
Monitoring Schedule. 

7. Prices & Payment

Tenderers will be asked to include all their prices in the pricing schedule in the Tender 
Response document, so this section should set out any rules for the prices they 
charge, how this needs to be shown in the schedule; and when they can expect to 
receive payment.  You should consider the following elements:

 Is pricing to be firm for the whole of the contract period, or will they be permitted 
increases at any point during the contract term;

 All prices and hourly rates in the tender submission should include all travelling 
costs, subsistence and expenses;

 Frequency of payment – should this be on regular basis or will this be triggered 
by satisfactory completion of key stages of the work.

The Councils standard payment terms (30 days from invoice date) will be included in 
the terms and conditions of contract.  

Page 195



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 31

8. Business Continuity Plans & Disaster Recover Plans

Is this a service that has been identified as a critical function in your level 2 Business 
Continuity Plan?  

 If YES then you need to specify, request and score the tenderers Business 
Continuity Plan (BCP) as part of the evaluation process.  

 If NO then still consider the benefits of asking for their BCP to ensure they have 
plans in place to guarantee continuity of the service should their business be 
affected by fire or flood.

9. Social Value

The Council is obliged to consider including Social Value in contracts that exceed the 
EU threshold (£181,000).  This can include Social, Environmental or Economic 
benefits for the local community.

If you identify a specific social value in the commissioning process you can embed this 
requirement in the contract specification, alternatively you can ask tenderers to put 
forward their own social value in their tender response which you can score as part of 
the evaluation.

10. Other Matters

The following matters should be included if relevant to the contract.  These have only 
been listed as bullet points, so you will need to contact the relevant departments (in 
brackets) for each if you need further advice:

 Sustainability & Environmental (Finance)
 Safeguarding – if the service will involve the supplier being in contact with 

vulnerable adults or children then this should be made clear in the detailed 
requirements and DBS checks will be required (Human Resources)

 TUPE – ask the current supplier if TUPE applies, if yes then you will need to 
make this clear in both the contract notice and the tender specification.  Ensure 
that further time is factored into your tender timetable to allow for requests for 
TUPE information form tenderers and to allow the existing supplier to consult 
with their staff, contact HR for further advice.

 Are there any specific health & safety implications  (H & S Officer)
 Risk Management Assessments (Insurance)
 Equality Impact Assessments (Human Resources)
 Works contracts – have CDM regulations been taken account of (Procurement)
 Software contracts – have you consulted with the ICT – Group Manager to 

discuss your requirements
 Consultant contracts – consider the need to build in extensions to contracts, 

should additional similar work be requirement following the original contract, or 
appearance at public enquiries.

Page 196



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 32

APPENDIX A

CHANGES THAT CAN OCCUR DURING THE LIFETIME OF A 
CONTRACT 

To try and identify some changes that might occur during the lifetime of a contract here are 
some questions you may wish to consider: 

1. Careful thought should be given to the duration of the contract. Is there a 
possibility the contract may need to be extended?  In construction or professional services 
contracts, it may sometimes be desirable to retain the professionals for a short period 
following completion of the building or consultancy work for additional advice or pieces of 
work, and this needs to be taken account of in the period of the contract that is specified. 

2. Is there a possibility the value of the contract will either increase or decrease (e.g. 
more money becomes available in a monitoring round or new users come online which 
results in a greater than anticipated spend or budget reductions result in a lower than 
anticipated spend)? 

3. Will the contract prices need to be adjusted in line with a price index such as the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI)? Consider this as part of the specification and use a 
relevant index. 

4. Is there a likelihood that legislation may change or that minor changes may need 
to be made?  There are clauses in the standard Terms and Conditions of Contract which 
cater for changes in law, there is also a Change control procedure which will allow for 
minor (mutually agreed) changes to the contract. 

5. How can the contract be future proofed to cater for changes to technology? Have 
you considered hardware and software refresh needs (e.g. future releases and 
developments and interoperability with other IT systems)? Pre-market engagement might 
help identify new technologies which may become available further down the line. 

6. How, during the lifetime of the contract, can innovation and continuous 
improvement be encouraged to identify better ways of doing things (e.g. through 
gain/profit share). Pre-market engagement might assist with this. The contract could 
include a requirement that during year X there will be a meeting between the contractor 
and the client to identify cost savings across the remainder of the period. 

 

Page 197



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 33

SECTION ELEVEN. 
TENDERING RULES

1. The way the Council conducts its procurement activities will depend on both the 
value and the legislation that applies.
Although tenders that are below the OJEU thresholds need not comply with the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the principles of the Regulations with 
regards to openness, transparency and equal treatment still apply to all 
tendering activities of the Council, regardless of the value. In all circumstances 
officers are required to consult the commissioning and procurement team before 
any activity has commenced.  The commissioning and procurement team will 
advise on the most appropriate route for the supplies, services or works to be 
tendered and on the timescales required.

Where supplies, services or works are included under a corporate contract then 
under no circumstances shall other arrangements be entered into without the 
prior consent of the commissioning and procurement team.

The commissioning and procurement team will carry out all procurement 
activities for contracts valued at £75,000 and above, unless the Group Manager 
Procurement & Contracted Services has agreed in writing to the tender being 
undertaken as a collaborative arrangement with another organisation 
undertaking the lead authority role. 

2. Completion of a Tender Requisition Form
Client officers will be required to fully complete a Tender Requisition Form 
(TRF) before the commissioning process commences using the standard form 
that is maintained by the Corporate Procurement Team (see Appendix 1). 
(When tendering for fleet vehicles a Corporate Fleet Application Form can be 
used instead of a TRF) 
The TRF shall set out:
2.1 The requirement and award criteria 
2.2 The rationale which may include a business case or options appraisals
2.3 details of any legal or workforce considerations, such as TUPE that need 

to be taken into account
2.4 For complex procurements (those which are very high value or have legal 

or workforce implications), the TRF must be signed by the proposed 
contract decision maker prior to commencing any tendering procedures.

2.5 Where material issues identified in the TRF impact upon the procurement 
(e.g. difficulties with the current service provision, etc.) then these 
matters shall be reflected in the tender documentation and tenderers will 
be required to address such matters in their tender submissions.

3. Using a Prior Information Notice (PIN)
When is it appropriate to issue a Prior Information Notice (PIN)?
A PIN can be issued by the Council for the following situations:
 Issued at the beginning of a financial year, it can detail all the tenders (over 

EU thresholds) to be commenced over the financial year.

Page 198



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 34

 Following the decision to authorise a programme of public works
 It may be useful in creating market interest for particular tender requirements 

and to collect information for your specification.

The following rules will apply when a PIN is used:
 A standard PIN form must be completed – you should contact the 

Procurement Team who will be able to guide you through the process.
 Using a PIN will reduce some of the minimum timescales

4. Contract Notice / Public Notice
All tender notice requirements can be accessed via the Council’s e-tendering 
portal.
The following conditions will apply to each tender notice:
 The tender notice must be advertised via the Council’s e-tendering portal 
 All tender opportunities that are below the OJEU threshold must also be 

advertised on the Contracts Finder website.
 Where the contract value exceeds the OJEU threshold, the tender notice 

must be published in the Official Journal of the European Union before it 
is made available on the portal or in Contracts Finder, and must comply 
with the requirements of EU legislation

It is the responsibility of potential bidders to register on the Council’s e-tendering 
portal; however, officers can inform potential bidders where the portal is located.  

5. Tendering Procedures
The two most common methods of tendering are the open and the restricted 
procedures. Timescales will depend on the requirements of the tender.  Tenders 
subject to EU legislation are subject to strict rules and minimum timescales.

6. Open Tender
This is a single stage tender process:
Following the issue of a contract notice, Invitation to Tender (ITT) 
documentation will be made available on the e-tendering portal for any 
interested supplier to view and download.
Any minimum requirements for tenderers must be stated in the contract notice 
and the ITT documentation.  All bids must be submitted back to the Council via 
the e-tendering portal.
All tenders received must be evaluated unless they do not satisfy the minimum 
criteria, in which case they will be rejected and not scored.

7. Restricted Tender
This is a two stage tender process which can only be used on supplies and/or 
services tenders above the EU threshold.  For works tenders a PAS91 should 
be used.
Stage one – following the issue of a contract notice a Supplier Selection 
Questionnaire (SSQ) will be made available on the e-tendering portal for any 
interested supplier to view and download.  The purpose of a SSQ is to assess 

Page 199



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 35

the resources and capability of suppliers to identify those who are most capable 
of performing the contract.  There are restrictions as to the questions you can 
ask (and evaluate) in the SSQ – see section below on Selection Criteria.

Completed SQs will be evaluated against selection criteria and a number of the 
most capable suppliers will selected to be included in the next stage.

Stage Two – Invitation to Tender (ITT) the selected suppliers (from stage one) 
will be sent an ITT. 
All bids must be submitted back to the Council via the e-tendering portal.
All tenders must be evaluated in accordance with the Award Criteria stated in 
the ITT documents.

8. Other Procedures for tenders subject to EU legislation.
Other tendering procedures can be used for tenders subject to the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. These include the competitive procedure with 
negotiation and competitive dialogue.  The Concession Contract Regulations 
2016 can also be used for concession contracts (which has different 
thresholds). Any of these should only be used with the approval of the Group 
Manager – Procurement & Contracted Services or the Monitoring Officer. 

9. Instructions to Tenderers
All persons who request the tender documents must be provided with the same 
information and be subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary 
information must be given on the same basis.

10. Timescales for tender returns
Where tender values are at EU thresholds or above, then the timescales 
specified in the Public Contract Regulations will apply.
For below EU threshold tenders, a minimum of three weeks should be allowed 
for the submission on tenders.  Shorter timescales can only be permitted with 
the written approval of the Group Manager – Procurement & Contracted 
Services.
Tenderers must be given an adequate period of time to prepare a tender 
submission and the timescales for tender returns must be appropriate to the 
complexity of the tender requirements
Tender return dates may be extended (subject to the advice from an officer from 
commissioning and procurement) provided all tenderers are notified of the new 
return date and time.

11. Receipt of tenders (including Supplier Selection Questionnaires)
All tenders must be submitted through the Council’s e-tendering portal by the 
return date and time specified on the e-tendering portal.
Any tenders sent by e-mail or fax will not be accepted.
Any tender sent after the return date and time will automatically be rejected by 
the e-tendering portal.
It will be the responsibility of the tenderers to allow sufficient time to upload their 
tender submissions

Page 200



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 36

12. Selection Criteria and Award Criteria.
The commissioning and procurement team will be able to advise on suitable 
criteria and the rules surrounding these, however a brief explanation of each is 
given below.

13. Selection Criteria.
Selection criteria are used at the SSQ stage.  The criteria and how it will be 
scored must be stated clearly in the SSQ documentation.  Any questions asked 
(and included in the scoring) must be in relation to their:

 economic & financial standing –  see Financial vetting below
 technical & professional ability
 criteria for rejection

14. Evaluation Criteria
The majority of tenders are evaluated on the Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender (MEAT).  This is a mixture of the criteria which can include: price, 
quality, technical merit, Technical ability, aesthetic & functional characteristics, 
environmental characteristics, running costs, cost effectiveness, after sales 
service, technical assistance, delivery date, delivery period and period of 
completion.
Price should always be evaluated on a whole life cost basis
The criteria must be linked to the subject matter of the contract and the 
weighting should be proportionate and must be stated in the tender documents 
with the corresponding scoring.
When using the open procedure is it also acceptable to state some minimum 
criteria (on a pass/fail basis) regarding the tenderers previous experience or 
technical skills/qualifications.

15. Financial vetting 
15.1 In accordance with Financial Regulations, the Section 151 Officer’s 

procedures in relation to Financial Vetting shall apply to tender exercises 
above £75,000 or where deemed necessary by the Council’s 
Commissioning and Procurement Team or the Council’s Financial 
Services Team.

15.2 For a single stage tender process (open tender) the Council will always 
carry out a financial appraisal on the winning bidder prior to obtaining 
formal approval to award the contract.

15.3 For a two stage tender process (restricted tender) the Council will carry 
out a financial appraisal on all bidders who submit a Standard Selection 
Questionnaire (SQ) or a PAS 91 Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ). 
The Council may also choose to carry out further financial vetting on the 
winning bidder prior to obtaining formal award. This decision will rest with 
the Council Section 151 Officer.  .

15.4 Where an assessment has been carried out in accordance with the 
Financial Vetting Procedure, proper advice shall be taken from the 

Page 201



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 37

Section 151 Officer or Group Manager of Financial Services as to the 
level and scale of securities such as:
15.4.1 Bonds
15.4.2 Parent company guarantees
15.4.3 Deposits
15.4.4 Guarantees

16. Insurances
All potential contractors should be required to produce evidence of insurance,
15.1 Employers liability, 
15.2 Public liability,
15.3 Professional Indemnity (professional negligence)
15.4 Bonds etc.
15.5 Products cover
To such standards as may be prescribed the Section 151 Officer or Insurance & 
Risk Manager and the required values are set out in Appendix Eleven.

17. Opening of Tenders
The e-tendering portal will only allow for tender returns to be opened once 
the tender return date has closed for bidders. 

18. Acceptance and evaluation of tenders
17.1 Where the minimum number of tenders to be invited has not been 

received (Restricted procedure only) written agreement to proceed to the 
evaluation of the tenders must be obtained by any officer of the 
procurement team. 

17.2 All arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors 
are found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be 
requested to confirm or withdraw their Tender. 

17.3 In the event that post tender submission clarifications are required, 
advice should be obtained by any officer from the procurement team prior 
to providing any clarifications via the e-tendering portal.

17.4 Tenders must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the 
evaluation criteria. During this process, Officers shall ensure that the 
tender price of the highest scoring tenderer is within the budget allocated, 
prior to obtaining approval for award.

19. Notifying tenderers on the outcome of the tender exercise and De-brief on 
the tender scoring.
18.1 Written approval in the form of a signed ‘Award Certificate’, an Officer 

Decision Record Sheet (ODRS) published on ‘Modern Gov’ or a signed 
‘PH Decision Sheet’ must be in place before notifying tenderers on the 
outcome of a tender exercise.

Page 202



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 38

18.2 Both successful and unsuccessful tenderers must be notified 
simultaneously via the e-tendering portal, as soon as possible after the 
decision to accept the winning tender has been approved. Contract 
award notification template letters are available from the commissioning 
and procurement team.

18.3 If the tender is subject to Public Contract Regulations - a ‘standstill’ 
period’ (also known as the Alcatel period) will apply, during which 
unsuccessful tenderers may challenge the decision.  The standstill period 
timescale will be a minimum of ten consecutive days which will 
commence on the next working date after the tenderers are notified and 
will end ten days later unless the tenth day is not a working day in which 
case the last standstill day will be the next working day.

18.4 If a decision is challenged by an unsuccessful tenderer during the 
standstill period then the contract must not be entered into and the 
Officer must immediately seek the advice of the Group Manager - 
Procurement & Contracted Services.

18.5 The de-brief letter sent to each unsuccessful bidder must show for each 
of the award criteria the score of the winning bid, the score of the 
unsuccessful tenderer and notes on how the unsuccessful tender 
submission compared to the characteristics and relative advantages of 
the winning bid.  No other information should be given without the advice 
of the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services.

20. Award Notice for:
Contracts over EU thresholds
As soon as the contract has been signed it is a mandatory requirement to 
submit an award notice which will appear in the Official Journal of the European 
Union (OJEU) and the e-tendering portal. The award notice must be completed 
through the e-tendering portal.

21. Under EU thresholds
For below EU threshold contracts, the submission of an award notice must be 
undertaken on the e-tendering portal and published on Contracts Finder.

22. Records to be maintained

21.1 Pre-tender information including: market research and any consultation 
information, business cases, options appraisals and reports including 
reports obtained from any external organisations e.g. consultants.

21.2 The Tender Requisition Form
21.3 All tenders projects must be archived on the e-tendering portal and all 

tender communications and decisions records maintained by the 
commissioning and procurement team and made available for inspection 
by the Section 151 and Monitoring Officers for the greater of:
21.3.1 Such timescale that is prescribed by law, or

Page 203



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 39

21.3.2 A minimum period of six years plus the current financial year, or
21.3.3 Such period as is prescribed by the Council’s Document Retention 

Procedure.

21.4 Records to be maintained for all tenders:
21.4.1 All pre-qualification questionnaire documentation and all tender 

documentation made available to the tenderers
21.4.2 All communications regarding clarification on SSQ and tender 

documentation from the potential tenderers.
21.4.3 All tender submissions
21.4.4 Evaluation documentation which must include the award criteria, 

the evaluation matrix, scores awarded to each tenderers against 
each criteria and the corresponding reasons for each score. 

21.4.5 Award Decision (e.g. the contract award certificate, ODRS or the 
PH Decision Sheet) and the reasons for it

21.4.6 Any tendering exceptions together with the reasons for it
21.4.7 All tender clarification communications
21.4.8 The signed contract documents
21.4.9 All contract monitoring documentation during the contract period. 

23. Framework Agreements
A ‘framework agreement' is ‘an agreement between one or more contracting 
authorities and one or more economic operators, the purpose of which is to 
establish the terms governing contracts to be awarded during a given period, in 
particular with regard to price and, where appropriate, the quantity envisaged.'

24. Using another organisations framework agreement
A framework agreement can only be used providing the following criteria are 
satisfied:
 The Council is legally entitled to use the framework contract.
 The goods, services or works to be procured must properly fall within the 

framework contract.
 The framework contract must comply with EU legislation (where these 

apply) and meet these Standing Orders
 Unless a direct award is permitted under the framework; a further mini-

competition process must be run which must include inviting all the 
suppliers on the framework for the goods, services or works required.  This 
is sometimes referred to as a ‘mini-tender’ competition

 The terms and conditions of the framework will apply.
 The award criteria stated in the framework contract must be used to 

evaluate any tender submissions.

25. Tendering for a framework agreement
 The term of a framework must not exceed four years except in exceptional 

circumstances.
 The framework must comply with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and 

these Standing Orders.

Page 204



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 40

 A framework agreement may be awarded to one provider; however, when it 
is decided to award to more than one provider on a multi-supplier framework 
this must be a minimum of two.

 The tender advert must clearly state all of the public sector organisations 
which will be able to access the framework contract.

26. Collaborative Contracts
These are contracts involving procurement with one or more public sector 
bodies.
25.1 In order to secure value for money, the Council may enter into 

collaborative procurement arrangements. The Officer must take advice 
from the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services where 
procurement is to be made using collaborative procurement 
arrangements with another local authority, government department, 
statutory undertaker or public service purchasing consortium.

25.2 Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other local 
authorities or other public bodies, where a competitive process has been 
followed that complies with the contract procedure rules of the leading 
organisation will be deemed to comply with these Standing Orders and 
no exemption is required. However, where such a situation occurs, the 
written advice of the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services 
must have been taken prior to letting a contract or granting an extension.

27. Extensions to Existing Contracts
A contract can only be extended if the option to extend has been allowed for 
within the terms of the existing contract, for the period specified, and where it is 
in the Council’s interests to extend the arrangement on same terms and pricing 
as in the initial contract period.
26.1 Any extension must be: 

26.1.1 fully documented 
26.1.2 subject to a written report to be submitted to the Group Manager 

Procurement & Contracted Services; which shall include reasons 
for the extension

26.1.3 Subject to approval by the Officer with the relevant authority who 
shall record that they have considered the reasons for the 
extension and that they are satisfied that the circumstances 
justifying the extension are in the interests of the Council.

26.1.4 subject to the EU procurement rules and, in particular, the 
maximum duration of framework agreements and the aggregations 
rules. A contract extension cannot operate in breach of EU law.

In the event that the Officer with the relevant authority believes that the 
proposed extension is a “key decision”, then full consideration must be given to 
whether the decision to extend the contract needs to be referred to the Portfolio 
Holder or Cabinet as may be appropriate under the circumstances.

Page 205



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 41

28. Starting work
27.1 the Supplier/Contractor must not be allowed to start on a contract until all 

the contract documentation is in place and the Supplier/Contractor and 
the Council has signed it or the contract has been executed if under seal.

Page 206



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 42

SECTION TWELVE
TENDERING EXCEPTIONS

These tendering exceptions do not apply to contract values of EU threshold and above 
unless it is specifically stated. A contract award certificate, or Officer Decision Record 
Sheet will need to be produced for any contract awarded using a tendering exception. 
Only members of the commissioning and procurement team can authorise the use of 
these exceptions.

1 Framework agreements that have already been awarded by other public sector 
bodies can be used by the Council provided such use is permitted by that 
Contract’s terms and conditions and subject to the approval of any officer from 
the procurement team.  Provided that the tendering of the framework has 
complied with the Public Contract Regulations 2015, then this exception can be 
used for values over the EU threshold

2 Tenders may also be dispensed with where the proposed contract genuinely 
falls within one of the following exceptions:
2.1 Quotations up to and including £74,999 in respect of supplies, services or 

works. Quotation procedures must comply with Sections 5 & 6 of the 
Procurement Standing orders. In any event, the placing of an order must 
be carried out in accordance with the Council's Financial Regulations.

2.2 Urgent supplies, services or works as necessary for the protection of life 
or property or to maintain the functioning of a public service for which the 
Council is responsible (or if there are a number of public service 
implications that also include any responsibility of Hertfordshire County 
Council). A record of the supplies, services or works together with the 
nature of the urgency must be passed to the Group Manager – 
Procurement & Contracted Services within five working days of the 
decision being taken.

2.3 Where supplies, services or works are available from Hertfordshire 
County Council or other public sector authorities under collaborative 
procurement arrangements. Provided that the tendering of the 
arrangement has complied with the Public Contract Regulations 2015, 
then this exception can be used for values over the EU threshold

2.4 Supplies, services or works for:
 the repair or enhancement of existing proprietary machinery, plant 

or equipment;
 Software maintenance;
 Supplies, Services or works from government departments, 

government owned companies, public sector organisations and 
non-departmental public bodies ( or similar organisations -this is 
not an exhaustive list);

 Where there is no other reasonable alternative supplier.

Page 207



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 43

2.5 Cabinet Portfolio Holder (or officer approval if there is a delegated 
authority in place) approval has been obtained to extend an existing 
contract (subject to the existing Contract being capable of such an 
extension).  If the original contract was tendered in accordance with EU 
legislation, then this exception can be used for values over the EU 
threshold

Page 208



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 44

SECTION THIRTEEN
CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

The two embedded documents below are guidance on contract management and 
supplier relationship management, they should be read in conjunction with this section 
13 of the standing orders.

Contract 
Management Guide v8.docx

Supplier 
Relationship Management V7.docx

1. Managing contracts

1.1 It is the responsibility of Corporate Directors to ensure that any non-
corporate contracts that are awarded from within their Directorates 
budgets have appropriate management arrangements in place for 
monitoring performance, cost control and compliance with the contract.

1.2 Corporate Directors, Assistant Directors or Group Managers shall provide 
the name of the contract manager for contracts and this shall be 
documented in the Council’s Contract Register.

2. Contract Officer Responsibilities

2.1 Contract Officers must 

 Understand the content, processes and deliverables of the contract.
 Ensure that good communication exists between the contractor and 

DBC.
 Ensure that the supplier delivers the service according to the contract.
 Ensure that the suppliers maintain all insurances and policies required 

by the contract
 Monitor supplier performance and standards of delivery of the service.
 Undertake regular reviews of performance with stakeholders.
 Monitor the financial stability of the contractor or supplier and that, if 

required, suitable bonds or PCG are in place.
 Manage negotiations regarding changes to the contract to deliver 

further savings and value for money.
 Ensure risks are identified and contingency plans are in place.
 Ensure payments are made according to the contract and delivery of 

service.
 Prepare an exit strategy for contract end.

Page 209



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 45

3. Contract Register

3.1 All contracts that are valued at £5,000 and above shall be recorded in the 
Council’s Contract Register which shall be maintained by the 
procurement team.

4. Risk registers

4.1 For all key Council contracts and contracts with a value above the EU 
threshold, contract managers must:

4.2 Maintain a risk register during the contract period
4.3 Undertake appropriate risk assessments 
4.4 For identified risks ensure contingency measures are in place.
4.5 The threshold set out in clause 4.1 may be reduced by the Group 

Manager Procurement & Contracted Services to any other contract where 
he considers that risk registers should be in place.

5. Contract monitoring and review

5.1 All key Council contracts or contracts which have a value above the EU 
threshold are to be subject to monthly formal review meeting between the 
contract manager and the contractor. The review may be conducted 
quarterly if permitted by the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted 
Services. The meetings held between the Council and the contractor 
should be documented and recorded as formal meeting minutes and/or 
action notes.

5.2 During the life of any contract, the contract manager must monitor, record 
and report on any key performance indicators that are specified in 
contract in addition to the following areas:

5.2.1 Performance
5.2.2 Compliance with specification and contract cost
5.2.3 Any ‘value for money’ requirements
5.2.4 User satisfaction and risk management.

5.3 For all key Council contracts or contracts with a value above the EU 
threshold, a quarterly report (or more frequent if desired) must be 
submitted to the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services for 
reporting to the Performance Board.

Page 210



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 46

6. Contract variation and negotiation

6.1 Negotiation and managing change over the life of a contract is integral to 
the contract manager’s role however,

6.1.1 Negotiation is prohibited on price between award and mobilisation 
of a contract of OJEU threshold level and above. 

6.2 The Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services must be 
consulted where the proposed changes to an existing contract 

 Add to or expand the scope of the contract to include services not 
originally covered.

 Introduces criteria that would have allowed another supplier to bid 
and win the work. 

 It changes the economic balance of the contract in favour of the 
contractor in a manner which was not provided for in the terms of 
the initial contract.

7. Breach and protection against the consequences of failure by the 
contractor

Please note that this is not intended to be a comprehensive legal summary and 
any contractual action needs to be considered carefully with appropriate advice

7.1 In general all contracts will contain various clauses and methods for 
tackling poor performance with the contractor depending on value and 
strategic importance to the authority, including a formal dispute resolution 
process

7.2 Contract managers must work closely with Suppliers to ensure that the 
specified services are delivered and any problems are resolved as 
quickly as possible.

7.3 On a day to day basis the contract manager should alert the supplier to 
any failures of service and monitor changes put in place to ensure that 
there is a satisfactory resolution and processes put in place to prevent 
reoccurrence.  If the failure continues then a more formal approach may 
be required as provided for in the contract.

7.4 If a contract manager considers that poor performance by the supplier 
can only be resolved through a formal contractual action they must first 
consult the Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services for 
advice and support.

7.5 If the supplier has committed a default as defined in the contract and the 
default is capable of remediation then the Council may not cancel the 
contract without first operating a Remediation Plan process. 

Page 211



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 47

7.6 The Remediation Plan process requires the supplier to submit a plan on 
how it is going to tackle the issues and rectify the situation. It must 
include how it is to be implemented and the timescales for the actions to 
be undertaken. After this process if the default continues or the supplier 
declines to submit a remediation plan the authority may terminate the 
contract.

7.7 The authority also can exercise Step in Rights if the situation constitutes 
an emergency. This action may only be taken after consultation with the 
Group Manager Procurement & Contracted Services

7.8 The contract will also provide for termination of the contract without 
default however costs will be payable to the supplier that cover the 
difference between the charges and costs of delivery of the services for 
the remainder of the term of the contract. 

8. Contract Payment & Variation

8.1 Services and supplies contracts
8.1.1 The appropriate Corporate Director, or an employee duly 

authorised, should check that the goods have been received and 
that the prices charged and any additions in respect of VAT are 
correct whereupon the invoice should be marked as checked and 
certified for payment by an employee duly authorised in that 
behalf.

8.2 Works contracts up to and including £100,000
8.2.1 Payment may be made on production of invoices certified by an 

employee authorised by the appropriate Corporate Director. The 
names of employees so authorised must be sent to the Section 
151 Officer together with specimen signatures and level of the 
authority of the employees so authorised.  A contract manager 
may at his or her discretion require payment to be made only on 
certificate in accordance with clause 8.3.1 to 8.3.4 inclusive.

8.3 Works contracts above £100,000
8.3.1 Payment may only be made on the appropriate contract manager’s 

certificate in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
contract.

8.3.2 Each certificate shall state the value of the work executed to date, 
retention monies, amount paid to date, the amount now certified 
and any VAT applicable thereto.

8.3.3 Each certificate shall be signed by the contract manager and, 
where such officer is not an employee of the Council, 
countersigned by the appropriate Corporate Director or an 
employee duly authorised in accordance with clause 8.2 above.

Page 212



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 48

8.3.4 Each duly signed payment certificate shall be despatched to 
Financial Services in sufficient time to enable payment to be made 
in accordance with the contract.

8.4 Variation orders / architect’s instructions

8.5.1 Every variation on a works contract shall be authorised in writing 
by the contract manager.

8.5.2 The contract manager shall enter an estimate of the increase or 
reduction in cost arising out of the variation.

8.5.3 Variations on contracts where the original contract sum or 
approved budgetary expenditure was £10,000 or more must be 
reported to the appropriate contract decision maker if the variation 
necessitates an increase of £5,000 or 2% above the approved 
budget/contract sum whichever is the greater.

8.6 Construction Industry Scheme
8.6.1 Under the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 as amended, 

any contractor working for the Council is deemed to be a sub-
contractor and payments to him or her must be made after 
deduction of tax unless exempt.  A schedule of exempt contractors 
is maintained by the Section 151 Officer who must be notified of 
any additions.

8.6.2 The contractor should be asked for production of a current 
exemption certificate or certifying document as appropriate 
showing that payments may be made without tax deduction.

8.6.3 The invoice or payment certificate must be marked to show:

8.6.3.1 The date of expiry of the exemption.

8.6.3.2 A split showing the value of labour and materials included 
in the payment.

8.6.4 The duly certified invoice or payment certificate should then be 
forwarded to Financial Services in sufficient time to enable 
payment to be made in accordance with the contract, and any tax 
to be deducted as appropriate.

8.7 Final certificates
8.6.1 Subject to the conditions of contract, the Section 151 Officer has 

the right to review a statement/final account, together with any 
supporting documentation relating to prime costs, provisional 

Page 213



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 49

sums, additions, deletions and variations, before the final 
certificate is authorised for payment.

8.6.2 Statements/final accounts for all other contracts must be retained 
by the Group Manager of the procuring service and made available 
for inspection by the Section 151 Officer for a period of six years 
plus the current financial year.

8.6.3 The final ascertained cost of all building and construction works 
contracts shall be reported by the Section 151 Officer to the 
appropriate contract decision maker.

Page 214



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 50

SECTION FOURTEEN
APPENDICES

Page 215



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 51

APPENDIX ONE
TENDER REQUISITION FORM (Version 5)

Question Response
Tender name

Corporate Procurement 
reference

Client officer Name Job Title

Department / Team

Type of requirement (delete as 
appropriate) Services / Service & Supply/ Supply  only / Supply & Works / Works
If a ‘Service’ - Has this been 
identified as a critical function in 
your level 2 Business 
Continuity Plan

YES/NO
If YES, then you must ensure that a robust business continuity plan is 
requested in your specification/tender response and scored as part of the 
tender evaluation.  This can then be included in the contract document 
itself.

Proposed contract period

Estimated contract value (e.g. annual value x years of 
contract)

Is this a new requirement?
delete as appropriate

YES

NO, existing contract expires on:

Description of the contract 
requirement

  

Tendering Procedure 
(delete as appropriate)

Open / Restricted / Negotiated / Competitive dialogue / require 
advice

Is Profession Indemnity 
Insurance required?  (Threshold 
of £2 million?)

YES / NO
If a higher/lower value required – 
state value here.

Is any specialist insurance cover 
required?  . YES / NO

If YES, state here or include in 
specification.

Are there any specific health & 
safety implications arising from 
this procurement?

YES / NO.
If YES, please state how  
these will be addressed

If a works contract – have the 
CDM Regulations 2015 been 
taken into consideration

YES / NO.  If YES state action required.

Is Personal Data or Special 
Category Data is to be 
processed as part of the 
contract.

YES / NO/ Not Sure.
If YES or you’re not sure – complete the Data Protection Impact 
Assessment – Procurement Pack and send to the Information 
Security Manager.

Works contracts only – VAT: 
domestic reverse charge for 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/vat-domestic-reverse-charge-for-
building-and-construction-services 

Page 216

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/vat-domestic-reverse-charge-for-building-and-construction-services
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/vat-domestic-reverse-charge-for-building-and-construction-services


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 52

building and construction 
services

Please confirm that DBC will be classified as the end user: 
YES/No

Attach your specification documents and send to Procurement with this Tender Requisition Form
If tender is complex, involves TUPE or is politically sensitive - please provide additional documents 
including. the Business Case, Options Appraisal, and Project Initiation Document

Who will manage the 
contract when awarded:

Annual budget Cost Centre(s)Budget & cost centres

Checked & approved by Finance

Assistant Director to confirm 
budget is available & agree 
requirement is to be tendered

Signed Print Name

Client Officer – signature Signed Print Name

Guidance for completing the Tender Requisition Form

Tender Name This should be the title  that the tender will be advertised under

Corporate Procurement 
Reference Leave blank – a reference number will be allocated

Client Officer Give name and job title of the officer leading the project

Type of Requirement Select only one of the 5 options given

Service in your 
departments Level 2 
Business Continuity Plan

If your level 2 business continuity plan has identified any critical functions that are 
delivered by an external service provider, you must ensure that a robust business 
continuity plan is requested in your specification and in the tender response 
documents.    Your Group Manager will be able to advise if it applies for this particular 
service

Proposed contract Period
State the contract period and any options for extending the contract thereafter

Estimated contract value This should be the aggregated value over the period of the contract and must include 
any extension options, e.g. :

 annual value x number of years (including any extension options)
 Initial purchase value + maintenance value x number of years (including any 

extension options)
 For feasibility studies - value of scheme or contracts which may be awarded as 

a result.
Is this a new 
requirement?

Select YES or NO
If no then give the expiry date of the present contract

Description of the 
contract requirement Give a brief description of the goods, services or works that are required

Page 217



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 53

Tendering Procedure Select one of the options, Procurement will be happy to advise 

Professional indemnity 
insurance

This is normally required where a supplier would be giving us professional advice.    The 
Councils standard cover required is   £2 million.  You should ask the Council’s Insurance 
& Risk Officer for advice on cover for less or more than this.

Specialist Insurance If you require any specialist insurance then please consult the Council’s Insurance & 
Risk Officer for advice on the cover required.

Are there any specific 
health & safety 
implications 

If  YES, state  how you will address these

If a works contract – have 
the CDM Regulations 
2015 been taken into 
consideration

If YES state action required

Is Personal Data or 
Special Category Data is 
to be processed as part of 
the contract.

Link to Data Protection Impact Assessment – Procurement Pack below:
http://dennis/Docs/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/Docs/Documents/Infor
mation%20Management%20and%20Security/GDPR/Privacy%20Impact%20Assessment
/Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20-
%20Procurement%20Pack.docx&action=default
Once completed you should send to the Information Security Officer who will be able 
to advise you on any requirements that will need to be included in your tender 
specification.

Attach your specification Send to Procurement the specification, any draft evaluation criteria or other relevant 
documents for the tender process.  If tender is complex, involves TUPE or is politically 
sensitive – you should provide the. Business Case, Options Appraisal, and Project 
Initiation Document

Who will manage the 
contract when awarded

State who will manage the contract, this person should also be involved in the tender 
and evaluation process.

Budget & Cost Centre
Approval by Finance

Provide details of your available budget and the relevant cost centres.  This will also 
need to be approved by your accountant in finance, before you send the form to 
Procurement

Assistant Director 
Signature

This is sign off from your Assistant Director that they are giving permission to tender 
the service/requirement

Client Officer Signature This is your permission to proceed with the tender process.

Timescales for tenders vary depending on complexity of the process, the approval process, TUPE 
transfer and lead- in times to contract.  Please check with Procurement on the tender timescales. 

Page 218

http://dennis/Docs/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/Docs/Documents/Information%20Management%20and%20Security/GDPR/Privacy%20Impact%20Assessment/Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Procurement%20Pack.docx&action=default
http://dennis/Docs/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/Docs/Documents/Information%20Management%20and%20Security/GDPR/Privacy%20Impact%20Assessment/Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Procurement%20Pack.docx&action=default
http://dennis/Docs/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/Docs/Documents/Information%20Management%20and%20Security/GDPR/Privacy%20Impact%20Assessment/Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Procurement%20Pack.docx&action=default
http://dennis/Docs/_layouts/15/WopiFrame.aspx?sourcedoc=/Docs/Documents/Information%20Management%20and%20Security/GDPR/Privacy%20Impact%20Assessment/Data%20Protection%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Procurement%20Pack.docx&action=default


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 54

APPENDIX TWO
POLICIES, STRATEGIES & LEGISLATION.

The following strategies, polices, legislation and documents must be considered during 
the commissioning process.

Level One Corporate Business Continuity Plan
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FResilience%2FServi
ce%20Level%20Business%20Continuity%20Plans

Public Services Social Value Act 2012
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-value-act-information-and-resources/social-value-
act-information-and-resources

The following policies can be found on DENNIS Policy & procedures:
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2fDocs%2fDocuments%2fPolices%20%2d%20P
rocedures%20%2d%20Sustainability%20Tool%20Kit%2fPolicies&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6
DBCF9CAE03911

 Policy Statement on Social Value 
 Children & Young People Safeguarding Policy & Procedures 2018  

Corporate Plan
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/council-democracy/vision-priorities 

Equality & Diversity Strategy (2018 – 2021)
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2002%
20-%20Equal%20Opportunities/Equality%20and%20Diversity%20Strategy.pdf

Sustainability
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/environment-street-care/climate-change 

Bribery Act 2010
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents

TUPE
https://www.acas.org.uk/tupe

Health and Safety at Work
http://www.hse.gov.uk/guidance/index.htm

The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/51/contents/made

Financial Regulations
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/finance-regs-review-july-2017-(post-audit-
committee).pdf?sfvrsn=2 

Freedom of Information Act (Information Management & Security)  
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Man
agement%20and%20Security%2FFreedom%20of%20Information%20Act%202000

National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2018
https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy 

Page 219

http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FResilience%2FService%20Level%20Business%20Continuity%20Plans
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FResilience%2FService%20Level%20Business%20Continuity%20Plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-value-act-information-and-resources/social-value-act-information-and-resources
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-value-act-information-and-resources/social-value-act-information-and-resources
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2fDocs%2fDocuments%2fPolices%20-%20Procedures%20-%20Sustainability%20Tool%20Kit%2fPolicies&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2fDocs%2fDocuments%2fPolices%20-%20Procedures%20-%20Sustainability%20Tool%20Kit%2fPolicies&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2fDocs%2fDocuments%2fPolices%20-%20Procedures%20-%20Sustainability%20Tool%20Kit%2fPolicies&FolderCTID=0x012000C990015FAD2BBD4D8D6DBCF9CAE03911
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/council-democracy/vision-priorities
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/council-democracy/vision-priorities
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2002%20-%20Equal%20Opportunities/Equality%20and%20Diversity%20Strategy.pdf
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Employment%20Handbook/Employment%20Handbook/Section%2002%20-%20Equal%20Opportunities/Equality%20and%20Diversity%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/environment-street-care/climate-change
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/home/environment-street-care/climate-change
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
https://www.acas.org.uk/tupe
http://www.hse.gov.uk/guidance/index.htm
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/51/contents/made
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/finance-regs-review-july-2017-(post-audit-committee).pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/council-democracy/finance-regs-review-july-2017-(post-audit-committee).pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FFreedom%20of%20Information%20Act%202000
http://dennis/Docs/Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?RootFolder=%2FDocs%2FDocuments%2FInformation%20Management%20and%20Security%2FFreedom%20of%20Information%20Act%202000
https://www.local.gov.uk/national-procurement-strategy


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 55

Guidance and templates for the following can be found on DENNIS in the Document 
Centre

 Community Impact Assessment
 Sustainability Impact Assessment

This is not an exhaustible list and other documents not listed here may be relevant to 
the particular service, supply or works you require.

Page 220



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 56

APPENDIX THREE
EUROPEAN UNION PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS

The E.U. procurement rules apply where the value of the contract exceeds the relevant 
thresholds. The thresholds change on a regular basis and so it is important to check 
the current values with the commissioning & procurement team.

The thresholds, as at 1 January 2018 are:

Category £ Sterling Euro
Services £181,302  €221,000
Supplies £181,302  €221,000
Services (Light Touch) £615,278 €750,000
Works £4,551,413 €5,548,000
Concession Contracts £4,551,413 €5,548,000

Please note that the thresholds are reviewed every two years and can go up as well as 
down: the next review is due in January 2020.

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (Statutory Instrument 2015 No. 102) were laid 
in Parliament on 5 February 2015 and came into force on 26 February 2015. The new 
public procurement rules apply to new procurement exercises commenced on or after 
26 February, subject to a small number of exceptions listed in the Regulations.

The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (“CCR 2016”) are in force from 18 
April 2016 in relation to all in-scope concessions advertised in the OJEU on or after 
that date, whether by a contracting authority or by a utility. The CCR 2016 apply to 
over threshold public works concessions and public services concessions.

Leaving the European Union (BREXIT)
In the event that the UK leaves the European Union without a deal, then the Public 
Contract Regulations (as and when updated) will take precedence over any previous 
EU legislation.

Page 221



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 57

APPENDIX FOUR  
TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS

The Local government transparency code 2015 can be found by clicking on the 
following link.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-
2015

All local authorities will be required to publish as minimum:

1. Details of all invitation to tenders for contracts to provide goods and/or 
services with a value that exceeds £5,000 on a quarterly basis.
For each invitation the following details must be published: 

1.1. reference number
1.2. title 
1.3. description of the goods and/or services sought 
1.4. start, end and review dates
1.5. Local authority department responsible.

2. Details of any contract, commissioned activity, purchase order, framework 
agreement and any other legally enforceable agreements with a value that 
exceeds £5,000 on a quarterly basis.
For each contract the following details must be published:

2.1. reference number
2.2. title of agreement
2.3. local authority department responsible
2.4. description of the goods and/or services being provided
2.5. supplier name & details
2.6. sum to be paid over the length of the contract or the estimated annual 
           Spending or budget for the contract
2.7.     Start, end & review dates
2.8. whether or not the contract was the result of an invitation to quote or a 

published invitation to tender
2.9. Whether or not the supplier is a small or medium sized enterprise and/or 

a voluntary or community sector organisation and where it is, provide the 
relevant registration number.

3.  Tenders and/or Invitations to Quote;
Recommendation to place on Contracts Finder, as well as any other local portal 
every ITT or ITQ for goods and /or services over £10,000.

4. There is some flexibility on how the above information can be published, it 
can be:

a) Published on a contract register; or
b) The requirements can be met by publication of documents; e.g. contracts 

purchase orders, etc. that will include all the details required

Page 222

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015


COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 58

5.  The following are discretionary recommendations:
 Local authorities are encouraged to:

5.1 It is recommended that local authorities place on Contracts Finder, as well as 
any other local portal, every invitation to tender or invitation to quote for 
contracts to provide goods and/or services with a value that exceeds £10,000. 
For each invitation, the details that should be published are the same as those 
set out in paragraph 1 above. 

5.2 It is recommended that local authorities should go further than the minimum 
publication requirements and publish: 

 information on a monthly instead of quarterly basis, or ideally, as soon as 
it is generated and therefore becomes available (commonly known as 
‘real-time’ publication) 

 Every invitation to tender for contracts to provide goods and/or services 
with a value that exceeds £500 instead of £5,000. The details that should 
be published are the same as those set out in paragraph 1 above 

 Details of invitations to quote where there has not been a formal invitation 
to tender. The details that should be published are the same as those set 
out in paragraph 1 above 

 all contracts in their entirety where the value of the contract exceeds 
£5,000 

 company registration number at Companies House 

 Details of invitations to tender or invitations to quote that are likely to be 
issued in the next twelve months. The details that should be published 
are the same as those set out in paragraph 1 above 

 details of the geographical (e.g. by ward) coverage of contracts entered 
into by the local authority 

 details of performance against contractual key performance indicators, 
and 

 information disaggregated by voluntary and community sector category 
(e.g. whether it is registered with Companies House, Charity or 
Charitable Incorporated Organisation, Community Interest Company, 
Industrial and Provident Society, Housing Association, etc.). 

Page 223



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 59

APPENDIX FIVE  

TERMS & CONDITIONS TO BE USED IN TENDER DOCUMENTATION.

Supplies: Please refer to the commissioning & procurement team for latest version 
of the terms & conditions for a supplies contract

Services:  Please refer to the commissioning & procurement team for latest version 
of the terms & conditions for a services contract

Works: In accordance with the relevant JCT or NEC contract terms & conditions

Page 224



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 60

 APPENDIX SIX

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Agent 
A person or organisation acting on behalf of the Council or on behalf of another 
organisation.

Award criteria 
The criteria by which the successful Quotation or Tender is to be scored 

Award procedure 
The approval procedure for awarding a contract.

Bond 
An insurance policy: if the contractor does not do what it has promised under a 
contract with the Council, the Council can claim from the insurer the sum of money 
specified in the bond (sometimes 10% of the contract value). A bond is intended to 
protect the Council against a level of cost arising from the contractor’s failure.

Cabinet 
The Council’s Cabinet as defined in the Constitution.

Section 151 Officer
The Director of Finance & Corporate Services or such other Officer as may be 
designated the Section 151 Officer by the Council.

Chief Officer 
The Officers defined as such in the Constitution. A Chief Officer is also known as a 
Director and, for the purposes of these Standing Orders, the Chief Executive is also a 
Chief Officer.

Codes of Conduct 
The codes regulating the conduct of officers and Members.

Committee 
A committee which has power to make decisions for the Council, for example a joint 
committee with another local authority, but not an Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

Complex Procurement
Tendering exercises that:
 Have a strategic impact upon the delivery of services,

 Are critical to the Council’s reputation,

 Involve outsourcing significant functions where there are a number of disciplines 
involved, transfers of staffing, large annual payments and complexities that 

Page 225



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 61

arise from the type of work or the condition the service is in when it is 
outsourced,

 Utilise the competitive dialogue or negotiated procedures.

Constitution 
The constitutional document approved by the Council which: 
 allocates powers and responsibility within the Council and between it and others

 delegate’s authority to act to the Cabinet, Committees, Portfolio Holders and 
Officers

 regulates the behaviour of individuals and groups through

 Rules of procedure, codes and protocols.

Consultant 
Someone employed for a specific length of time to work to a defined project brief with 
clear outcomes to be delivered who brings specialist skills or knowledge to the role, 
and where the Council has no ready access to employees with the skills, experience or 
capacity to undertake the work.

Contract
The legally binding agreement to purchase or deliver services, supplies and works.

Contract or Client Officer 
The Officer designated by the Chief Officer to deal with the contract in question.

Delegated Authority
Where authority to make a decision is granted to a specific officer.

Contracting Decision 
Any of the following decisions:
 withdrawal of Invitation to Tender

 whom to invite to submit a Quotation or Tender Shortlisting

 award of contract

 Any decision to terminate a contract.

Corporate Contract 
A contract let by the Corporate Procurement Team to support the council’s aim of 
achieving value for money as further defined in Appendix Two.

EU procedures 
The tendering procedures required by the EU procurement rules where the Total Value 
of the contract exceeds the EU threshold.

Page 226



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 62

EU threshold 
The contract value at which the EU procurement rules apply.

European Economic Area 
The member states of the European Union and Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein.

Financial Regulations 
The Financial Regulations outlining officer responsibilities for financial matters issued 
by the Section 151 Officer in accordance with the Constitution.

Framework agreement 
An agreement between one or more authorities and one or more economic operators, 
the purpose of which is to establish the terms governing contracts to be awarded 
during a given period, in particular with regard to price and, where appropriate, the 
quantity envisaged.

High profile 
A high-profile purchase is one that could have an impact on functions integral to 
Council service delivery should it fail or go wrong.

High risk 
A high-risk purchase is one which presents the potential for substantial exposure on 
the Council’s part should it fail or go wrong.

High value 
A high-value purchase is where the value exceeds the EU threshold values.

Invitation to tender 
Invitation to tender documents in the form required by these commissioning and 
procurement standing orders.

Key decision 
Decisions that are defined as key decisions in the Constitution.

Line Manager 
The Officer’s immediate superior or the officer designated by the Chief Officer to 
exercise the role reserved to the line manager by these Standing Orders.

Most Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT)
Award criteria that take account of other criteria other than just price.

Monitoring Officer
The Head of Legal Services or such other Officer as may be designated the Monitoring 
Officer by the Council.
Nominated suppliers and sub-contractors 
Those persons specified in a main contract for the discharge of any part of that 
contract.

Page 227



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 63

Non-commercial considerations
 The terms and conditions of employment by contractors of their workers or the 

composition of, the arrangements for the promotion, transfer or training of or the 
other opportunities afforded to, their workforces (‘workforce matters’).

 Whether the terms on which contractor’s contract with their sub-contractors 
constitute, in the case of contracts with individuals, contracts for the provision by 
them as self-employed persons of their services only.

 Any involvement of the business activities or interests of contractors with 
irrelevant fields of government policy.

 The conduct of contractors or workers in industrial disputes between them or 
any involvement of the business activities of contractors in industrial disputes 
between other persons (‘industrial disputes’).

 The country or territory of origin of supplies to, or the location in any country or 
territory of the business activities or interests of, contractors.

 Any political, industrial or sectarian affiliations or interests of contractors or their 
directors, partners or employees.

 Financial support or lack of financial support by contractors for any institution to 
or from which the authority gives or withholds support.

 Use or non-use by contractors of technical or professional services provided by 
the authority under the Building Act 1984 or the Building (Scotland) Act 1959. 

 Workforce matters and industrial disputes, as defined in paragraphs (a) and (d), 
cease to be non-commercial considerations to the extent necessary or 
expedient to comply with Best Value; or where there is a transfer of staff to 
which the Transfer of undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 
1981 (TUPE) may apply.

Parent company guarantee 
A contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary company as follows: if the subsidiary 
company fails to do what it has promised under a contract with the council, the council 
can require the parent company to do so instead.

Portfolio Holder 
A member of the Cabinet to whom political responsibility is allocated in respect of 
specified functions.

PH Decision Sheet
A report that must be produced for decisions that require a Portfolio Holder decision.

Page 228



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 64

Priority services 
Those services required to be tendered as defined in the EU public procurement 
directives.

Procurement Strategy 
The document setting out the Council’s approach to procurement and key priorities for 
the next few years.

Quotation 
A quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without the formal issue of an 
Invitation to Tender).

Relevant contract 
Contracts to which Procurement Standing Orders apply 

Selection Criteria
Criteria that are used to determine the scoring of a SQ based upon the capability & 
financial assessment.

Selling to the Council Guide 
The guidance note that supports the implementation of Procurement Standing Orders.

Short listing 
The process of selecting Tenderers who are to be invited to quote or bid or to proceed 
to final evaluation.

Supervising officer 
The Line Manager’s immediate superior. 

Tender 
A Tenderer’s proposal submitted in response to an Invitation to Tender.

Tenderer 
Any person who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or Tender.

Tender record log 
The log kept by the Corporate Procurement Team to record details of Tenders.

Total value 
The whole of the value or estimated value (in money or equivalent value) for a single 
purchase or disposal calculated as follows:
 Where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the total price to be paid or 

which might be paid during the whole of the period

 Where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for the same type of item, 
by aggregating the value of those transactions in the coming 12 months

Page 229



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 65

 Where the contract is for an uncertain duration, by multiplying the monthly 
payment by 48

 For feasibility studies, the value of the scheme or contracts which may be 
awarded as a result

 For Nominated Suppliers and Sub-contractors, the total value shall be the value 
of that part of the main contract to be fulfilled by the Nominated Supplier or Sub-
contractor.

Whole Life Costs
The total cost of ownership over the life of an asset or contract period.

Page 230



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 66

APPENDIX SEVEN
WRITING A BUSINESS CASE 

Please complete this template, including the Commercial Impact Assessment.

Business Case

Contract Name  
Contracting Officer
Chief Officer
Start Date of Contract
Date Business Case Prepared
Date Contract to be Advertised
 
A. The Strategic Fit 

Explain how the scope of the proposed project fits within the existing business and 
other strategies (where relevant e.g. IT, Evidence Based Decision Making etc.) of the 
Council; 

Identify the service need and a compelling case for change, look at the existing (as-
is) and forecast the future (to be) operational need of the organisation / Department/ 
service. 

Minimum content needed for this section: 
1. Description of the business need expressed as an outcome or output
2. The contribution to the DBC’s business strategy
3. Objectives, why it is needed now
4. Key benefits to be realised
5. Key risks
6. Critical success factors and how they will be measured; 
7. Main stakeholders. 

Questions you should address: 

• How well does the desired outcome support DBC’s objectives and current 
priorities? 

• If it is a poor fit, can the scope be changed? 
• Is the project needed at all? 
• Have the stakeholders made a commitment to the project? 

2. Commercial Assessment 

Outline the potential commercial arrangement. 
Minimum content required for this section: 

1. Proposed sourcing option, with rationale for its selection; 

Page 231



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 67

2. Key features of proposed commercial arrangements (e.g. contract terms, 
contract length, payment mechanisms and performance incentives); 

3. The procurement approach/strategy with supporting rationale.
4. Completion of Appendix 1 (Commercial Impact Assessment).

Questions you should address: 

 What can the market provide (national, regionally, locally)
 Can funds be raised from grants, PFI etc.?
 Can value for money be obtained from the proposed sources (e.g. partners, 

suppliers)? 
 If not, can the project be made attractive to a wider market? 

3. Solution Provision 

Documents the range of options that you have considered within the broad scope 
identified in response to DBC’s existing and future business needs. You should aim to 
arrive at the optimum balance of cost, benefit and risk. 

Minimum content needed for this section:
1. High level cost/benefit analysis of at least three options for meeting the 

business need; 
2. Analysis of ‘soft’ benefits that cannot be quantified in financial terms; identify 

preferred option and any trade-offs. 
3. Review resources required

Note that options appraisal should be carried out before selecting a preferred 
option. 

Questions you should address: 
• Has a wide range of options been explored? 
• Have innovative approaches been considered and/or collaboration with others? 
• If not, why not? 
• Has the optimum balance of cost, benefit and risk been identified? 
  If not, what trade-offs need to be made e.g. foregoing some of the benefits 
  In order to keep costs within budget or taking considered risks to achieve more 

4. The financial case 

Assess the affordability and available funding. 
Link proposed expenditure to available budget and existing commitments. 

Minimum content for this section: 
1. Statement of available funding 
2. Broad estimates of projected whole-life cost of project, including dept. costs  

Questions you should address: 

Page 232



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 68

• Can the required budget be obtained to deliver the whole project? 
• If not, can the scope be reduced or delivered over a longer period? 
• Could funding be sought from other sources? 

5. Project Management 
 
Set out the project organisation and actions, which will be needed to support the 
achievement of the intended outcomes including procurement activity or the detailed 
study with existing providers. 

Minimum content for this section:

1. high level plan for achieving the desired outcome, with key milestones and 
major dependencies (e.g. interface with other projects); 

2. key roles, with named individual as the project’s owner; outline contingency 
plans e.g. addressing failure to deliver service on time;

3. Major risks identified and outline plan for addressing them; provider’s plans for 
the same, as applicable, skills and experience required. 

Questions you should address: 

• Can this project be achieved within DBC’s current capability and capacity? 
• If not, how can the required capability be acquired? 
• Can the risks be managed – e.g. scale, complexity, uncertainty? 
• Does the scope or timescale need to change? 

Page 233



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 69

Appendix 1 - Commercial Impact Assessment

Proposed Contract budget: Proposed contract length:

New contract/ Renewal /Variation:

Contracting officers to enter the relevant answer
                  Y (es)     N (o)   FTE’s1

Q1. Does the budget exist for this procurement?     
 
Q2. Is there an overall net benefit to the Council?     

Q3. Will any “one-time costs” be recovered in 24-36 months?

Q4.  If a variation is it more than 10% of original value?

Q5.  If Q4=Y was this variation foreseen in the original OJEU2 

Q6.  Please estimate what resources Finance; HR; legal and 
Procurement will be require for the duration of the 
procurement 

a    Finance staff be required
b    Legal staff be required
c    Procurement staff be required

Q7. If Q1=N please say how funds will be secured
 {E.g. a capital bid will be made.}

Agreed by

Name

Signature

Date

1 FTE = Full Time Equivalent number of staff.
2 OJEU= Official Journal of the European Union.

Page 234



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 70

APPENDIX EIGHT
MINIMUM INSURANCE THRESHOLDS

Supplies, services and works

Public liability £5 million

Employers liability £10 million

Professional indemnity if required, £2 million

Products cover if required - seek advice

Bonds etc. If required - seek advice

“If required - seek advice” 
The “if required – seek advice” comment means that the extent of cover should relate 
to the specific contract and appropriate advice should be taken from:
 Insurance & Risk Manager
 Group Manager – Financial Services
 Assistant Director of Finance & Resources

Review
These thresholds are subject to change and may be updated from time to time.

Page 235



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 71

APPENDIX NINE
SERVICE DELIVERY - OPTIONS APPRAISAL

When considering how services should be delivered, there are seven approaches that 
can be adopted. These are:

Withdraw from the activity
This is not likely to be possible for those services which the Council has a duty to 
provide (the majority of Council services fall into this category), although it may be 
possible to withdraw from aspects of these ‘mandatory’ services. It is clearly legally 
possible to withdraw from an activity where the service area is ‘discretionary’ rather 
than being required under a legal duty.

Improved in-house service
Where an improved in-house service is desired, there will need to be a plan setting out 
improvements and targets so that the service aspirations are achieved.

Joint commissioning
This involves joining with other local authorities or public bodies to jointly provide or 
purchase services. It can include delegation of powers to another authority, pooling of 
budgets, working with other government agencies or arrangements with non-profit 
organisations. 

Market testing 
This is where the Council subjects an in-house service to open competition with the 
market place.

Externalisation
This is where the Council subjects an in-house service to competitive tendering and 
does not allow an in-house bid, thereby securing future delivery by a third party. 

Transfer
This includes circumstances where the Council’s client role is passed to another 
organisation. This may be a not-for-profit organisation, such as a housing or 
community association or a public/private partnership such as Joint Venture Company. 
In such cases, the Council sometimes retains a residual interest, e.g. rights to 
nominate people to use the service, a seat on the board etc. Examples of transfers 
include: housing stock transfers, leisure centres etc.

Hybrid options
In reviewing a service or function, the Council must consider whether to break up 
activities currently treated as a single service or delivered through a single contract 
and, equally, to consider whether to amalgamate services currently delivered 
separately. Where a service includes a variety of different types of activity, the option 
most likely to deliver value for money may well be different for each of the activities. 

Page 236



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 72

Options Appraisal
Options appraisals are the key to effectively evaluating and determining how services 
should be delivered. Each option will be appropriate in particular circumstances and 
some of the options can manifest themselves in different ways. The following tables 
set out when each option may be more, or less, appropriate. The bullet points are 
alternative reasons why the option may be more or less suitable; they are not 
checklists of conditions that must be met. 

Withdrawal
The Council decides that it should withdraw from providing a service or taking part in an activity.
More suitable  Evidence of no need or demand for the service;

 Other providers can continue without intervention or support from the local 
authority;

 Costs of the service or activity considerably outweigh benefits;
 Service or activity makes no contribution to corporate objectives.

Less suitable  Doubts about the evidence;
 Uncertainty about whether the alternative providers do meet existing 

needs or demands;
 Potential for future service development.

Improved internal service management
This is where the service is provided in-house. Management may be through traditional hierarchy, 
internal trading arrangements or service level agreements. The authority may involve or consult users in 
decisions about overall objectives and in monitoring service quality.
More suitable  The existing internal service is, or is close to, meeting local targets and 

national standards;
 There is no supply market;
 Costs of externalisation are likely to be high;
 High impact if service fails.

Less suitable  Poor existing internal services;
 Need for external investment;
 Active, competitive, market with established suppliers;
 Service is easy to specify and monitor.

Joint commissioning
This is where two or more public service organisations agree to commission or provide services 
together. There is no “client” or “contractor” and the organisations are jointly involved in management.
More suitable  Services are provided from a single point;

 Participating organisations are willing to agree mutual objectives in the 
interests of the joint service;

 Financial and other risks can be shared on an equitable basis;
 Participating organisations do not have the wide range of expertise or 

sufficient resources to deal with all requests for service, but the volume of 
requests does not justify investment by each authority; 

 Sharing resources, staff, etc. will produce significant economies and 
improve quality;

 All participating organisations require the same, or very similar service;
 Clear lines of responsibility and accountability can be established.

Less suitable  Organisational identities and imperatives are more important than a 
seamless service;

 There are no obvious and willing partners;
 Legal constraints cannot be overcome.

Page 237



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 73

Market testing
The in-house organisation competes with external service providers to win the work. This is the same as 
"voluntary competitive tendering".
More suitable  The pressure of competition is necessary to ensure improvements or 

clarity of definition in in-house performance;
 There is an active and competitive supply market;
 The service is easy to specify and monitor;
 A new service area is being developed where there is the possibility of 

both in-house provision and the use of external provision;
 In-house performance can be benchmarked against competition.

Less suitable  Potential suppliers likely to suspect the authority is "going through the 
motions" and not bid;

 In-house team are unlikely to be able to make the improvements 
necessary;

 The costs of preparing for competition (both client and contractor) 
outweigh benefits;

 The authority's service objectives go beyond a simple cost calculation;
 The in-house team has no real chance of winning;
 Market testing is suggested as a last ditch effort to avoid externalisation.

Externalisation - Third party contractor
Service is provided by external organisations that compete to do the work. Management is conducted 
through the specification, which sets out the work to be done, and the contract conditions that form the 
basis of the relationship between client and service provider.
More suitable  Poor existing internal services, or new services where internal supply is 

thought inappropriate;
 There will be a clear client / contractor relationship;
 There is an active, competitive market with established suppliers;
 Benefits of using the market outweigh the costs;
 Service is easy to specify and monitor.

Less suitable  Internal service management is demonstrably delivering value for money;
 Opportunists or monopolists dominate the market;
 The authority's service objectives go beyond a simple cost calculation;
 Service is difficult to specify and monitor;
 Other methods of provision offer better value.

Externalisation - Partnership
This is where there is a contract which is supplemented by a formal 'partnership' arrangement.
The services are supplied through a contract that places greater emphasis on shared objectives and on 
the relationship with the supplier. These arrangements are also referred to as 'partnering arrangements'.
More suitable  The service is difficult to specify and monitor;

 The authority wants to work with an organisation it can 'do business with' 
rather than one that just 'does the business';

 It is possible to agree on a programme of future innovation;
 There is a high level of mutual trust between authority and suppliers;
 External suppliers can offer savings, innovation, or other benefits that 

cannot be found in-house.
Less suitable  Opportunists dominate the market;

 The service is easy to specify and monitor;
 In-house supply is more likely to deliver best value;
 The authority's main objective is to achieve savings.

Page 238



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 74

Transfer
This is where the Council ceases to be the 'client'. That role is taken over by another organisation. This 
may be a residents' association, community group, charity, co-operative or trust. The authority may still 
have a residual role, for example, a seat on the board, nominating people for services; grant aid or by 
subsidising service delivery to the public.
More suitable  The activities of, or services provided by, the organisation fit with the 

council's overall objectives;
 The local authority and other organisations agree on the level of 

accountability required;
 Community groups already exist or are being formed;
 Services are provided to the community or the community and individuals 

make a contribution to the service;
 Community groups have, or can be trained in, necessary management 

skills;
 The authority has a commitment to community development and the 

involvement of communities in service management;
 Organisational independence is necessary to ensure users' trust or 

'ownership' of the service or activity.
 Where transfer offers advantages financially or in other ways by means of 

the legal standing of another organisation, for example, a trust.
Less suitable  The Council has clear service objectives that it wants to achieve;

 The service is significant (in financial or operational terms) and needs 
close management, specification, and monitoring;

 Personal or highly regulated services;
 It would be more appropriate (in line with Value for Money and the 

Council's policies) to make contracts, or partnering arrangements, with 
local or community businesses;

 There is little, or no, community interest in service management and 
delivery;

 There is an active supply market and no policy gain can be made by 
transfer

Hybrid options
This is where the Council decides that no single option is appropriate. The service includes a variety of 
different types of activity, or the “Value for Money” tests applied to different parts of the service come up 
with different answers.
More suitable  A 'service' is made of discrete aspects that have different Value for Money 

tests applied to them;
 Areas of excellence exist side-by-side with services that need 

considerable improvement;
 Different elements make clearly different contributions to overall service 

delivery and value for money;
 There is a wide range of user needs which are best met in different ways;
 External resources can most effectively be used to support in-house 

services rather than competing with them;
 Evidence from the review is equivocal.

Less suitable  The service is easy to specify and monitor;
 The service is a clearly definable single service;
 The service is made up of so many separate elements that a hybrid 

approach could lead to an unmanageable complexity of contracts, 
agreements, and inter-dependencies;

 Economy and effectiveness are served best by a single service delivery 
organisation.

Page 239



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 75

Making the decision
The following questions should be asked.
What is the gap 
between:

 What we want to achieve and what we are achieving?
 What we want to achieve and users' needs?
 Our performance and national standards?
 Our performance and both local and national targets?
 Our performance and that of others?
 How we do things and how stakeholders want us to do them?
 How we do things and how others do them?
 Our competitiveness and that of others?

What are the 
trends?

 Are we getting better or worse?
 Where will we be in five years’ time if we continue with current service 

management and delivery methods?
 Are failures in current performance due to trade-offs in longer-term plans?

What kind of gap is 
it?

 Is it significant or insignificant?
 What do stakeholders think about the gap?
 Are we doing the right thing (specification)?
 Are we doing things right (management and delivery)?
 Can we measure the gap in terms of efficiency, economy, or 

effectiveness?

What other organisations have to offer
There are a number of issues that need to be taken into account when considering an alternative 
provider. These include:
Economies of scale  Where an organisation can spread overhead costs through a wider 

customer base to produce as good (or better) levels of service at a lower 
unit cost.

Economies of 
scope

 Where an organisation has specialist skills and expertise that the existing 
supplier cannot afford. This dedicated expertise can be used more 
effectively to deliver a high standard of service at an economical cost.

Innovation  Where an organisation has a way of doing things that is now a prerequisite 
for a service and which the existing supplier cannot duplicate within an 
acceptable time-scale.

Access to capital  Where an organisation can provide the necessary investment in capital 
assets in order to ensure the delivery of best value services. Within the 
legal context of local government, restrictions on borrowing may suggest 
this option.

Managing uncertainty
A degree of uncertainty always exists between objectives and the service delivery 
mechanisms used to deliver them. It is important that the contractor does what they 
are supposed to do. However, where there is uncertainty because of the nature of the 
requirement, environment or otherwise, the more likely that in-house service provision 
or a modified contractual relationship may sustain better value for money.

The following grid is an example of how uncertainty in the service can lead to 
conclusions about the appropriate approach to service delivery.

Page 240



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 76

Certainty Mixed Uncertainty

Se
rv

ic
e

 Service is easy to specify 
 Service delivery is easy to 

monitor
 Continuous or regular 

monitoring
 Unambiguous tests of 

success or failure

 Some elements easy to 
specify

 Some elements easy to 
monitor

 Service is difficult to 
specify

 Service is difficult to 
monitor

 Ad-hoc or partial 
monitoring

 Subjective tests of 
success or failure

R
el

at
io

ns
hi

p

 Contract with outside 
supplier

 Competition to find the 
cheapest supplier

 Focus on the supplier's 
efficiency

 Contractors involvement 
limited to the contracted 
service

 Modified contract 
relationships:

 Partnerships or relational 
contracts:

 Competition takes account 
of both cost and quality

 Open-book approaches to 
information

 Authority puts policy 
objectives alongside 
service objectives

 Hierarchy, rules and 
instructions

 Competition is based on 
individual competence

 Management through a 
mixture of control and co-
ordination

 Employer and employee 
are inter-dependent

Selecting the correct option
The process of selecting the correct option for service delivery is key to the successful 
delivery of the Council’s aims and objectives. Whatever solution is considered, the 
rationale shall be set out in the Tender Requisition Form which is a requirement within 
Procurement Standing Orders for all procurements that exceed £10,000 in value and 
be reviewed in the context of the Council’s:

Policy Framework
 Corporate Plan
 Sustainable Community Strategy
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Asset Management Plan
 Commissioning & Procurement Strategy

Governance framework
 The Constitution (including delegated authorities)
 Financial Regulations
 Commissioning & Procurement Standing Orders 

Page 241



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 77

APPENDIX TEN
REQUEST FOR QUOTATION

Request for Quotation – Guidance for DBC Staff.

This document is to be used for obtaining quotations for purchases up to and including 
£74,999 and when the goods or services are simple to specify and where delivery 
would normally conclude the contract.  If your requirements are more complex you are 
advised to contact a member of the Procurement Team to discuss your requirements.

Instructions for use:

For values up to an including £24,999, a minimum of one quotations should be 
obtained (with a least one from a local supplier where available)

For values from £25,000 up to and including £74,999, the Request for Quotation 
Form must be made available on the Councils e- tendering portal and advertised on 
Supply Hertfordshire and Contracts Finder websites.

Plan your timetable, including RFQ advert/despatch date, the closing date (allow 2-3 
weeks for return of quotes) and the award date.

The specification, include a description of what you want done or supplied.  You must 
be clear about what you want and what you expect from the supplier during the life of 
the contract. If you have a very detail specification, then this can be added as an 
attachment.

Timescales, be clear on the timescales, including delivery dates, period of completion 
and key milestone dates during the life of the contract.

Constraints/Minimum Requirements, should be clearly stated.  If a certain 
qualification is key to the service or there are minimum warranty requirements, then 
state these.

Other documents, such as drawings or reports that need to be made available should 
be listed on the template.

Use a Price Schedule table, unless this is a very simple requirement, adapt the 
pricing schedule table on the template so you can get a breakdown of prices,

Decide your Evaluation Criteria, four criteria have been listed on the template: Price, 
Delivery, Technical Merit and Quality.  If price is the only criteria to be considered, then 
allocate 100% of the score to this.  If other criteria are important then share 100% 
score across the criteria giving a higher score to the most important.

Page 242



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 78

Keep your evaluation notes and scoring, these must be kept for up to six years after 
the contract has been performed and details may be requested by Internal or external 
Audit.

Before awarding the contract, approval must be given by your Team Leader (for 
values up to £24,999) or you’re Group Manager (up to 74,999) by signing a Contract 
Award Certificate (these can be obtained from the Procurement Team)

Award of contract, can be made after a Contract Award Certificate has been signed. 
Contract award can be made by completing a Purchase Order through the Agresso 
system or putting an Agreement together to be signed by both parties.  The Council’s 
Procurement Unit must be informed of all contracts that have a value above £5,000 so 
that they can be listed on the Councils Contract Register.

All bidders should be informed of the contract award decision.  Quotations; that 
have been advertised on the e-tendering portal and contracts finder must complete an 
award notice to appear on those websites

Please use the ITQ template below for all quotations.

ITQ Template.doc

Page 243



COMMISSIONING & PROCUREMENT STANDING ORDERS

Approved: Full Council 9 July 2014 $eh0tadd4.doc
Page 79

APPENDIX ELEVEN

CHANGE CONTROL OF AMENDMENTS

Changes Officer Cabinet Full Council 
1 Update commissioning & procurement standing orders 24 Jun 2014 9 Jul 2014
2 Update standing orders with new EU Thresholds 10 Dec 2015
3 General update on thresholds and job titles 26/Feb 2019
4 Update commissioning & procurement standing orders
5

 

Page 244



Report for: Cabinet

Date of meeting: 12 November 2019

Part: 1

If Part II, reason:

Title of report New Normal Technology Pilot Projects

Contact: Author/Responsible Officer 

Andrew Williams, Portfolio Holder for Corporate and 
Contracted Services
Linda Roberts, Assistant Director – People, Performance and 
Innovation, 

Purpose of report: To seek approval to formally appoint preferred suppliers to 
enable the Council to commission pilot projects to support the 
New Normal Technology Work-stream.

Recommendations 1. That Cabinet agree to the principle of running pilot 
projects in the Council in Business Process 
Reengineering and Robotic Process Automation and 
agree to appoint the suppliers noted in the Part II 
report.

2. That Cabinet recommend council approval to release 
£93,495 from the Management of Change reserve to 
fund this work. 

Corporate 
Objectives:

Delivering an efficient and modern Council
The use of the techniques delivered in the pilot projects will 
enable the identification of process inefficiencies in the 
Council. This will enable remediation to be identified, planned 
and executed to deliver savings. These may or may not make 
use of robotic process automation software.

Implications:
Financial

Financial

The projects will demonstrate how these techniques can be 
successfully used in the Council to identify and remove 
process inefficiency from Council services. These techniques 
will be essential for the services to implement sustainable 
savings that contribute to targets identified in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy
Operational
By procuring centrally the PPI team are ensuring the quality of 
supplier and ensuring that recommendations are viable within 
the Council’s ICT infrastructure.

Page 245

Agenda Item 12



‘Value For Money 
Implications’

Value for Money
By using the Council’s procurement approach the PPI team 
has ensured that the suppliers are able to provide the best 
quality of service with the most appropriate cost.

Risk Implications The risk of appointing poorly qualified suppliers to support the 
Council in the development of the projects has been mitigated 
by conducting a tender through the Council’s Procurement 
team to invite interest in the opportunity and enable the best 
suppliers to be selected. 

Although potential changes will be identified and in the case of 
Robotic Process Automation software will be deployed they 
will not be delivered in the live environment. This is because 
these are pilot projects and so no existing software or changes 
will be made at this stage until the projects have completed 
and recommendations made as to how make the changes 
permanent.

Any additional risks would be further managed through careful 
planning and project management and by ensuring that 
sufficient resources are allocated to the projects.

Community Impact 
Assessment

Community Impact Assessment is being undertaken at 
programme level for New Normal

Health And Safety 
Implications

None

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments

Monitoring Officer:   
Officers must ensure that the preferred suppliers agree to an 
appropriate service contract or terms and conditions prior to 
commencement of the contract.

Deputy S.151 Officer
The contracts have been procured following the standard DBC 
procurement process and the evaluation criteria included a 
value for money assessment.

Consultees:  New Normal Programme Board (Chief Executive, Chief 
Officer Finance and Operations, Chief Officer Housing, 
AD Corporate and Contracted Services

 Procurement team
 Potential BPR and RPA suppliers through tendering 

process

Background 
papers:

Cabinet-12-02-19-New normal programme-Appendix A

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report:

BPR – Business Process Reengineering

RPA – Robotic Process Automation

Executive Summary

1. The New Normal strategy was approved by Cabinet earlier this year and is 
the Council’s approach to change management and enabling the embedding 
of continuous improvement in the Council’s Services.

Page 246



2. One of the work-streams of New Normal is Technology and, as well as 
delivering more strategic policies, the work described in this paper is part of a 
programme approach to deliver agile pilot projects in a short two to three 
month period.

3. There is a need to identify ways to modernise the Council, finding new ways 
of working and service improvement. Both Business Process Reengineering 
and Robotic Process Automation have been used successfully in delivering 
efficiencies in other local authorities. However, to minimise any potential risk 
we are proposing initially to pilot the use of these approaches in the Council.

4. A tender was conducted by the Council’s Procurement team in order to 
identify and select the most appropriate bidders and the preferred Suppliers 
are identified in the Part II report

5. It is recommended that the Council approves the release of £93,495 from the 
Management of Change reserve to formally appoint the suppliers and 
implement the pilot projects.

Introduction 

6. The Council approved the New Normal strategy in February 2019. It is a 
programme that covers the way things are done in DBC, from defining how 
we deliver services to our customers, implementing new operating models 
and systems that support new ways of working, through to supporting our 
staff in the development of the skills they need to respond to the challenges 
being faced. This includes addressing New Ways of Working and making best 
use of new technologies in the improvement of service delivery.

7. This cabinet report explains the approach taken, what the pilot projects will 
seek to achieve and requests to draw down from the Management of Change 
reserve to provide the funding for this work.

New Normal Technology Pilot Projects

8. An important component of New Normal is the approach to technology and 
how it can support new ways of working. In order to drive this forward there 
are two parts to the Technology Work-stream:

 Strategic developments – which will be delivered over a period of time 
and will include outputs such as a Data Governance Framework, 
Current and Planned IT Systems Architecture and a Technical Design 
Authority and Governance;

 Agile Pilot Projects – which will deliver outcomes in a much shorter 
timescale, typically 2 to 3 months.

9. The Agile Pilot Projects enable the Council to trial new ways of working 
and/or technologies in a short focussed period. This report is seeking the 
agreement to draw down from the Management of Change reserve to fund 
the pilots. This will enable the Council to assess their benefits, find the most 
effective way to deploy them, and assess providers who can then be used 
across the Council in a controlled manner.

Page 247



10. If the pilot projects prove successful then it is anticipated other areas of the 
Council would work with the approved providers. This work would be self-
funded through a business case in line with usual Council service 
improvement plans.

11. The Council recently went out to tender to identify suitable partners to work 
with to develop new ways of working within DBC. The areas are:

 Business Process Re-engineering
 Robotic Process Automation

Business Process Re-engineering (BPR)

Background

12. Like any other organisation, DBC has business processes that have evolved 
over time as the environment, tools and people have changed. This can lead 
to the development of inefficient processes that are difficult to manage, and 
difficult to improve quickly. Processes can be so large, complex and unwieldy, 
as well as having to accommodate new aspects of services, it can mean 
finding improvements can be hard, particularly when officers are busy 
delivering the service itself.

13. This is when the technique of Business Process Re-engineering can be very 
useful. The approach analyses current processes and workflows and, through 
detailed engagement with those carrying out the work, challenges how things 
are done to develop an improved business model. When done well it can help 
organisations fundamentally rethink how they undertake their work in order to 
improve effectiveness and efficiency.

14. This technique has been used in the Council but it can be difficult to do this 
type of review when the problems appear large and or complex. The diagram 
below shows what this can mean in practice:

15. For simple and small improvements, these can be done by the service itself 
as part of continuous improvement.

Where the business problem is either complex (e.g. occurs across multiple 
different teams) or large (e.g. has many different touch points or people 
involved), the service would benefit from being supported in such a review. 
The Council has a Performance and Innovation Team able to undertake those 
kind of reviews working closely with the end users, with the support of the ICT 
team.

Page 248



16. However, when the processes are complex and large there is a need to 
provide more support to help the service get to the root of the problems and 
redesign or re-engineer the process. This type of support is typically provided 
by management consulting organisations, of which there are many in the 
marketplace. It is important to work with consultants that understand local 
government and the constraints within which work is done and who may have 
experience of helping with similar problems in other local authorities.

17. The Corporate PPI team developed a tender to identify the best partners to 
undertake this type of work and as a result of that tendering exercise have 
selected a preferred supplier. For commercial reasons this supplier is named 
in Part 2 of this Cabinet Report.

Approach and outputs

18. As part of the tender the PPI team identified two business processes that the 
Council needs to improve:

 Re-let of empty Council Housing stock (the Voids process)
 Improve remote working for Field Officers (i.e. when out on site and 

away from a Council building)

19. The diagram shows the approach to BPR from the preferred supplier, which 
uses workflow mapping, challenge sessions and process modelling.

Project 
Kick Off

As Is 
Workshops Christmas Design 

Principles
To Be 

Workshops Storyboard

Project 
Initiation

Discovery -
As Is

Re-Design 
– To Be Storyboard

Approach Summary

The project for the Council is structured in four stages, as shown above. The key steps and indicative timescale for
the project is outlined below:

The December meetings and workshops will be held on Council premises. The To Be workshops at may be held off
site.

The two pilots in scope are:
• Mobile Technology and Connectivity Review to enable Remote Working for Field Officers (Mobile)
• Housing Voids (Voids) process
The output of the project will be a storyboard that consolidates the activities, recommendations and outcomes
into a single document for the Council to take forward into future stages

December 2019 January 2020, dates to be confirmed

20. The outputs from this work will be contained in the “Storyboard” shown in the 
diagram above. This will include:

 Objectives of the review and vision of an improved service
 The Current Situation – the “As Is” for the processes (process maps) 

and supporting technologies
 Design Principles – the guidelines and expectations for redesign of 

processes
 Redesign – the “To Be” for the processes (process maps) and future 

technologies

Page 249



 Business Value Report – potential high level benefits such as 
productivity improvements, cost reductions, revenue generation and a 
high level expected return on investment (ROI) calculations. This will 
form the basis of a business case to implement the recommended 
improvements.

Robotic Process Automation (RPA)

Background

21. Robotic process automation (RPA) is the practice of automating routine 
business practices with "software robots" that perform tasks automatically. 
They are a way of replacing boring, repetitive tasks, currently undertaken by 
staff, with software that can carry them out without mistakes and schedule 
them for any time, day or night.

22. Implementing robots would support our existing staff, doing the work they 
don’t like doing. After all, few job descriptions say “you will spend most of your 
day entering data in spreadsheets and re-typing data into numerous IT 
systems”. Freeing up this time will not only improve staff morale, but help 
optimise our business processes, ensuring they are followed consistently and 
accurately and allowing officers to concentrate on higher value, higher return 
processes.

23. Robotic process automation has not been used in the Council before, but it 
has been adopted and delivered valued in a number of other local authorities. 
In order to minimise any risk to the organisation, the Council went out to 
tender and have selected a preferred supplier.

24. The supplier has worked with a number of local authorities including London 
Borough of Hackney and Durham County Council and they use the market 
leading RPA software UI Path to produce the robots. As this is a pilot, no 
processes will be replaced by robots but they will be built run in parallel to 
demonstrate what is possible and what the benefits may be. If the automated 
processes are shown to deliver value then they could subsequently be put 
into the live environment with relatively little additional effort.

25. The following diagram shows the approach to developing the pilot RPA 
projects:

26. The first piece of work will be to identify which two business processes the 
Council wishes to automate. A number have already been identified and were 

Page 250



included in the tender process. However, a workshop with representatives 
from across all services will be run to identify the best examples.

27. The outputs from this work will be two robots that automate these two 
business processes, with full documentation about working in the Council’s IT 
environment and a report detailing both the likely business benefits and how 
these can be captured in a business case.

28. As this is a pilot projects, the automations will not be placed into the live 
production environment. We want to demonstrate the viability of this approach 
first. Hence no business benefits will be realised at this stage.

29. If the two pilot automations are successful, the Council will use the same 
approach to identify a list of further suitable processes to be automated. This 
work will be subject to the normal business case process as there is no need 
to automate processes if there is no benefit in doing so. This in line with 
standard service improvement plans.

Costs and benefits

30. The tender for the technology pilot projects was conducted through the 
Council’s Procurement team and this approach was used to identify preferred 
suppliers who will work in partnership with the Council to deliver the projects.

31. It is anticipated that if the projects are successful the Council will seek to 
negotiate longer-term (up to 18 months) contracts with the suppliers to enable 
further work to be done. However, this work will only be commissioned on the 
approval of a supporting business case from the Services.

32. The following table shows the costs required by the preferred suppliers for the 
two types of pilot:

Name Amount
Business Process Re-engineering £49,995
Robotic Process Automation £43,500
Total £93,495

33. The primary benefits of this approach are demonstrating that the:

 techniques of BPR and RPA can deliver value to the Council
 most appropriate supplier for long-term engagement have been 

selected.

Recommendation

34. That Cabinet agree to the principle of running pilot projects in the Council in 
Business Process Reengineering and Robotic Process Automation and agree 
to appoint the suppliers noted in the Part II report 

35. That Cabinet agree to release £93,495 from the Management of Change 
reserve to fund this work. 

Page 251



Document is Restricted

Page 252

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 257

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 264

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 265

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 270

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 273

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 275

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 282

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Forward Plan
	7 Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix A Q2 Budget Monitoring
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix B Q2 Budget Monitoring
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix C Q2 Budget Monitoring

	8 Council Tax Support Scheme
	9 Discretionary Business Rate Relief
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Annex A-Discretionary rate relief policies
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Annex B-Business Rates Relief Policy V0.3 Sept 2019

	10 Brownfield Land Register
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix 1 Brownfield land Register
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix 2-Brownfield Land Register

	11 Review of Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders and Strategy
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Annexe 1-Procurement
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix 1 Commissioning  Procurement Strategy 2019
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix 2 National Procurement Strategy 2018 Self Assessment Response
	Contents(draft)
	Summary(draft)
	Engaging Councillors(draft)
	Proc. and commercial champions(draft)
	Reporting(draft)
	Councillor development(draft)

	Engaging senior managers(draft)
	Influence and impact(draft)
	Mission and strategy(draft)
	Processes(draft)
	Senior managers development(draft)

	Working with partners(draft)
	Culture(draft)
	Governance and processes(draft)
	Staff development for partnership working(draft)

	Engaging strategic suppliers(draft)
	Data collection and analysis(draft)
	Existing strategic supplier engagement(draft)
	Early engagement with future suppliers(draft)

	Creating commercial opportunities(draft)
	Forward planning(draft)
	Options appraisal (Make or Buy)(draft)
	Market/supplier research/analysis(draft)
	Tendering(draft)
	Performance reporting(draft)
	Post contract review(draft)

	Contract and relationship management(draft)
	Information storage/accessibility(draft)
	Change control(draft)
	Supplier financial distress(draft)
	Savings and benefits delivery(draft)
	Recognition/cultural acceptance(draft)
	C&RM skills and knowledge(draft)

	Managing strategic risk(draft)
	Fraud and financial loss(draft)
	Supply chain and contractor failure(draft)
	Modern slavery (Legislation)(draft)
	GDPR (Legislation)(draft)
	External events (e.g. Brexit)(draft)

	Obtaining social value(draft)
	Policy and scope (social value)(draft)
	Social value internal management(draft)
	Social value TOMs (themes, outcomes and measures)(draft)
	Commissioning for social value(draft)
	Procurement (social value)(draft)
	Social value market engagement(draft)
	Social value contract management(draft)
	Cross sector collaboration(draft)
	Reporting social value(draft)
	Social value governance(draft)

	Local SME and micro-business engagement(draft)
	Policy and scope (SMEs)(draft)
	SME relationships(draft)
	Commissioning with SMEs(draft)
	Market engagement with SMEs(draft)
	Procurement with SMEs(draft)
	Contract management with SMEs(draft)
	Governance of SME engagement(draft)

	Engaging VCSEs (voluntary, community and social enterprises)(draft)
	Policy and scope (VCSEs)(draft)
	VCSE relationships(draft)
	VCSE engagement measurement(draft)
	Commissioning with VCSEs(draft)
	VCSE market engagement(draft)
	Procurement with VCSEs(draft)
	Contract management with VCSEs(draft)
	Governance of VCSE engagement(draft)

	Enablers(draft)
	Developing talent(draft)
	Exploring digital technology(draft)
	Enabling innovation(draft)
	Embedding change(draft)

	Appendix A: Guidance
	About the 2018 diagnostic
	How to complete the diagnostic


	Cabinet-12-11-19-Appendix 3 Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders

	12 New Normal Technology Pilot Projects
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-New Normal technology projects Cabinet Report

	14 Osborne Five Year Review
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix A
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix B  KSI Deliverables 2019
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix C
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix D
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix E
	Cabinet-12-11-19-Part 2-Appendix F-Performance Profit weightings


